

WHERESCAPE RED TUTORIALS

6.8.4.0

www.wherescape.com

Tutorials Copyright Notice

Copyright © 2002-2015 WhereScape Software Limited. All rights reserved. This document may be redistributed in its entirety and in this electronic or printed form only without permission; all other uses of this document and the information it contains require the explicit written permission of WhereScape Software limited.

Due to continued product development this information may change without notice. WhereScape Software Limited does not warrant that this document is error-free.

Trademarks

WhereScape and WhereScape RED are trademarks or registered trademarks of WhereScape Software Limited. Other brands or product names are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies.

WhereScape USA, Inc

1915 NW AmberGlen Parkway Suite 400, Beaverton Oregon 97006 United States T: 503-466-3979 F: 503-466-3978

WhereScape Europe

Reading Enterprise Centre Earley Gate, Whiteknights Rd Reading RG6 6BU United Kingdom T: +44-118-914-4509 F: +44-118-914-4508

WhereScape Limited

P.O.Box 56569, Auckland 1446 Level 3, WhereScape Towers 38 Wyndham Street Auckland 1010, New Zealand T: +64-9-358-5678 T: US toll free 1-877-237-3980 F: +64-9-358-5679

WhereScape Asia Pte. Ltd

300 Tampines Avenue 5 #09-02 Singapore 529653 T: +65-6679-5728

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Tutorial 1 Basic Star Schema Fact Table	1
1.1 Purpose and Roadmap	2
1.2 The First Step	5
1.3 Repository Defaults	9
1.4 Tablespace (FileGroup) Defaults	11
1.5 Table Name Defaults	13
1.6 Creating a Connection	14
1.7 Loading Source Tables	21
1.8 Building Dimensions	32
1.9 Creating Dimension Views	41
1.10 Defining the Staging Table	45
1.11 Including Dimension Links	49
1.12 Creating a Fact Table	58
1.13 Switching to Diagrammatic View	62
1.14 Producing Documentation	65
1.15 Data Store Objects (Optional)	68
Tutorial 2 Rollup Fact Tables, ASCII File Loads, Aggregates	73
2.1 Purpose and Roadmap	74
2.2 Creating a Connection to Windows	77
2.3 Loading Tables from Flat Files	81
2.4 Creating Stage Tables	87
2.5 Creating Fact Tables	89
2.6 Rollup/Combined Fact Table	91
2.7 Aggregate Tables	95
2.8 Creating a Customer Aggregate	98
Tutorial 3 Scheduling and Dependencies	102
3.1 Purpose and Roadmap	103
3.2 Creating and Scheduling a Job	105
3.3 Adding Tasks	106
3.4 Task Dependencies	109
3.5 Editing a Scheduled Job	111
3.6 Job Results	113
3.7 Diagrammatic View for Jobs	114
Tutorial 4 Complex Dimensions and Hierarchies	116
4.1 Purpose and Roadmap	117
4.2 Creating a Slowly Changing Dimension	118

4.3 Multiple Source Table Dimension 4.4 Creating a Dimension Hierarchy	126 136
Tutorial 5 Analysis Services Cubes	139
5.1 Purpose and Roadmap	140
5.2 Creating an OLAP Cube Object	141
5.3 Adding a Measure Group	170
5.4 Cube Connections for Other Databases	184

TUTORIAL 1 BASIC STAR SCHEMA FACT TABLE

IN THIS TUTORIAL

1.1 Purpose and Roadmap	2
1.2 The First Step	5
1.3 Repository Defaults	9
1.4 Tablespace (FileGroup) Defaults	11
1.5 Table Name Defaults	13
1.6 Creating a Connection	14
1.7 Loading Source Tables	21
1.8 Building Dimensions	32
1.9 Creating Dimension Views	41
1.10 Defining the Staging Table	45
1.11 Including Dimension Links	49
1.12 Creating a Fact Table	58
1.13 Switching to Diagrammatic View	62
1.14 Producing Documentation	65
1.15 Data Store Objects (Optional)	68

1.1 PURPOSE AND ROADMAP

Purpose

This tutorial is designed to introduce you to the basic objects used by WhereScape RED. At the end of the tutorial you will have built a simple dimensional analysis area of a data warehouse. The tutorial will build the star-schema shown below. This star-schema comprises a central fact table, fact_sales_detail, joined to four dimension tables.

Data will be loaded from tables in another SQL Server database, Oracle schema or DB2 schema. In the process of creating this star-schema you will learn to create load, stage, fact and dimension tables. You will also see how data flows from the data source, through the different tables enroute to its fact or dimension table destination.



Tutorial Environment

This tutorial has been completed using Microsoft SQL Server. All of the features illustrated in this tutorial are available in SQL Server, Oracle and DB2 (unless otherwise stated). Any differences in usage of WhereScape RED between these databases are highlighted.

Tutorial Roadmap

This tutorial works through a number of steps.

These steps and the relevant section within the chapter are summarized below to assist in guiding you through the tutorial.

Ste	p in Tutorial	Section
Set	up the WhereScape tool	• The First Step
•	Install WhereScape	Logging In
•	Set-up tablespace defaults	Tablespace Defaults
•	Set-up default prefixes for tables	Table Name Defaults
•	Create connection (to data source)	Creating a Connection
Cre	eate and load the load tables for	Loading Source Tables
•	Customer	
•	Product	
•	Order_line	
•	Order_header	
Cre foll	eate (and update from load tables) the lowing dimension tables	Building Dimensions
•	Dim_customer	
•	Dim_product	
Cı	reate dimensions for	Creating Dimension Views
•	Dim_order_date	
•	Dim_ship_date	
The	ese are views on the dim_date table	
Cre	eate the stage_sales_detail table	Defining the Staging Table
•	Create stage table using columns from load_order_line and load_order_header Specify join condition	Including Dimension Links
•	Include links to the following dimensions (dim_customer, dim_product, dim_order_date, dim_ship_date)	
Cre	eate the fact_sales_detail table	Creating a Fact Table

Step in Tutorial	Section
View the WhereScape generated	Switching to Diagrammatic View
documentation	Producing Documentation

1.2 THE FIRST STEP

The first step

To get started you need to follow the steps in the WhereScape Setup Administrator to create the required environment.

The basic steps in this process are:

Oracle and IBM DB2 data warehouse

- **1** Install the WhereScape product suite.
- 2 Create a database schema for the WhereScape metadata repository.
- **3** Install the WhereScape metadata repository.

SQL Server data warehouse

- 1 Install the WhereScape product suite onto a computer.
- **2** Use the Quick Start option in the Setup Administrator utility to load the metadata and repository.

NOTE: See the **RED Installation Guide** (sections 2, 7 - SQL Server, 9 - Oracle and 10 - DB2) for these procedures.

For Oracle this tutorial assumes source data resides in the wtutorial schema and that the metadata has been loaded under the dssadm schema which has select access to the tutorial tables.

For SQL Server it assumes that the data warehouse is in the WslWarehouse database and that the source data resides in the WslTutorial database.

For DB2 it assumes that the data warehouse is in the WhereScape RED schema.

You are now ready to *log on* (see "1.2.1 *Logging In*" on page 6) to the repository you have created.

1.2.1 LOGGING IN

Having completed the first step, and using WhereScape RED, you can now log on to the repository you have created.

To log in:

1 Click WhereScape RED from the Start menu. The Access Control screen displays. See sample screen below:



- **2** For SQL Server, the **Data Source**, **Logon Method** and **RED Database** are the fields required to logon to the database server if choosing the OS/DSN Authentication Logon Method. If using the DB/Password Logon Method and a trusted connection is being used enter dbo as the username.
- **3** For **Oracle**, select the **DB User/Password** option on the Logon Method drop-down menu and enter the Database Login ID and Password. These should be the credentials of the user under which the metadata repository has been loaded.
- 4 To log in as a specific individual user, select the Oracle Individual User option from the Logon Method drop-down menu and enter the user name and password for the user. For more details about the Oracle Individual User see section 9.3.1 Creating an Oracle Individual User of the Installation Guide.

			\mathbf{X}
	Repository L	ogin	
	Version 6.8.3.4 by Whe Copyright (C) 2015 Licensed to RED Testi For WhereScape emplo	ereScape Software Limited ng, Tutorials and Documentation oyee use only	
		DATABASE	
	Data Source:	WslWarehouse_ORA	~
	Logon Method:	Oracle Individual User	~
	Database Login ID:	oracle_user1	
WhereScape®	Password:	*****	
		METADATA REPOSITORY	
	RED Schema:	dssdemo	
NLD	RED User Name:	WhereScape Documentation	
		Help Cancel Connec	t

- 5 See *Switching Between Databases* (see "*1.2.2 Switching Between Databases*" on page 8) for details on logging into IBM DB2.
- **6** The **User Name** is the name that will be associated with any procedures, tables, etc, and scheduled jobs that are created from within WhereScape RED. Normally this would be your full name.
- 7 Click **Connect**. The Builder screen displays.

Note: ODBC is the only supported connection method. This connection must have been established prior to logon. Refer to the RED Installation Guide if no such connection exists.

You are now ready to proceed to the next step where you define the *Repository Defaults* (see "1.3 *Repository Defaults*" on page 9). For IBM DB2 authenticated connections see section 1.2.2.

1.2.2 SWITCHING BETWEEN DATABASES

The following sample logon screen shows the details entered for **IBM DB2** for an operating system authenticated connection:

			×
	Repository L	ogin	
	Version 6.8.3.4 by Whi Copyright (C) 2015 Licensed to RED Testi For WhereScape empl	ereScape Software Limited ing, Tutorials and Documentation oyee use only	
		DATABASE	
	Data Source:	DB2	*
	Logon Method:	DB User/Password	Y
	Database Login ID:	dssdemo	
WhereScape	Password:	*******	
RED		METADATA REPOSITORY	
	RED User Name:	John Smith	
		Help Cancel Conne	ct

For DB2, the **Data Source**, **Database Login ID** and **Password** as well as the **Metadata Schema** are those required to logon to the database server.

• Select the **DB/User Password** option from the drop-down menu and enter the Database Login ID and Password.

NOTE1: A user name and password will be required if operating system authentication is not being used.

NOTE2: Ignore the Metadata Schema field if connecting to an Oracle or SQL Server repository after successfully connecting to DB2.

1.3 REPOSITORY DEFAULTS

Before you begin to create the data warehouse, you can choose the defaults for the repository. You can do this from the **Tools** menu, by either selecting **Options** or **User Preferences**. There is no need to change the defaults for the tutorials.

1 From the **Tools** menu, select **User Preferences**.

Too	s Window Help		
7	Parameters		
۹,	Search for String		
ø	Build Deployment Application		
	List Loaded Deployment Applications		
٩	Import Metadata Objects		
	Version Objects		
	Compile Procedures		
	Define Re-Usable Transformations		
	Database Functions		
	Build MicroStrategy Project		
	Join Information Maintenance		
	Data Type Mappings		
	Language Options		
86	Options		
	User Preferences		

2 In Common / Look And Feel / General, select Show Dimension Views as a Separate Object Type and set to True. Click OK.

ult (FALSE) state is that views are part of the the impact of this change. This setting is only)
efai ee t ory

You are now ready to proceed to the next step where you define the *Tablespace (FileGroup) Defaults* (see "*1.4 Tablespace (FileGroup) Defaults*" on page 11)

1.4 TABLESPACE (FILEGROUP) DEFAULTS

Before you begin to create the data warehouse, you can choose the defaults for the tablespaces (filegroups for SQL Server).

There is no need to change the defaults for this tutorial.

1 From the **Tools** menu, select **Options**.

Тоо	ls Window Help			
7	Parameters			
۹,	Search for String			
ø	Build Deployment Application			
	List Loaded Deployment Applications			
٩	Import Metadata Objects			
	Version Objects			
	Compile Procedures			
	Define Re-Usable Transformations			
	Database Functions			
	Build MicroStrategy Project			
	Join Information Maintenance			
	Data Type Mappings			
	Language Options			
86	Options			
	User Preferences			

2 Click on **Storage** and make the appropriate tablespace/filegroup choice for each option. Click **OK**.

Repository Identification Repository Privacy Settings > Object Types Sobject Types > Global Naming Conventions > > DSS Tables and Columns Check-Out and Check-In > Code Generation a > Storage Target Location Table Storage Default Optional CREATE Clause Index Type Metadata Versioning > Documentation Other		
Repository Privacy Settings Object Types Global Naming Conventions DSS Tables and Columns Check-Out and Check-In Check-Out and Check-In Code Generation Storage Target Location Table Storage Default Optional CREATE Clause Index Type Metadata Versioning D Documentation Other	Load Table Filegroup Load Table Filegroup Load Table Index Filegroup Stage Table Index Filegroup Stage Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Filegroup	
Colject Types Colored Types Colored Types Colored Remaining Conventions DSS Tables and Columns Check-Cut and Check-In Code Generation Table Storage Target Location Table Storage Default Optional CREATE Clause Index Type Metadata Versioning Documentation Other	Load Table Filegroup Load Table Index Filegroup Stage Table Filegroup Stage Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup	
Dost Tables and Columns Dost Tables and Columns Check-Out and Check-In Code Generation Target Location Table Storage Default Optional CREATE Clause Index Type Metadata Versioning Documentation Other	Load Table Index Filegroup Stage Table Filegroup Stage Table Filegroup Stage Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Filegro	
Check-Out and Check-In Code Generation Storage Target Location Table Storage Default Optional CREATE Clause Index Type Metadata Versioning Documentation Other	Stage Table Filegroup Stage Table Filegroup Stage Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup	
Code Generation Code Generation Code Generation Code Storage Code Sto	Stage Table Filegroup Stage Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Moil Eart Table Filegroup	
▲ Storage Target Location Table Storage Default Optional CREATE Clause Index Type Metadata Versioning ▷ Documentation Other	Stage Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Monitor Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Tabl	
Target Location Table Storage Default Optional CREATE Clause Index Type Metadata Versioning Documentation Other	Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Kni Eart Table Filegroup	
I table Storage Default Optional GREATE Clause Index Type Metadata Versioning Documentation	Dimension Table Filegroup Dimension Table Index Filegroup Kini East Table Filegroup	
Index Type Metadata Versioning Documentation Other	Dimension Table Index Filegroup Koi Eart Table Filegroup	
Metadata Versioning Documentation Other	Kni Fact Table Filegroup	
Documentation Other		
Other	Kpi Fact Table Filegroup	
	Kpi Fact Table Index Eilegroup	
	Fact Table Filegroup	
	Fact Table Filegroup	
	Fact Table Index Filegroup	
	Aggregate Table Filegroup	
	Aggregate Table Filegroup	
	Aggregate Table Index Filegroup	
	Data Store Table Filegroup	
	Data Store Table Filegroup	
	Data Store Table Index Filegroup	
	Normalized Table Filegroup	
	Normalized Table Filegroup	
	Normalized Table Index Filegroup	
	Retro Copy Table Filegroup	
	Retro Copy Table Filegroup	
	Retro Copy Table Index Filegroup	

Note: The default table space or filegroup for the user will be used if no settings are selected.

You are now ready to proceed to the next step where you define the *Table Name Defaults* (see "*1.5 Table Name Defaults*" on page 13).

1.5 TABLE NAME DEFAULTS

Before you begin to create the data warehouse, you can choose the defaults for the table names. There is no need to change the defaults for this tutorial, and the examples given reflect the default naming convention.

- 1 From the **Tools** menu, select **User Preferences** and then **Local Naming Conventions**. Alter the defaults as required.
- 2 From the **Tools** menu, select **Options** and then **Global Naming Conventions**. Alter the defaults as required.
- **3** If no changes are made, the default table names will be:
 - **load**_ load tables with data copied from a source system
 - **stage**_ tables for manipulating and transforming data prior to publishing
 - **dim_** dimension tables
 - **fact**_ fact tables, detail, rollup and snapshot
 - **agg_** aggregate or summary tables built from fact tables
 - olap_ Analysis Services Olap cubes built from stage or fact tables

You are now ready to proceed to the next step *Creating a Connection* (see "1.6 *Creating a Connection*" on page 14).

1.6 CREATING A CONNECTION

In order to populate the metadata repository, connections need to be made to the source data. There must also be a connection to the data warehouse itself. This section describes how to make two new connections.

Note: The following two connections should have been automatically created. They should however be validated to ensure they are correct for the environment.

The first connection is to the source system. For **Oracle** this is the user within your Oracle database, for **SQL Server** the database that contains the tutorial tables and for **DB2** this is another schema within your database.

The second connection will be to the data warehouse tables.

TIP: In order to utilize the drag and drop features there must always be a connection to the data warehouse itself.

How to create a connection

- 1 Click on and highlight the **Connection** object group in the left pane. This selects the object group to be worked on.
- 2 Select File|New, or right-click and select New Object. A dialog box displays with the Object Type defaulted to Connection. Name your connection. In this instance type Tutorial(OLTP) and click ADD.

	Add a New Metadata Object	×	
Define the Type and Name of the New Object.			
Object Type:	Connection	».	
Object Name:	Tutorial(OLTP)		
	ADD Cancel		

3 A Properties dialog will display.

SQL Server:

If running a SQL Server data warehouse then proceed as follows. In the Properties dialog, complete the details as below, and then select **Update**:

- The **ODBC Data Source Name (DSN)** is the ODBC connection which has been defined to connect to the database. In this case the ODBC connection to the database that holds the tutorial tables.
- The **Provider Name** identifies the type of connection that SQL Server will make in the case of a linked server. In this case it is not required as we are using tutorial tables in a SQL Server database on the same server.
- The **Database ID (SID)** is the SQL Server database name of the database being connected to. In this case the SID of the tutorial database.
- The **Database Link Name** is a SQL Server linked server link to connect from the data warehouse database to the source system database.

Note: This link is only required if the source database is on a different server from the data warehouse database. For the purposes of this tutorial, the database link ID is not required as the tutorial data is usually loaded into a database on the same server as the metadata.

- The **Extract User ID** and **Password** are the username and password required to logon to the tutorial database. If a trusted connection is being used then set the Extract User ID to "dbo".
- The **Administrator User ID** and **Password** are the administrator logon to the source location (tutorial). These can be left blank for the tutorial.
- The **New Table Default Load Type** enables you to set the default load type at connection level for ODBC and database connections. Set to Database link load.
- The **SSIS Connection String** is a valid SSIS connection string that can be used to connect to the data source or destination. The Reset button will attempt to construct a valid connection string from the connection information supplied in the connection details consisting of the Database ID, Database Link ID (Instance name), Provider Name, Extract User details. Leave this field blank.
- **Data Type Mapping Set** XML files have been created to store mappings from one set of data types to another. Setting this field to "(Default)" will cause RED to automatically select the relevant mapping set; otherwise you can choose one of the standard mapping sets from the drop-down list or create a new one.

0	Connection Tutorial (OLTP)
Properties	
Notes	✓ General
	Connection Name Tutorial (OLTP)
	Connection Type Database
	Database Type (local)
	ODBC Data Source Name (DSN) WslTutorial
	Data Warehouse Connection Indicator False
	▲ Source System
	Database ID WslTutorial
	Database Link Name
	Provider Name
	Database Credentials
	Extract User ID tutorial
	Extract User Password ***
	Administrator User ID
	Administrator User Password
	4 Other
	Default Schema for Browsing
	New Table Default Load Type Database link load
	SSIS Connection String
	Data Type Mapping Set (Default)
	our the web at the second seco
	General General
	OK Cancel Help

Oracle:

If running an Oracle data warehouse then proceed as follows. In the Properties dialog, complete the details as below, and then select **Update**:

- The **ODBC Data Source Name** is the ODBC connection which has been defined to connect to the database. In this case the ODBC connection to the database that holds the tutorial tables.
- The **Provider Name** identifies the type of connection that Oracle will make in the case of a linked server. In this case it is not required as we are using tutorial tables in an Oracle database on the same server.
- The **Database ID (SID)** is the Oracle SID of the database being connected to. In this case the SID of the tutorial database.
- The **Database Link Name** is an Oracle database link to connect from the data warehouse database to the source system database.

Note: This link is only required if the source database is different to the data warehouse database. For the purposes of this tutorial, the database link ID is not required as the tutorial data is usually loaded into the same database as the metadata.

- The **Extract User ID** and **Password** are the username and password for the schema where the source tables reside. For the tutorial this is the user where the tutorial files have been loaded.
- The **Administrator User ID** and **Password** are the administrator logon to the source location (tutorial). These can be left blank for the tutorial.
- The **New Table Default Load Type** enables you to set the default load type at connection level for ODBC and database connections. Set to Database link load.
- **Data Type Mapping Set** XML files have been created to store mappings from one set of data types to another. Setting this field to "(Default)" will cause RED to automatically select the relevant mapping set; otherwise you can choose one of the standard mapping sets from the drop-down list or create a new one.

	Connectio	n Tutorial (OLTP)
Properties		
Notes	▲ General	
	Connection Name	Tutorial (OLTP)
	Connection Type	Database
	Database Type	(local)
	ODBC Data Source Name (DSN)	ORA_TUT
	Data Warehouse Connection Indicator	False
	▲ Source System	
	Database ID	Tutorial
	Database Link Name	
	Provider Name	×
	Database Credentials	
	Extract User ID	Tutorial
	Extract User Password	***
	Administrator User ID	
	Administrator User Password	
	▲ Other	
	Default Schema for Browsing	
	New Table Default Load Type	Database link load
	SSIS Connection String	
	Data Type Mapping Set	(Default)
	ODBC Data Source Name (DSN) ODBC Data Source Name (DSN) as defined in th	e Windows 32-bit 'ODBC Data Source Administrator'
	NOTE: The ODBC Source Name defined in RED	must be the same on all machines that use the corresponding connection. OK Cancel Help

IBM DB2:

If running an IBM DB2 data warehouse then proceed as follows.

In the Properties dialog, complete the details as below, and then select **Update**:

- The **ODBC Data Source Name** is the ODBC connection which has been defined to connect to the database. In this case the ODBC connection to the database that holds the tutorial tables.
- The **Provider Name** identifies the type of connection that DB2 will make in the case of a linked server. In this case it is not required as we are using tutorial tables in a DB2 database on the same server.
- The Work directory is not used.
- The Database ID (SID) is not used.
- The Database Link Name is not used.
- The **Extract User ID** and password are the username and password required to logon to the tutorial database. If an operating system authenticated connection is being used then leave the Extract User ID and Password blank.
- The **Administrator User ID** and password are the administrator logon to the source location (tutorial). These can be left blank for the tutorial.
- The **New Table Default Load Type** enables you to set the default load type at connection level for ODBC and database connections. Set to Database link load.
- **Data Type Mapping Set** XML files have been created to store mappings from one set of data types to another. Setting this field to "(Default)" will cause RED to automatically select the relevant mapping set; otherwise you can choose one of the standard mapping sets from the drop-down list or create a new one.

٦	Connection	Tutorial (OLTP)	×
Properties	₽		
Notes	▲ General		
	Connection Name	Tutorial (OLTP)	
	Connection Type	Database	~
	Database Type	(local)	~
	ODBC Data Source Name (DSN)	DB2_TUT	~
	Data Warehouse Connection Indicator	False	~
	▲ Source System		
	Work Directory	C:\temp	
	Provider Name		
	Database ID	Tutorial	
	Database Link Name		
	Database Credentials		
	Extract User ID	wsl	
	Extract User Password	******	
	Administrator User ID		
	Administrator User Password		
	▲ Other		
	New Table Default Load Type	Database link load	~
	SSIS Connection String		
	Data Type Mapping Set	(Default)	~
	71 11 5		
	Connection Name		
	Name used to label the connection within WhereS	cape RED.	
L		OK	Canad Hala
		OK	Cancei Help

- 4 To confirm that you have connected to the system correctly, select **Source Tables** from the **Browse** menu, or click on one of the browse icons from the main tool bar or right pane tool bar.
 - Select the connection you want to view, in this instance **Tutorial (OLTP)**, and click **OK**. For SQL Server the schema must be set to **dbo**. For Oracle the schema should be the tutorial schema.
 - A third pane on the right, displays showing the tables contained under the tutorial source system.
- **5** Repeat steps 1 through 3 to create the connection for the Data Warehouse.
 - The Connection name will be **Data Warehouse**
 - Enter an extract user id (we have used **dssadm**) and a password (we have used **wsl**) for the metadata repository. For a SQL Server trusted connection set the extract user id to **dbo**.

You have now created two database connections, one to the source system (**Tutorial**), and one to the **Data Warehouse**.

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Loading Source Tables* (see "1.7 *Loading Source Tables*" on page 21).

1.7 LOADING SOURCE TABLES

In this step you will load data from the tutorial source system into load tables in the data warehouse.

Dragging and dropping from the source system (using the previously defined connection) will create the metadata. You will then be prompted to create and load the tables which will create the physical tables in the data warehouse, and then load the data.

TIP: Ensure that your source system is displayed in the right pane, by selecting **Source Tables** from the **Browse** menu, then **Tutorial (OLTP)** from the **Connection List.** For **SQL Server** the schema must be **dbo.** For Oracle the schema should be the tutorial schema. Click **OK**.

- 1 Double-click on the **Load Table object group** on the Object Tree in the left pane. The first column heading in the middle pane should read *Load Table Name*.
- **2** Expand the source table Object Tree in the right pane.



3 Click on **customer** and drag this table into the middle pane - placing it anywhere in the pane. A dialog box displays with the name of the object defaulted to **load_customer**. Click **ADD**.

	Add a New Metadata Object ×
Define the Type	and Name of the New Object.
Object Tupe:	tion for each object type is defined in subsequent screens.
Object Name:	load_customer
	ADD Cancel

4 The following table definition will display. Click **OK**.

l.		Load	Table load_customer		
Properties Storage Override Create DDL	Load Table Name: Unique Short Name: (maximum 22 characters)	load_custor	mer		
Source	Description:				^
Notes					~
	Connection:	Tutorial (OL	.TP)	~	
	Load Type:	Database li	ink load	*	
	Database Link:				
	Script Name:	(None)		\checkmark	
	Pre-Load Action:	Truncate		¥	
	Pre-Load SQL:				~
	Post Load Procedure:	< (None)		v	>
	Timestamps Metadata Structure Ch 2014-11-24 11:38:25 1	anged:	Database Created: 2014-12-01 16-13-28 923	Database Altered:	
			20141210110.10.20.323	0K Cance	I Help

Note1: For the purposes of this tutorial, all the necessary details have been automatically created. See the Loading Data chapter for explanations of the load parameters. **Note2**: In IBM DB2, short names are limited to 12 characters.

5 A dialog box displays showing that the load table **load_customer** has been defined and asks if you want to create and load the table. Click **Create and Load**.

	Create Database Table	×
Load Table load_c	ustomer has been defined	
-		
Create	Create and Load 🛛 🔻	Close

- 6 This will create the physical tables in the data warehouse and load the data.
- **7** Results will be posted in the results pane. Note that the Load Table object group in the left pane now has a dependent/child.

TIP: Remember to double-click on the left pane Load Table object group between loading each of the source tables to ensure that you are reassigning the target, rather than adding to the columns in the middle pane.

8 Repeat this process (steps 2 - 7) for the source tables **product**, **order_header**, and **order_line**.

9 Your screen should look something like this:



You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Building Dimensions* (see "*1.8 Building Dimensions*" on page 32).

1.7.1 LOADING SOURCE TABLES USING SCHEMAS (ORACLE AND SQL SERVER ONLY)

TIP: This an optional/informative tutorial only that has been designed for users that want to place objects across multiple schemas in WhereScape RED.

RED allows objects to be placed across multiple schemas for Oracle and SQL Server databases. Before creating any tables using an Oracle source, the RED user needs to be granted a set of specific privileges.

In SQL Server, the specific shemas will need to be created in the SQL database. The required Oracle privileges and SQL Server schema instructions are described at the end of this section.

The steps to use schemas in WhereScape RED are:

- Ensure the **Schema** you need exists in Oracle or SQL Server. Create any schema that does not exist.
- Enable Schema use by switching on the Allow Object Schema in Tools>Options.
- Add one **Target** to the Data Warehouse connection in RED for each **Schema** you intend to use.
- Configure the Data Warehouse connection in RED to browse all required schema by default.
- Set the default **Target** for **load tables** in **Tools>Options**.
- When you are defining a new table in RED, check and ensure the correct target is set on the **storage** tab.
- 1 After logging in to WhereScape RED, make sure the **Allow object Schema** option is set in the **Tools->Options->Repository Identification** settings.

	Options		_ 🗆 🗙
Repository Identification Repository Privacy Settings 0 Object Types 0 Global Naming Conventions 0 SS Tables and Columns Check-Out and Check-In 0 Code Generation 1 Storage Target Location Table Storage Default Optional CREATE Clause Index Type Metadata Versioning 0 Documentation Other	Options Control Con	Development Development dbo True False	
Prev Next		OK	cel Help

- **2** Add one Target to the Data Warehouse connection in RED for each Schema you want to use:
 - Click the Add button to add the required target schemas for this connection.

Database Type (local) v × ODBC Data Source Name (DSN) WsIWarehouse v Data Warehouse Connection Indicator True v Database ID Database ID Database ID Database Ink Name SQLOLEDB v Database Credentials Extract User ID Extract User ID Extract User Password A Administrator User ID Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type Database link load v SSIS Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Se Data Type Mapping Set (Default) v Default Transform Function Set (Default) v Uhen Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Target Table Location Add mew Target Location Add mew Target Location Add New Target Location New Connection String	e		
ODBC Data Source Name (DSN) WslWarehouse v Data Warehouse Connection Indicator True v Source System v Database ID Database ID Database ID Database II Database ID v Adatabase Credentials v Extract User ID Extract User ID Extract User Password Administrator User Password Administrator User Password v Other Database Iink Ioad V V	.5	Database Type	(local)
Data Warehouse Connection Indicator True A Source System Database ID Database Link Name Provider Name SQLOLEDB V A Database Credentials Extract User ID Extract User Password Administrator User Password Administrator User Password Other Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type Database Ink Interstore Data Type Mapping Set Default Transform Function Set OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Presist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB V Data Warehouse Botabase ID Will Vilen Add new Target Location Add new Target Location Add new Target Location		ODBC Data Source Name (DSN)	WslWarehouse 👻
 Source System Database ID Database Link Name Provider Name SQLOLEDB Adabase Credentials Extract User ID Extract User Password Administrator User ID Administrator User Password Other Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type Database link load V SSIS Connection String Provider-SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Se Data Type Mapping Set (Default) V When Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= CAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB Target Table Location Add new Target Location Add new Target Location 		Data Warehouse Connection Indicator	True
Database ID Database Link Name Provider Name SQLOLEDB V Database Credentias Extract User ID Extract User Password Administrator User ID Administrator User Password Administrator User Password Other Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type Database link load SSIS Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Se Data Type Mapping Set (Default) V Vene Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB V Data Warehouse Server WSL-DOC Vene VSL-DOC Data Warehouse Server WSL-DOC <		Source System	
Database Link Name SQLOLEDB Provider Name SQLOLEDB Provider Name SQLOLEDB Database Credentials Extract User ID Extract User Password Administrator User ID Administrator User Password Other Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type Database link load ▼ SISI Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Se Data Type Mapping Set (Default) ▼ OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB ▼ Data Warehouse Server WSL-DOC Waterhouse ▼ Data Warehouse ID WsIWarehouse ▼ Target Table Location Add ▶ LoadTables ✓ Add ▲ ★		Database ID	
Provider Name SQLOLEDB Provider Name SQLOLEDB Extract User ID Extract User Password Administrator User ID Administrator User Password Administrator User Password Image: Comparison of the password Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type Database link load Image: Comparison of the password SIS Connection String Provider= SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Security Image: Comparison of the password Data Type Mapping Set (Default) Image: Comparison of the password Image: Comparison of the password When Connection String Provider= SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID=Image: Comparison of the password Image: Comparison of the password When Connection String Provider= SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID=Image: Comparison of the password Image: Comparison of the password When Connection String Provider= SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID=Image: Comparison of the password Image: Comparison of the password Data Warehouse Database ID Wsl-DOC Image: Comparison of the password Image: Comparison of the password LoadTables LoadTables Image: Comparison of the password Image: Compassword Image: Comparison of the password		Database Link Name	
▲ Database Credentials Extract User ID Extract User Password Administrator User Password Administrator User Password ▲ Other Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type Database link load ▼ SSIS Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Set Data Type Mapping Set (Default) ▼ Default Transform Function Set (Default) ▼ When Connection is an OLAP Data Source OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID=, Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB ▼ Data Warehouse Server WSL-DOC V Data Warehouse Enver WSWarehouse Add new Target Location Add Add Add new Target Location Add		Provider Name	SQLOLEDB 🗸
Extract User ID Extract User Password Administrator User ID Administrator User Password Other Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type Database link load v SSIS Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Set Data Type Mapping Set (Default) v Default Transform Function Set (Default) v When Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Data Warehouse Server SQLOLEDB v Data Warehouse Batabase ID Wsl/Warehouse v Target Table Location Add Add Add new Target Location Add Add		Database Credentials	
Extract User Password Administrator User ID Administrator User Password Other Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type Database link load SSIS Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Se Data Type Mapping Set (Default) Default Transform Function Set (Default) Vhen Connection is an OLAP Data Source OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Data Warehouse Server WSL-DOC Data Warehouse Batabase ID WslWarehouse * Target Table Location Add Add new Target Location Add		Extract User ID	
Administrator User ID Administrator User Password Other Default Schema for Browsing Mew Table Default Load Type SSIS Connection String Data Type Mapping Set Default Transform Function Set UDEfault Transform Function Set OLAP Connection is an OLAP Data Source OLAP Connection String Connection Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= OLAP Connection String Connection Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Data Warehouse Server Data Warehouse Database ID Add new Target Location Add New Target Location		Extract User Password	
Administrator User Password Other Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type SSIS Connection String Data Type Mapping Set Default, Transform Function Set (Default) V When Connection is an OLAP Data Source OLAP Connection String Connection Con		Administrator User ID	
 Other Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type Database link load V SSIS Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Se Data Type Mapping Set (Default) V When Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB V Data Warehouse Server VSL-DOC Data Warehouse Target Table Location Add LoadTables 		Administrator User Password	
Default Schema for Browsing dbo New Table Default Load Type Database link load SSIS Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Se, Data Type Mapping Set (Default) Default Transform Function Set (Default) When Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID=, OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID=, Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB Data Warehouse Batabase ID WsIWarehouse 4 Target Table Location Add Add new Target Location Add		Other	
New Table Default Load Type Database link load Image: Connection String SSIS Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Sel Data Type Mapping Set (Default) Image: Connection String Data Transform Function Set (Default) Image: Connection String OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB Image: Connection Provider/Driver Data Warehouse Server Image: Connection Connection Image: Connection Connection Add new Target Location Image: Connection Image: Connection Add new Target Location Image: Connection Image: Connection		Default Schema for Browsing	dbo
SSIS Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Sel Data Type Mapping Set (Default) V Default Transform Function Set (Default) V When Connection is an OLAP Data Source OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB V Data Warehouse Server WSL-DOC V Data Warehouse Database ID WslWarehouse V Add new Target Location Add Add		New Table Default Load Type	Database link load
Data Type Mapping Set (Default) V Default Transform Function Set (Default) V When Connection is an OLAP Data Source OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= OLAP Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB V Data Warehouse Server WSL-DOC V Data Warehouse Database ID WslWarehouse V Add new Target Location Add Add > LoadTables V V		SSIS Connection String	Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Se
Default Transform Function Set (Default) When Connection is an OLAP Data Source OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB Data Warehouse Server WSL-DOC Data Warehouse Database ID WslWarehouse Target Table Location Add new Target Location LoadTables V 		Data Type Mapping Set	(Default)
 When Connection is an OLAP Data Source OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB SQLOLEDB SQLOLEDB SQLOLEDB VSL-DOC Data Warehouse Server WslWarehouse Target Table Location Add LoadTables 		Default Transform Function Set	(Default)
OLAP Connection String Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID= Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB Data Warehouse Server WSL-DOC Data Warehouse Database ID WsIWarehouse Target Table Location Add LoadTables Add		When Connection is an OLAP Data Source	
Connection Provider/Driver SQLOLEDB Data Warehouse Server WSL-DOC Data Warehouse Database ID WsIWarehouse Target Table Location Add new Target Location Add new Target Location Add New Target Location		OLAP Connection String	Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID=
Data Warehouse Server WSL-DOC Data Warehouse Database ID WslWarehouse Target Table Location Add new Target Location Add new Target Location Add		Connection Provider/Driver	SQLOLEDB 🗸
Data Warehouse Database ID WsIWarehouse ▲ Target Table Location Add ▲ Add new Target Location Add ▷ LoadTables ▲		Data Warehouse Server	WSL-DOC
 ▲ Target Table Location Add new Target Location ▲ LoadTables 		Data Warehouse Database ID	WslWarehouse
Add new Target Location Add LocadTables		Target Table Location	
▷ LoadTables		Add new Target Location	Add
		LoadTables	
		Add new larget Location	
Add new larget Location		Adds a new database/schema location for this con	inection

3 Give the new target a name and then enter the target's schema. It is best to set the target name to the same name as the schema.

	Add Target	×
	Add a new target for the connection	
Target Name:	LoadTables	
Target Schema:	LoadTables	
	OK Cance	el

4 Expand the target locations to change schema colors or to delete schemas.

Target Table Location		
Add new Target Location	Add	
▲ LoadTables		
Name	LoadTables	
Schema	LoadTables	
List Color	255; 0; 0	
Delete Target Location	Delete	

- **5** Still in the DataWarehouse connection, add the new schemas to the **Default Schema for Browsing** field separated by commas.
 - While browsing this connection, RED will then display a list with all the schemas and their associated objects on the right-hand browser pane.

	Connection D	JataWarehouse	
Properties			
Notes	⊿ General		^
	Connection Name	DataWarehouse	
	Connection Type	Database	
	Database Type	(local)	
	ODBC Data Source Name (DSN)	WsIWarehouse	
	Data Warehouse Connection Indicator	True	
	▲ Source System		
	Database ID		
	Database Link Name		
	Provider Name	SQLOLEDB	
	▲ Database Credentials		
	Extract User ID		
	Extract User Password		
	Administrator User ID		
	Administrator User Password		
	▲ Other		
	Default Schema for Browsing	dbo,LoadTables,StageTables	
	New Table Default Load Type	Database link load	
	SSIS Connection String	Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Se	
	Data Type Mapping Set	(Default)	
	Default Transform Function Set	(Default)	
	When Connection is an OLAP Data Source		
	OLAP Connection String	Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Persist Security Info=False;User ID=	
	Connection Provider/Driver	SQLOLEDB	
	Data Warehouse Server	WSL-DOC	
	Data Warehouse Database ID	WsIWarehouse	
	A Target Table Location		¥
	Default Schema for Browsing		
	Optional comma-delimited list of schema for brow	vser pane filter.	

NOTE: In **SQL Server**, you will probably also want to include dbo in this list. Similarly, in **Oracle** you will probably also want to include the metadata schema.

- **6** You are also able to set the default location for new **Load Tables** in **Tools>Options**.
 - This default target location is only applied when a new load table is created.

E	Options -		×
Repository Identification Repository Privacy Settings Object Types Global Naming Conventions DSS Tables and Columns Check-Out and Check-In Code Generation Storage Default Optional CREATE Clause Index Type Metadata Versioning Documentation Other	24 Default Target LoadTable Default Target Default Tar		
Prev Next	OK Cancel	Help	

- 7 When defining a new table in RED, check and ensure the correct target is set on the Storage tab before creating the table in the database. A new Load table will have a Target value set by default as defined in step 6. You're able to change this as required on each table using the Storage tab of each object's Properties screen. When using drag and drop, other object types will inherit the default Target value of the object you create them from. You are also able to change this as required on each table using the Storage tab of each object's Properties screen.
 - To locate tables in different schemas, select **DataWarehouse** from the drop-down menu and then select the **Target** schema from the target drop-down menu.

898 876		Dimension dim_customer	×
Properties	E Ai		
Storage	2*		
Override Create DDL	Connection	DataWarehouse	¥
Language Mapping	Database Type	SQL Server	
	Target	StageTables	~
Purpose	Schema	LoadTables	
Concept	▲ Storage	StageTables	
Grain	Filegroup	(Default)	~
European	Compress	(Not Defined)	~
Examples	VarDecimal Storage Format	False	~
Usage	▲ Other		
Notes	Optional CREATE Clause		
	Target		
The Target that defines the database and schema for the table.			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
			OK Cancel Help

• Alternatively, leave this field blank or select (local) for a local table.

WARNING: By default objects will be placed in the source table's schema for table types other than Load tables.

NOTE: When upgrading from a RED version previous to 6.8.2.0 and moving existing objects to a target location, all procedures that reference those objects will need to be rebuilt. Any **FROM** clauses will also need to be manually regenerated in order for the table references to be updated to the new [TABLEOWNER] form.

8 To create any of these objects in RED, the RED user will need to be granted a specific set of privileges in Oracle. For SQL Server, the specific schemas will need to be created in the SQL database.
9 SQL Server

• To use object placement across multiple schemas, the required schemas need to be created in the SQL database.

10 Oracle

• To use object placement across multiple schemas in WhereScape RED, the RED user should be granted the following privileges:

grant select any table to dssdemo; grant create any view to dssdemo; grant drop any view to dssdemo; grant create any table to dssdemo; grant drop any table to dssdemo; grant delete any table to dssdemo; grant insert any table to dssdemo; grant update any table to dssdemo; grant alter any table to dssdemo; grant global query rewrite to dssdemo; grant create any materialized view to dssdemo; grant drop any materialized view to dssdemo; grant alter any materialized view to dssdemo; grant create any index to dssdemo; grant drop any index to dssdemo; grant alter any index to dssdemo; grant select any sequence to dssdemo; grant create any sequence to dssdemo; grant drop any sequence to dssdemo; grant alter any sequence to dssdemo; grant analyze any to dssdemo;

1.8 BUILDING DIMENSIONS

The necessary source tables have been loaded into the data warehouse. Now the dimensions of the data warehouse can be built. When building dimensions you will be prompted for how you would like the dimension managed. WhereScape RED generates code for normal, slowly changing, previous value and date ranged dimensions. You will also be prompted for the business (or natural) key of the dimension. This is needed so WhereScape RED knows when to add new dimensional records.

1 Change the right pane view to show the Data Warehouse tables by selecting DataWarehouse from the Browse menu OR click the tab along the bottom of the source window.

 DataWarehouse
 Image: Control of the second seco

Note: For SQL Server the Data Warehouse schema must be **dbo**.

Note: From this point onwards, all work will be performed within the data warehouse.

2 Double-click on the **Dimension object group** in the object tree in the left pane. The first column of the middle pane now reads *Dimension Name*.

Note: You will see that some dimensions have already been created for you.

3 Click and drag the **load_customer** table from the data warehouse schema in the right pane into the middle pane. A dialog box displays defaulting the name of the object to **dim_customer.** Click **ADD**.

	Add a New Metadata Object ×				
Define the Type and Name of the New Object. Specific information for each object type is defined in subsequent screens.					
Object Type:	Dimension 🗸				
Object Name:	dim_customer				
	ADD Cancel				

4 A dialog box displays asking how you want the dimension managed. Click Normal.

Dimension Type	×
Four methods are provided for managing dimensions. Please select the desired method.	0
 Normal. The dimension is updated based on a business key, with new records being added if required. All columns except the business key can change. 	Normal
Slowly changing. Changes in the values of selected columns result in new dimensional records being created. In all other respects the same as Type 1.	Slowly Changing
Previous data retained. The previous values of selected columns are stored in additional columns. In all other respects the same as Type 1.	Previous values
4. Date Ranged. The source system provides a date ranged business key. Similar to Type 2 except that we deal with the record as a whole and the dates are provided.	Date Ranged

- **5** A table definition displays with all the necessary defaults completed.
 - Make one change Select (**Build Procedure...**) from the Update Procedure drop-down list box. This will generate procedures to get surrogate (artificial) keys based on the business key and to update the dimension. Click **OK**.

8		Dimensi	on dim_customer				×
Properties	Table Name:	dim_customer				Table Type:	Dimension 🗸
Storage	Unious Chart Marroy						
Override Create DDL	(maximum 22 characters)	dim_customer					
Language Mapping	Business Display Name (EUL):	dim_customer					
Purpose							
Concept	Description:						
Grain							
Examples							¥
Usage	Update Procedure:	(Build Procedure	e)	~	Rebuild		
Notes	Custom Procedure:	(None)		~			
	Get Key Function:	(None)		▼ Edit			Mnemonic (EUL):
	Timestamos						
	Metadata Structure Chan	ged:	Database Created:		Data	base Altered:	
	2014-12-17 16:55:29.693						
						ОК	Cancel Help

6 A dialog box displays confirming that the dimension table **dim_customer** has been defined and asking if you want to create and load the table. Click **Create and Load**.

	Create Database Table	×			
Dimension dim_customer has been defined.					
Create	Create and Load 💌	Close			
	<u>.</u>				

7 A Procedure Build Type dialog will appear. Select **Cursor/Set** and then click **OK**.

Procedure Build Type ×				
Choose Build Type: (Previo	us build was Set)			
Set		*		
	OK Cano	:el		

8 Define the Business Key by clicking on the ellipsis button of the Update Build Options screen. The business (natural) key is the unique identifier for the dimensional record. Select code and > (or double-click on code) on the Business Key Column dialog and click OK.

TIP: The toggle sort button button can help to sort Business Key columns into alphabetic order.

	Busines	s Key Co	lumns		×
Columns that define the business key	for update processing. Required	d if include L	Ipdate options.		
Available Columns:	A-Z Z-A 🛞		Selected Columns:		
dim_customer_key name address city state			code		
<	>				
				OK	Cancel

9 The procedure results display and can be reviewed.

NOTE: The Dimension Table object group in the left pane now has added **dim_customer** as a dependent/child.

10 Repeat this same process (steps 2 through 9) for the load table **load_product**. The business key will be **code**.

TIP: Remember to double-click on the left pane Dimension Table object group between loading each of the above dimension tables.

11 Refresh the Data Warehouse pane on the right (F5).

Your screen should look something like this:



Note: Analysis Services does not like **name** as a column name. For dim_customer it will therefore be necessary to change the column name from **name** to **cname**.

12 Click on **dim_customer** in the left pane to display the dim_customer columns in the middle pane.

13 When positioned on the column **name** in the middle pane, right-click and select **Properties** from the drop-down menu.

dim_customer Columns 🔧						
Column Name		Display Name	Display Name Data Type Source Table		Source Column	
器 dim_custor	ner_key	dim customer	integer ident		dim_customer_key	
器 code		code numeric(6)		load_customer	code	
器 name		name	varchar(45)	load_customer	name	
器 addre	Properties			load_customer	address	
器 city	Change Colu	mn(s)		load_customer	city	
😽 state	Add Column	umn n r Number		load_customer	state	
😽 dss_st	Add Column				dss_start_date	
😽 dss_ei	Duplicate Col				dss_end_date	
😽 dss_u	Delete Colum				dss_update_time	
😽 dss_ci	Respace Orde				dss_current_flag	
🔏 dss_v	Impact				dss_version	
	impact					
	Send Columns To Another Object					
Add Columns From Another Object			ject			
		-				
<					>	

14 Change the column name and business display name from **name** to **cname** as shown below. Click **OK**.

ransformation	▲ General		
anguage Mapping.	Table Name	dim_customer	
	Column Name	cname	Aa
	Business Display Name	cname	Aa
	Column Description	The full name of the customer. Forms a hierarchy with city and state.	
	Physical Definition		
	Column Order	30	
	Data Type	varchar(45)	
	Null Values Allowed	True	~
	Default Value		
	Meta Definition		
	Format		
	Numeric	False	~
	Additive	False	~
	Attribute	True	~
	End User Layer Display	True	~
	Business Key	False	~
	Artificial Key	False	~
	Key Type (0,A,B,C)		
	Code Generation		
	Zero Key Value	Unknown	
	Source Details		
	Source Table	load_customer	~
	Source Column	name	~
	Transformation		
	1.	r 1	

15 Right-click on **dim_customer** in the left pane and select **Validate against the Database**.

Properties
Storage
Display Columns
Display Indexes
Display Data
Query via Excel
Add Column
Add Index
Regenerate Indexes
Hierarchies •
Change Column(s)
Validate Against the Database
Update Comments
Gather Statistics
Version Control
Create (ReCreate)
Truncate
Delete Metadata and Drop Table
Execute Update Procedure
Execute Custom Procedure
Process Table via Scheduler
Execute Custom Procedure via Scheduler
Documentation •
Projects •
Impact •
Code •

16 The results will show that the metadata has been changed to **cname** while the column name in the database is still **name**.

Table validation list	▼ ∓ ×
Object	Differences
😽 dim_customer - cname	Alter name from name.
S Desults	3
Reports Results	

TIP: You can right click on the dimension name and select **Sync Column order with** database to reorder the metadata columns to match the column order in the database table.

17 Right-click on dim_customer in the bottom pane and select Alter table from the drop-down list.

Table valida	tion list	- ₽ ×
Object	Differences	
🕉 dim_custo	Alter Table Export to CSV File	
<	ite in the second se	>

- **18** A warning dialog will appear, displaying the table and column name to be altered. Select **Alter Table**.
- **19** A dialog will appear confirming that dim_customer has been altered. Click **OK**.
- **20** Right-click on the **dim_customer** object in the left pane and select **Properties** from the drop-down menu. Choose the **Rebuild** button.
- **21** A Procedure Build Type dialog will appear. Select **Cursor** and then **OK**.
- **22** Leave the Business key as **Code** and click **OK**.
- 23 Right-click on dim_customer in the left pane and select Execute Update Procedure.
- **24** Click in the right pane and press **F5** to refresh the Data Warehouse table view.
- **25** Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Bac	kup Jobs Doc Repo	rts Validate To	ools Window Help					
🗄 🗋 🙏 🖒 📇 🤣 Web Links 🗸	🥹 🔒 📇 🕓 Schedi	uler 🤪 🔹 🥔 🕶	🖕 i 🍞 🔍 🌛 Impo	rt 📕 👿 💋 🌾	🖕 🤅 🖟 Reports	 ✓ # # 		
📑 Builder 💧 Scheduler 🛛 📑 Dia	agram					- -		
Development - 🕂 ×	dim_customer Columns				45	DataWarehouse		
All Objects	Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column			
Tonnection	😽 dim_customer_key	dim customer	integer identity(0,1)		dim_customer_key			
🔺 🚞 Load Table	😽 code	code	numeric(6)	load_customer	code	7 🛛		
load_customer	😽 cname	cname	varchar(45)	load_customer	name	🔺 🦲 dbo		
load_order_header	😽 address	address	varchar(40)	load_customer	address	dim_customer		
load_order_line	😽 city	city	varchar(30)	load_customer	city	dim_date		
load_product	😽 state	state	varchar(2)	load_customer	state	dim_broduct		
💔 Stage Table	器 dss_update_time	dss update time	datetime		dss_update_time	dss_fact_table		
2 Data Store						🔟 dss_parameter		
Normalized						<pre>milds_source_system</pre>		
⊿ 🎢 Dimension						load_customer		
aim_customer						load_order_header		
and dim_date						load product		
eim_product								
ss_rucr_ubic								
Contraction View								
Fact Table								
Aggregate								
👥 View								
Olap Cube								
🧃 Olap Dimension	<	_			>			
👱 Export	Results				↓ ‡ ×			
Procedure	Object	Message			^			
Host Script	Ioad_order_line	Load Complete						
Index	🕜 🖃 dim customer	Create of Dimen	sion dbo.dim custome	r completed succ	essfully.			
a Kedo	🖉 🖃 dim product	Create of Dimen	sion dbo.dim_product	completed succes	sfully.			
	aim_product	H unit_product Create of Dimension abo.aim_product completed successfully.						
	dim_customer	Game Customer Create of Dimension dbo.dim_customer completed successfully.						
	dim_customer	- 1 dire austance	vereu					
		r i um_customer	updated. o new record	is, o records upda	v			
	Results Reports					Data Warehouse Source Browser		

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Creating Dimension Views* (see "1.9 *Creating Dimension Views*" on page 41)

1.9 CREATING DIMENSION VIEWS

A dimension view is a database view of a dimension table. It may be a full or partial view. It is typically used in such cases as date dimensions where multiple date dimensions exist for one fact table.

In this step you will create dimension views from an existing dimension. In many cases dimension views are built as part of the end user layer, but creating them in the data warehouse means they are available regardless of the end user tools used. This process is essentially the same as creating a dimension, but you are creating a view of an existing dimension, in this instance, dim_date.

- 1 After double-clicking on **Dimension View** in the left pane, click and drag **dim_date** from the right pane into the middle pane.
 - The dialog box that displays defaults the object type to a dimension view, and names the dimension view **dim_date**.
 - Because we want to create two dimension views from the same source, dim_date, we need to change this dimension view name to one that is more meaningful, specifically **dim_order_date.** Make this change and click **ADD**.

	Add a New Metadata Object					
Define the Type and Name of the New Object. Specific information for each object type is defined in subsequent screens.						
Object Type:	Dimension View 🗸					
Object Name:	dim_order_date					
	ADD Cancel					

2 A dialog box displays to provide a means of re-mapping some of the column names in the view if required. Rename **calendar_date** to **order_date** and click **OK**.

The column names for the view being created can be modified by filling in the following form. If the Default button is pressed pothing will be changed						
The Deradic bucch is pressed nothing will be that	ingea.					
Remove Column Prefix:		Add Column Prefix:				
	>	order_				
lemove Business Display Prefix:		Add Business Display Prefix:				
	>	order				
Change Column Names for Specific Columns - Old Column Name:		New Column Name:				
Change Column Names for Specific Columns Old Column Name: dim_date_key	>	New Column Name: dim_order_date_key				
Change Column Names for Specific Columns Old Column Name: dim_date_key calendar_date]>	New Column Name: dim_order_date_key lorder_date				
Change Column Names for Specific Columns Old Column Name: dim_date_key calendar_date	> >	New Column Name: dim_order_date_key order_date				
Change Column Names for Specific Columns Old Column Name: dim_date_key calendar_date	> > >	New Column Name: dim_order_date_key order_date				
Change Column Names for Specific Columns Old Column Name: dim_date_key calendar_date		New Column Name: dim_order_date_key order_date				

3 The dim order date view property defaults have all been completed as necessary so click **OK**.

8		Dimension View dim_order_date			×
Properties Language Mapping Purpose Concept Grain	View Name: Unique Short Name: (maximum 22 characters) Business Display Name (EUL):	dim_order_date dim_order_date dim_order_date		View Туре:	Dimension View V
Examples Usage Notes	Description:				~
	Distinct Data Select: Where Clause:				×
	Get Key Function: Timestamps Metadata Structure Chang 2015-01-12 16:18:40.687	(None) V Jed: Database Created:	Edit	atabase Altered:	Mnemonic (EUL):

4 A dialog box displays indicating that the dimension view dim_order_date has been defined and asks if you want to create the view now. Select **Create View + Function.**

Create Database View	×
Dimension View dim order date has been defined	
Create View Create View + Function	Close

- **5** Click **OK** on the Business Key dialog.
- **6** Repeat steps (1) to (5) to create the dimension view **dim_ship_date**.
- **7** Click in the right pane and press F5 to refresh the Data Warehouse table view in the right pane.

8 Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Back	kup Jobs Doc Reports	Validate Tools	Window He	p		
🗄 🗋 🛛 🚲 🕒 😤 🖉 Web Links 👻	😧 🔒 ই 🕓 Scheduler	🥪 x 🛛 🥪 x 📮 🗄	🍞 🔍 🌛 Imp	ort 📑 👿 💋 🌾	💂 🗄 🖟 Reports	▼ <i>#</i>
🚟 Builder 📣 Scheduler 🛛 💻 Dia	igram					-
Development - # ×	dim_ship_date Columns				۲.	DataWarehouse
A Chiects	Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Colu \land	
Connection	💥 dim_ship_date_key	dim ship date	integer	dim_date	dim_date_l	
Load Table	💥 ship_date	ship date	datetime	dim_date	calendar_d	7 🔗
load_customer	💥 ship_cal_day_in_week	ship cal day in	varchar(3)	dim_date	cal_day_in_	4 🚺 dbo
load_order_header	💥 ship_cal_day_in_week_no	ship cal day in	integer	dim_date	cal_day_in_	<pre>im_customer</pre>
ioad_order_line	🎉 ship_cal_day_in_month	ship cal day in	integer	dim_date	cal_day_in_	iii dim_date
load_product	💥 ship_cal_day_in_year	ship cal day in	integer	dim_date	cal_day_in_	dim_order_date
辩 Stage Table	💢 ship_cal_week_in_year	ship cal week i	integer	dim_date	cal_week_i	T dim ship date
🗱 Data Store	💥 ship_cal_month_no	ship cal month	integer	dim_date	cal_month	☐ dss_current_day_details
T Normalized	💥 ship_cal_month	ship cal month	integer	dim_date	cal_month	<pre>dss_fact_table</pre>
A 😽 Dimension	🎉 ship_cal_month_name	ship cal month	varchar(7)	dim_date	cal_month	dss_parameter
dim_customer	🎉 ship_cal_quarter_no	ship cal quarte	integer	dim_date	cal_quarter	dss_source_system
Gim_date	💥 ship_cal_quarter	ship cal quarter	integer	dim_date	cal_quarter	load order header
aim_product	💥 ship_cal_year	ship cal year	integer	dim_date	cal_year	T load_order_line
	🎉 ship_financial_date	ship financial	datetime	dim_date	financial_d	I load_product
Dimension View	🎉 ship_fin_day_in_week	ship fin day in	varchar(3)	dim_date	fin_day_in_	
in order date	🎉 ship_fin_day_in_week_no	ship fin day in	integer	dim_date	fin_day_in_	
dim ship date	🎉 ship_fin_day_in_month	ship fin day in	integer	dim_date	fin_day_in_	
Gat Table	🎉 ship_fin_day_in_year	ship fin day in	integer	dim_date	fin_day_in_	
🥒 Aggregate	🕱 ship fin week in month	ship fin week i	integer	dim date	fin week ii 🗡	
💢 View	<				>	
🥥 Olap Cube	Results				~ ┦ ×	
💓 Olap Dimension	Object Media	essage			^	
🛓 Export	dim chin date EX	ECUTE on addepten	dedproperty N'	Comment' N'Numh	er of trading	
Procedure	ann_smp_date ex	ys in the month so f	ar.' , N'user' , N	'dbo', N'view' ,'dim	ship date',	
Host Script	N'	column', N'ship_tra	ding_days_so_fa	r);		
Index	dim_ship_date EX	ECUTE sp_addexten	dedproperty N	Comment', N'Date/t	ime that this	
Retro	🎯 L rec	ord was updated in	the data wareh	ouse' , N'user' , N'db	o', N'view'	
	, d	im_snip_date', N'co	iumn', N'dss_up	date_time;		
	Devulta Deve to				×	Data Washawaa Sawaa Baaw
	Results Reports					Data warehouse Source Browser

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Defining the Staging Table* (see "1.10 *Defining the Staging Table*" on page 45).

1.10 DEFINING THE STAGING TABLE

In this step you will create a stage table from two load tables. A stage table is used to build the format of the fact table, and generally contains changed or new data that will be added to the fact table. As stage tables contain dimensional keys, they should be defined after the dimensions.

Note: The source of data for the stage table will be the load tables **load_order_line** and **load_order_header**.

- 1 Double-click on the **Stage Table object group** in the object tree in the left pane to create a stage table target. The first column heading in the middle pane reads *Stage Table Name*.
- 2 Click and drag the **load_order_line** table from the right pane data warehouse schema. Drop it in the middle pane. A dialog box displays defaulting the name of the object to stage_order_line. To make it a more meaningful name, change the name of the object to **stage_sales_detail** and click **ADD**.

Add a New Metadata Object ×							
Define the Type and Name of the New Object. Specific information for each object type is defined in subsequent screens.							
Object Type:	Stage Table	*					
Object Name:	stage_sales_detail						
	ADD Cancel						

3 A table definition displays with all the necessary defaults completed. Click **OK**.

*		Stage Table stage_sales_	detail			×
Properties Storage Override Create DDL	Table Name: Unique Short Name: ((maximum 22 characters)	stage_sales_detail stage_sales_detail		Ta	able Type: S	tage v
Notes	Description:					^
	Update Procedure: Custom Procedure:	(None) (None)	> >	Rebuild Re	egenerate	
	Timestamps Metadata Structure Ch 2015-01-12 16:24:54.3	anged: Database Create 10	ed:	Database	e Altered:	
]			ОК	Ca	ncel Help

Note: The Stage Table object group in the left pane now has a dependent/child.

- **4** To add the remaining information from the second load table, click on **stage_sales_detail** in the left pane. Next drop **load_order_header** from the right pane into the middle pane.
- **5** A message is displayed with options to create a "New table" or to "Add columns". Click **Add Columns**.

Adding Table to Existing Stage Table							
You are about The following o	You are about to add all columns in the table load_order_header into this table (stage_sales_detail). The following options are available:						
New Table Add Columns Cancel	New Table- will initiate a new table dialog. This table will not be affectedAdd Columns- will continue to add the columns to this table.Cancel- No Action.						
	New Table Add Columns Cancel	I					

6 WhereScape RED detects duplicated columns. As both **load_order_header** and **load_order_line** have the *order number* field, the following is displayed. Click **Skip** to exclude the second instance of order_number.

Duplicate Column Name
A column 'order_number' already exists. To add this column with a new name, edit and select OK To not add this column select Skip To add duplicate name select OK without editing (duplicates will need to be removed before the table can be created)
OK Skin

Note: If the second instance of order_number is required, then click **OK**.

- 7 This combines data from two load tables (**load_order_header** and **load_order_line**) into one stage table. In the middle pane under *Source Table, notice* the source of each of the columns.
- 8 Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Back	up Jobs Doc Rep	oorts Validate T	ools Window	Help		
🗄 📄 🙏 🦒 📇 🛷 Web Links 👻	🥹 🗟 🚉 🕓 Sche	duler 🛹 🛛 🎣 🗸	· 🖕 🛛 🗷 🔍 🌙	Import 📑 👿 🕼 (🎘 🖕 🤅 🖗 Reports	▼
📇 Builder 💧 Scheduler 💦 📑 Dia	gram					-
Development	stage_sales_detail Col	umns			4	DataWarehouse
All Objects	Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column	(a = 3) = e (2 × 9 =
Connection	💔 order_number	order number	numeric(12)	load_order_line	order_number	
🔺 🚞 Load Table	💔 order_line_no	order line no	numeric(4)	load_order_line	order_line_no	70
load_customer	觩 product_code	product code	numeric(6)	load_order_line	product_code	🔺 🧻 dbo
load_order_header	辩 unit_sale_price	unit sale price	numeric(9,3)	load_order_line	unit_sale_price	III dim_customer
📄 load_order_line	💔 quantity	quantity	numeric(8)	load_order_line	quantity	iii dim_date
load_product	💔 sales_value	sales value	numeric(13,2)	load_order_line	sales_value	dim_order_date
a 🔅 Stage Table	💔 tax	tax	numeric(9,2)	load_order_line	tax	T dim ship date
觩 stage_sales_detail	💔 order_date	order date	datetime	load_order_header	order_date	T dss_current_day_details
🗱 Data Store	觩 customer_code	customer code	numeric(6)	load_order_header	customer_code	<pre>m dss_fact_table</pre>
T Normalized	辩 ship_date	ship date	datetime	load_order_header	ship_date	dss_parameter
⊿ 💥 Dimension	💔 dss_update_time	dss update time	datetime		dss_update_time	dss_source_system
dim_customer						load_customer
im_date						load order line
aim_product						T load_product
Dimension View						
2 dim order date						
dim_bin_date						
Fact Table						
Aggregate	<				>	
1 View	Results				- □ ×	
🗃 Olap Cube	() Object	Manage				
🥥 Olap Dimension	S Object	iviessage				
🛓 Export	dim_ship_d	ate EXECUTE sp_ad	dextendedproper	ty N'Comment', N'Nu vr' N'dho' N'viow' 'di	mber of trading	
Procedure	Υ Γ	N'column'. N'sł	nip trading davs	so far':	m_smp_uate,	
Host Script	dim shin d	ate EXECUTE sp. ad	devtendednroner	ty N'Comment' N'Dat	e/time that this	
> 📁 Index	💿 L ann_smp_a	record was upd	ated in the data v	varehouse' , N'user' , N	l'dbo', N'view'	
Retro	-	,'dim_ship_date	', N'column', N'd	ss_update_time';		
					~	
	Results Reports					Data Warehouse Source Browser

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Including Dimension Links* (see "1.11 *Including Dimension Links*" on page 49).

1.11 INCLUDING DIMENSION LINKS

The dimension links that allow us to create the fact-like star schema now need to be included:

- 1 In the left pane, click on the **stage_sales_detail** table in the Stage Table object group. The middle pane should display the contents of this stage table.
- **2** Drag each of the following dimensions from the right pane into the stage table in the middle pane:
 - dim_customer
 - dim_order_date
 - dim_product
 - dim_ship_date

This adds the dimension keys from each dimension to the stage table. Your WhereScape RED screen should now look like this:

File Edit View Browse Bac	kup Jobs Doc Rep	orts Validate T	ools Window	Help				
🗄 📃 🙏 🗈 🖺 🥸 Web Links 🗸	🥝 🔒 🚑 🕓 Schee	luler 🥜 👻 🛷 🤊	r 🚚 🐼 🔍 🎒	Import 📕 👿 🕼 (🏁 🤤 i 🖗 Reports		<u> </u>	
🧱 Builder 🧕 😃 Scheduler 💦 🚑 Dia	Builder 🕹 Scheduler 🚊 Diagram 👻							
Development • $\P \times$	stage_sales_detail Colu	imns				DataWarehouse	- ₽ ×	
All Objects	Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column			
Connection	辩 dim_customer_key	dim customer	integer	dim_customer	dim_customer_key			
🔺 🚞 Load Table	💔 dim_order_date	dim order date	integer	dim_order_date	dim_order_date_key	7 30		
load_customer	觩 dim_product_key	dim product key	integer	dim_product	dim_product_key	4 🛅 dbo		
📄 load_order_header	辩 dim_ship_date_key	dim ship date	integer	dim_ship_date	dim_ship_date_key	dim_customer		
📷 load_order_line	辩 order_number	order number	numeric(12)	load_order_line	order_number	dim_date		
load_product	觩 order_line_no	order line no	numeric(4)	load_order_line	order_line_no	dim_order_date		
4 辩 Stage Table	觩 product_code	product code	numeric(6)	load_order_line	product_code	T dim_ship_date		
💔 stage_sales_detail	辩 unit_sale_price	unit sale price	numeric(9,3)	load_order_line	unit_sale_price	T dss_current_day_deta	ils	
1 Data Store	辩 quantity	quantity	numeric(8)	load_order_line	quantity	dss_fact_table		
Mormalized	辩 sales_value	sales value	numeric(13,2)	load_order_line	sales_value	dss_parameter		
A 😽 Dimension	辩 tax	tax	numeric(9,2)	load_order_line	tax	load customer		
Gim_customer	辩 order_date	order date	datetime	load_order_header	order_date	load order header		
an dim_date	辩 customer_code	customer code	numeric(6)	load_order_header	customer_code	load_order_line		
den fact table	💔 ship_date	ship date	datetime	load_order_header	ship_date	load_product		
	💔 dss_update_time	dss update time	datetime		dss_update_time			
Dimension View								
dim order date								
dim_bin_date								
Grant Table								
Aggregate	<				>			
🐭 View	Results				- ‡ X			
🧃 Olap Cube	() Object	Manage						
🥑 Olap Dimension		iviessage			·			
🛓 Export	dim_ship_da	te EXECUTE sp_ad	dextendedproper	ty N'Comment', N'Nu v'_N'dho'_N'view'_'di	mber of trading			
Procedure	Y	N'column', N'sł	hip trading days	so far':	m_smp_date,			
👂 칠 Host Script	dim shin da	te EXECUTE sp. adv	devtendedproper	ty N'Comment' N'Dat	e/time that this			
> 📁 Index		record was upd	ated in the data v	varehouse' , N'user' , N	'dbo', N'view'			
Retro	-	,'dim_ship_date	', N'column', N'd	lss_update_time';				
					~			
	Results Reports					Data Warehouse Source Brow	ser	

3 The stage table metadata has been defined, but the stage table has not been created. To create the stage table in the data warehouse, right-click on **stage_sales_detail** in the left pane and select **Create (ReCreate).**

File Edit View Browse Backup Jobs Doc Reports Validate Tools Window Help								
: 🛄 🙏 🖒 📇 🤣 Web Links 👻	🥹 🤮 🟯 🕓 Scheduler 🛹 🗸 🛷 🔻	💡 🖉 🔍 🤞	Import 📕 👿 🕼 (🇞 🖕 🗄 🖗 Reports	<u> </u>			
📑 Builder 🕓 Scheduler 🛛 📮 Dia	gram				-			
Development 👻 🕂 🗙	stage_sales_detail Columns			4.	DataWarehouse 👻 🖣 🗙			
All Objects	Column Name Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column	a 🗂 👌 🖿 🖉 🖉 🗑 🚍			
Tonnection	辩 dim_customer_key dim customer	integer	dim_customer	dim_customer_key				
🔺 🚞 Load Table	Properties		dim_order_date	dim_order_date_key	¥ 🛛			
load_customer	Storage		dim_product	dim_product_key	4 🛅 dbo			
🚞 load_order_head			dim_ship_date	dim_ship_date_key	i dim_customer			
load_order_line	Display Columns	c(12)	load_order_line	order_number	T dim_order_date			
load_product	Display Indexes	c(4)	load_order_line	order_line_no	dim_product			
a 👾 Stage Table	Display Data	c(6)	load_order_line	product_code	👅 dim_ship_date			
stage_sales_deta	Ouerv via Excel	c(9,3)	load_order_line	unit_sale_price	<pre>dss_current_day_details</pre>			
The Data Store	~,	c(8)	load_order_line	quantity	dss_fact_table			
iii Normalized	Report Zero Keys	c(13,2)	load_order_line	sales_value	dss_parameter			
a dim customer	Add Column Add Index	c(9,2)	load_order_line	tax	load customer			
se dim_casonici		ie	load_order_header	order_date	Total_order_header			
se dim product		c(6)	load_order_header	customer_code	load_order_line			
se dss fact table	Regenerate Indexes	ie	load_order_header	ship_date	📰 load_product			
🕺 dss_source_syste	Change Column(s)	ie		dss_update_time				
A 💥 Dimension View	Validate Against the Database							
🧝 dim_order_date	Validate Against the Database							
💥 dim_ship_date	o de comments							
💢 Fact Table	Gather Statistics	•						
🧳 Aggregate	Version Control	- • -						
View	Create (ReCreate)		<u>~ ₽ ×</u>					
Olap Cube	True este			^				
- Export	Truncate	dprope	rty N'Comment', N'Nui					
	Delete Metadata and Drop Table	', N'us	er' , N'dbo', N'view' ,'di	m_ship_date',				
Host Script	Execute Update Procedure	ig_uays		41 AL 441				
Index	Execute Custom Procedure	dprope e data	rty N'Comment', N'Dat warehouse' . N'user' . N	e/time that this 'dbo'. N'view'				
Retro		nn', N'	dss_update_time';					
	Process Table via Scheduler							
	Execute Custom Procedure via Scheduler			~				
	Documentation	•			Data Warehouse Source Browser			

Note: The table must exist in the data warehouse before we can proceed to the next step. If the table has not been physically created then the procedure in step 5 will fail to compile.

- 4 Double-click on the stage table to select **Properties.**
- **5** Under Update Procedure, choose **(Build Procedure...)** to create an update stage procedure. Click **OK**.

*		Stage Table stage_sa	les_detail		×
Properties Storage	Table Name: Unique Short Name: (maving um 22 characters)	stage_sales_detail stage_sales_detail		Table Type:	Stage 🗸
Notes					
	Description:				<
	Update Procedure:	(Build Procedure)	¥	Rebuild Regenerate	
	Custom Procedure:	[None]	v		
	Metadata Structure Chang	ed: Database (Created:	Database Altered:	
	2015-01-12 16:32:51.293	2015-01-12	2 16:33:06.853	2015-01-12 16:33:0	6.853
				OK	Cancel Help

6 Select the **Cursor** based procedure generation from the stage procedure type dialog box.

	Define Stage Procedure Type	×
Code can be advantages a are unsure of	generated for each of the following procedure types. There are nd disadvantages with each type, so please read the help if you the method to choose.	0
		Cancel
1.Standard cu business key.	irsor based update and insert. Allows detection of non unique	Cursor
2. Cursor base Otherwise as	ed sorted by the dimension business keys with the lowest cardinality, per option 1.	Sorted Cursor
3. Set based i but the least f	nsert. Assumes business key is unique. Normally the fastest method, lexible.	Set
4. Set based i business key i	nsert followed by cursor on missing dimension keys. Assumes is unique.	Set + Cursor
5. Set based i appear once.	nsert from all source tables (merge). A source table only needs to All source tables must have the same column names.	Set Merge
Insert Hint:	TABLOCK	(e.g. TABLOCK)
Update Hint:		(e.g. TABLOCK)
Distinct Da	ata Select	
Allow Mod	ification of the Where Clause	

Note: When building an Oracle data warehouse, this dialog has an additional option for bulk bind procedures. See Staging generating the update procedure for more information.

- 7 Click **OK** on the Parameters dialog.
- 8 A dialog box will display indicating that multiple source tables have been detected. Click **OK**.

Multiple Source Tables Detected							
More than one source table has been detected (see list).	Source Tables List:						
source tables or by using multiple cursors, or even a combination of these two options.	load_order_header						
At this stage only one cursor is supported. If multiple cursors are to be used they will need to be added manually.							
In the following screen define the joins for the first cursor.							
		OK Cancel					

- **9** Highlight the source tables **load_order_line** and **load_order_header** which are to be joined by **order_number**.
 - With the two tables highlighted click **Outer Join**. See the chapter on Staging data for an explanation of the join types and options.
 - Select **order number** from the **load_order_line** empty drop-down list box at the bottom of the screen. Then select order number from the **load_order_header** drop-down list box.

	Provi	ide Curs	or Mapping		×
Cursor Name (if applicable):	Load				۷
To define a join select two tabl	ere clause). es and select the join type. Then select the	join colum	ns from the column lists present	ted.	
Source Tables:	From and Where Clause:				
load_order_ine load_order_header					
Outer Join Simple Join	ANSI join code generated				
Select the columns that join the	two tables. Select the column from the Mas	ster Table f	irst.		
load_order_line	order_number	~	load_order_header		~
Word Wrap Displayed Code				customer_code order_date order_number ship_date	

• This will create a join statement in the right window. Click **OK**.

Provide Cursor Mapping					
Cursor Name (if applicable): Load					
Define the Joins (or edit the where (To define a join select two tables a	lause). Id select the join type. Then select the join columns from the column lists presented.				
Source Tables:	From and Where Clause:				
load_order_ine load_order_header	FROM load_order_line LEFT OUTER JOIN load_order_header ON load_order_line.order_number = load_order_header.order_number				
Outer Join Simple Join	ANSI join code generated				
Select the columns that join the two	tables. Select the column from the Master Table first.				
load_order_line	✓ load_order_header	*			
Word Wrap Displayed Code	ОК	ancel			

- **10** You need to match the dimension business keys with the business keys in the stage table. This associates the correct dimensional record to each stage table record. A dialog box displays for each dimensional join.
 - For **dim_customer**, select **customer code**. Click > and **OK**.

	Dim	ension Busir	ess Key Definition			×
Stage Table Column List: customer_code order_date order_line_no order_number product_code quantity sales_value ship_date			ging table that matches list. They must be in the business keys.			
tax		Stage Business	Kaulist		Dimension Business Keus	
	•	customer_code		=	code	
dim customer			Source Table Column List:]		
Ne Vicenie (Calmenting inig de cet ausses)		Add Tauk	Enter a text string and proces	Add Tau	ut te add a statia Business Key Value	
INO warning (ir dimension joins do not succeed)		Add Lext	Eriter a text string and press /	-uu Tex	xi to add a static business Ney Value	
Automatically Add a New Entry (if no valid dimensio Write Detail Log Message (when no dimension rec	on record) ord match)					
					OK Canc	el

- The business key for dim_order_date has the same column name in the stage table and the dimension view, allowing WhereScape RED to automatically move **order_date** to the left side.
- For **dim_product**, select **product_code**. Click > and **OK**.
- As you progress to dim_ship_date, notice that **ship_date** has also been automatically chosen. Click **OK** again.

11 Next you must select the business keys to uniquely identify each record in the staging table itself. This essentially defines the business key we will be using in the fact table, and as such defines the grain of the fact table. For this example the grain is order line. Select order_number and order_line_no. Click > and OK.

Define Staging Business Key Columns ×					
Column List: customer_code product_code quantity sales_value ship_date tax unit_sale_price		Select the business keys that uniquely identify each record in the Staging table. Move them over to the business key list Business Key List: order_number order_line_no I Include Update Statement			
			· ·		

12 WhereScape RED now builds and compiles the update procedure. The results pane shows any indexes that were created.

13 The final step is the population of the stage table. Right-click on **stage_sales_detail** in the left pane and select **Execute Update Procedure.**

File Edit View Browse Bac	kup Jobs Doc Reports Validate Tools	Window	Help		
🗄 📄 🛛 😹 📄 📸 🖉 Web Links 👻	🥹 🔒 🛃 🕓 Scheduler 🛛 🛹 🗸 🥥 🔻 💂	1 🍞 🔍 🄌	Import 📕 👿 💕 (🗶 📮 🗄 👼 Reports	▼ # ₹
🚆 Builder 💧 Scheduler 🛛 🚑 Dia	agram				-
Development - 4 ×	stage_sales_detail Columns			*	DataWarehouse 👻 🖣 🗙
All Objects	Column Name Display Name Dat	ta Type	Source Table	Source Column	an Main w 22 2 2 3 1
Connection	辩 dim_customer_key dim customer int	eger	dim_customer	dim_customer_key	
4 🛅 Load Table	Properties		dim_order_date	dim_order_date_key	7 00
load_customer	Storage		dim_product	dim_product_key	4 🧻 dbo
load_order_head			dim_ship_date	dim_ship_date_key	iii dim_customer
load_order_line	Display Columns	c(12)	load_order_line	order_number	T dim_order_date
load_product	Display Indexes	c(4)	load_order_line	order_line_no	im product
a 👾 Stage Table	Display Data	c(6)	load_order_line	product_code	T dim_ship_date
stage_sales_deta	Query via Excel	c(9,3)	load_order_line	unit_sale_price	<pre>milder dss_current_day_details</pre>
The store		c(8)	load_order_line	quantity	<pre>dss_fact_table</pre>
Normalized	Report Zero Keys	c(13,2)	load_order_line	sales_value	des source system
	Add Column	c(9,2)	load_order_line	tax	load customer
dim_customer		e	load_order_header	order_date	Toad_order_header
	Add Index	c(6)	load_order_header	customer_code	Ioad_order_line
se dss fact table	Regenerate Indexes	e	load_order_header	ship_date	T load_product
2 dss source syste	Change Column(s)	e		dss_update_time	
Dimension View	Validate Against the Database				
🕱 dim_order_date					
🧝 dim_ship_date	Update Comments				
🎉 Fact Table	Gather Statistics				
🧳 Aggregate	Version Control	•		· · ·	
1 View	C + (P C +)			~ ₽ ×	
🥥 Olap Cube	Create (ReCreate)			^	
Olap Dimension	Truncate	sales_d	etail rebuilt and recom	piled.	
Export	Delete Metadata and Drop Table	dx A or	Stage Table dbo.stage	sales detail	
Host Script	Execute Update Procedure				
Index	Execute Custom Procedure	ales_de	tail.stage_sales_detail_i	dx_A;	
Retro		USTERE	D INDEX stage_sales_d	etail_idx_A ON	
	Process Table via Scheduler	irder_nu	mber,order_line_no) W	/ITH	
	Execute Custom Procedure via Scheduler	F);			
	Documentation	•			Data Warehouse Source Browser

14 Output from the stage table being updated can now be seen in the **Results** window.

Re	esults	→ ₽	×
٩	Object	Message	^
0	🛨 stage_sales_detail	Procedure update_stage_sales_detail rebuilt and recompiled.	
0	stage_sales_detail	Procedure Completed	
0	L stage_sales	1 stage_sales_detail updated. 21 new records. 0 records updated.	\mathbf{v}
Re	sults Reports		

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Creating a Fact Table* (see "1.12 *Creating a Fact Table*" on page 58).

1.12 CREATING A FACT TABLE

In this step you will create a fact table.

- 1 Create a drop target by double-clicking on the **Fact Table object group** in the left pane.
- 2 Browse the data warehouse connection again (or refresh the data warehouse connection):



3 Drag the stage table **stage_sales_detail** over from the right pane into the middle pane. The following dialog is displayed. Click **ADD**.

	Add a New Metadata Object
Define the Type Specific informa	and Name of the New Object. tion for each object type is defined in subsequent screens.
Object Type:	Fact Table 🗸
Object Name:	fact_sales_detail
	ADD Cancel

4 The **fact_sales_detail** table Properties dialog will appear. Select **(Build Procedure...)** in the update procedure drop-down and click **OK**.

¥		Fact Tabl	e fact_sales_detail				×
Properties	Table Name:	fact_sales_detai	il			Table Type:	Detail 🗸
Storage	Unique Chert Marrier						
Override Create DDL	(maximum 22 characters)	fact_sales_detai	1				
Language Mapping	Business Display Name (EUL):	fact_sales_detai	I				
Purpose							
Concept	Description:						<u>^</u>
Grain							
Examples							~
Usage	Update Procedure:	(Build Procedure	e)	¥	Rebuild		Cursor Based Update
Notes	Custom Procedure:	(None)		~			
	C d Ver Frankrig	(None)		Fdit			
	Get Key Function:	(NONE)		+ Luk			Mnemonic (EUL):
	Timestamps						
	Metadata Structure Chan	ged:	Database Created:		Data	abase Altered:	
	2015-01-12 16:44:33.880						
						OK	Cancel Help

5 Select **Create and Load** to create and load the table now.

Create Database Table	×
Fact Table fact_sales_detail has been defined	

6 Select the Business Key for the fact table. Choose **order_number** and **order_line_number**. Click > and then **OK**.

Defin	ne Fact Business Key Columns	×
Column List: customer_code dim_customer_key dim_order_date_key dim_product_key order_date product_code quantity sales_value ship_date tax unit_sale_price	Select the business keys that uniquely identify each record in the Fact table. Move them over to the Business key list. NDTE: Set based updates can only be selected if no business keys are defined. Business Key List: order_number order_line_no Image: Set Based Insert Allow Where Clause Editing Group By Dimension Keys Include Delete Before Insert Insert Hint: TABLOCK. (e.g. T/2) Update Hint: (e.g. T/2)	ABLOCK) ABLOCK)
	ОК	Cancel

7 Output from the fact table being created and updated can now be seen in the **Results** window. Refresh the Data Warehouse in the right pane.

8 Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Back	kup Jobs Doc Repor	ts Validate Too	ols Window	Help		
🗄 🗋 🙏 🦒 📇 🤣 Web Links 👻	🥝 🗟 🧸 🕓 Schedu	ler 🥜 🕶 🥔 💌	🚽 🛛 😵 🔍 🌲 li	mport 📑 🕱 🕼 🤅	🚽 🗄 🐉 Reports	▼ # ÷
🔡 Builder 💧 Scheduler 🛛 🚑 Dia	gram					-
Development - 🕂 🗙	fact_sales_detail Column	s			4.	DataWarehouse 🗸 🕂 🗙
All Objects	Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column	an N = e 2 2 2 5 5
Connection	💢 dim_customer_key	dim customer	integer	dim_customer	dim_customer_key	
🔺 🚞 Load Table	🎉 dim_order_date_key	dim order date	integer	dim_order_date	dim_order_date_key	Y 🗭
load_customer	💢 dim_product_key	dim product key	integer	dim_product	dim_product_key	🔺 🧻 dbo
load_order_header	🎉 dim_ship_date_key	dim ship date	integer	dim_ship_date	dim_ship_date_key	III dim_customer
load_order_line	🎉 order_number	order number	numeric(12)	stage_sales_detail	order_number	iii dim_date
load_product	💢 order_line_no	order line no	numeric(4)	stage_sales_detail	order_line_no	im_order_date
a 🙀 Stage Table	💢 product_code	product code	numeric(6)	stage_sales_detail	product_code	T dim ship date
🐅 stage_sales_detail	💢 unit_sale_price	unit sale price	numeric(9,3)	stage_sales_detail	unit_sale_price	<pre>dss_current_day_details</pre>
🗱 Data Store	🎉 quantity	quantity	numeric(8)	stage_sales_detail	quantity	<pre>m dss_fact_table</pre>
Normalized	🎉 sales_value	sales value	numeric(13,2)	stage_sales_detail	sales_value	dss_parameter
⊿ 😽 Dimension	🎉 tax	tax	numeric(9,2)	stage_sales_detail	tax	fact sales detail
aim_customer	💢 order_date	order date	datetime	stage_sales_detail	order_date	load customer
oim_date	💢 customer_code	customer code	numeric(6)	stage_sales_detail	customer_code	T load_order_header
dim_broduct	💢 ship_date	ship date	datetime	stage_sales_detail	ship_date	load_order_line
dss_nucc_able	🎉 dss_update_time	dss update time	datetime		dss_update_time	I load_product
We Dimension View						stage_sales_detail
🔐 dim order date						
dim ship date						
🔺 🧝 Fact Table	<				>	
🧝 fact_sales_detail	Results				- ↓ ×	
🥒 Aggregate	Object	Massage				1 1
💢 View	S Object	wiessage				
Olap Cube	fact_sales_de	dbo fact sales det	STERED INDEX fa tail (dim shin da	ct_sales_detail_idx_4 ite_kev) WITH (SORT	IN TEMPDR -	
iii Olap Dimension	•	OFF);	an (ann_smp_ac			
Export	fact sales de	CREATE UNIQUE	NONCLUSTERED	INDEX fact sales det	ail idx A ON	
Procedure		dbo.fact_sales_det	tail (order_numb	er,order_line_no) WI	гн ^т т	
Findex		(SORT_IN_TEMPD	B = OFF);			
Betro		Procedure Compl	eted			
		1 fact_sales_detai	l updated. 21 nev	v records. 0 records u	pdated.	
	Results Reports					Data Warehouse Source Browser

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Switching to Diagrammatic View* (see "1.13 *Switching to Diagrammatic View*" on page 62)

1.13 SWITCHING TO DIAGRAMMATIC VIEW

WhereScape RED provides the ability to diagrammatically view the data warehouse you have created.



1

Click on the **button** to display the **Diagram Selection** dialog.

2 Select an object **Type** of **Fact Table** to narrow the selection list and then select fact_sales_detail. Click on the Schema Diagram button to display a star schema diagram.

	Diagram Selection	
Object to Diagram		Schema Diagram
Project:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Source Diagram
Type: Fact Table	×	
Object: <u>fact_sales_detail</u>	~	Joins Diagram
Display Columns	Link Levels: 4	24 Links Diagram
Restrict diagram objects	: to Group/Project	Impact Diagram
	Cancel	Dependency Diagram

The diagram looks like this:



The toggle button will enable you to switch between the detailed and standard diagrams.



3 To close the diagrammatic view, click on the **X** on the diagram tab, or alternatively, return to the Builder section by clicking the Builder tab.



- TIP: To view the source tracking of the **fact_sales_detail** table, click once more on the

button, choose the **fact_sales_detail** table and then click on the **Source Diagram** button.

The diagram looks like this:



You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Producing Documentation* (see "1.14 *Producing Documentation*" on page 65).

1.14 PRODUCING DOCUMENTATION

WhereScape RED also provides the ability to produce user and technical documentation. This is obviously of more value if the descriptive data has been entered against the columns and tables in the data warehouse, which we have not done during this tutorial.

1 To view the documentation for the components of the data warehouse, select **Doc** from the menu, then **Create Documentation**.



2 Select a file path (directory) under which to save the HTML files that will be produced.

\triangleright	Save As		×
Save in:	Documentation V	G 🤌 📂 🛄 -	
Æ	Name	Date modified	Type 🔨
	🌗 images	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	File fol
Recent places	🖉 _blank.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML
	🔊 glossary.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML
	🔊 index.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML
Desktop	🔊 Names.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML
Æa	Order_Presentation_indextech.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML
6 1	Order_Presentation_indexuser.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML
Libraries	Order_Presentation_maintech.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML
	Order_Presentation_mainuser.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML
	🔁 transforms.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML
Computer	🛃 wsl_job_5078_tech.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML
	避 wsl_job_5086_tech.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML
	🖉 wsl obi 13 tech.html	10/23/2014 3:38 PM	HTML Y
Network	<		>
	File name: index.html	¥	Save
	Save as type: Select an output directory	~	Cancel

3 The next screen allows for the inclusion of a banner and user defined links. Leave these options unchecked and click **OK** to proceed.

Documenta	ation Creation C	Options	×
User and technical documentation will be created	in HTML format in the	destination directory.	OK
To use a custom look and feel add your own Main	Style.css file into the c	destination directory.	Cancel
Documentation Title (e.g. Data Warehouse):	Order Presentatio	m	
Do you want to link in any custom HTML pages?		🗌 Links	
Do you want to include current table space usage It will take longer to create the documentation.	17	✓ Sizes	
How would you like the columns sorted?	Column Order	🔿 Column Name	O Business Name
Do you want to include shadows on the diagram b	ooxes?	🗹 Shado	W
Do you want to create impact analysis on load tab It will take longer to create the documentation.	lles?	✓ Impact	
Do you want to replace the existing style sheet? Do not tick this box if you utilize a custom style she	eet.	🗌 Replac	e Style Sheet
Do you wish to limit the complexity of the diagrams Select the maximum number of process steps to d the source diagrams.	:? isplay in		*

4 Include any personalized links if required and click **Finish**.

Document Links	×		
To include any personalized links from the index page complete the details below.			
Please enter the text which will form the html link			
V More			
Please enter the html filename to link to (Either a filename which is relative to the documentation directory or use the browse buttom for an absolute filename.)			
V Browse Delete			
The documentation runs:

Documentation Progress	×
Overall Progress:	
Step:	
Documenting Load Table objects	

TIP: To view the documentation select Doc, Display Documentation:

Doc	Reports	Validate	Tools	Window		
ø	Create Documentation					
10	Display Documentation					
	Display Documentation in Browser					

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - Data Store Objects (see "1.15 Data Store **Objects (Optional)**" on page 68)

1.15 DATA STORE OBJECTS (OPTIONAL)

Data Store objects are used to provide a persistent storage of load tables. These objects are not licensed for every installation and hence this section is optional.

- **1** Browse the **Data Warehouse** in the right pane.
- **2** Double-click the **data store** object in the left pane.
- **3** Drag **load_product** from the right pane into the middle pane.
- **4** Accept the default name of **ds_product** and click **ADD**.

	Add a New Metadata Object	×		
Define the Type and Name of the New Object.				
Specific informat	ion for each object type is defined in subsequent screen	S.		
Object Type:	Data Store	*		
Object Name:	ds_product			
	ADD Cancel			

5 Select (**Build Procedure...**) from the Update Procedure drop-down list. Click **OK**.

#		Data St	ore ds_product				×
Properties	Table Name:	ds_product				Table Type:	Data Store 🗸 🗸
Storage	Unique Short Name:	de product					
Override Create DDL	(maximum 22 characters)	us_product					
Purpose	Business Display Name (EUL):	ds_product					
Concept	D						
Grain	Description:						
Examples							
Usage							¥
Notes	Update Procedure:	(Build Procedure)	¥	Rebuild	Regenerate	
	Custom Procedure:	(None)		¥			
	Get Key Function:	(None)		✓ Edit			
	see a say i si taran i	. ,					Minemonic (EUL):
	Timestamps				_		
	Metadata Structure Chang 2015.01.12 16:47:43:053	ed:	Database Created:		Data	ibase Altered:	
	2010/01/12 10.47.40.000						
						OK	Cancel Help

6 Click Create and Load.

	Create Database Table	×		
Data Store ds product has been defined				
Create	Create and Load	Close		

7 Select code as the business key by clicking on the ellipsis button to the right of the Business Key Columns field by clicking code, selecting > or by double-clicking on code. Click OK.

	Business Ke	y Columns	
Columns that define the business k	ey for update processing. Required if inc	slude Update options.	
Available Columns:	A-Z Z-A (#	Selected Columns:	
description prod_line prod_group subgroup		code	
<	>		
			JK Cancel

8 Make sure the options as set as shown below and click **OK**.

	ds_produc	t Update Build Options.	_ 🗆 🗙
Information	2		
Processing	Business Key Columns	code	
Source	Parameters		
	Include Initial Load Insert	False	×
	Batch Processing		
	Process by Batch	False	×
	Delete Processing		
	Delete Before Insert	No	×
	▲ Update Processing		
	Process Method	Insert/Update	~
	Insert Method		
	 Include Insert Statement 	True	~
	▲ Insert New Rows Only	True	~
	New Row Identification Method	Except	~
	Insert Hint	TABLOCK	
	Update Method		
	Include Update Statement	True	~
	Update Changed Rows Only	True	~
	Change Row Identification Method	Except	~
	Update Hint	TABLOCK	
	Business Key Columns Columns that define the business key for upo	date processing. Required if include Update options.	
Prev Next			OK Cancel Help

- **9** Data should now be loaded into the ds_product table. Refresh the Data Warehouse in the right pane (F5).
- **10** Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Back	kup Jo	obs Doc Rep	orts Validate T	ools Window	/ Help		
🗄 📄 🙏 🖒 😤 🤣 Web Links 👻	0 🔉	🛛 🚊 🕓 Schee	luler 🥜 🕶 🥔 🤊	- 📮 🛛 😿 🔍 a	🌢 Import 📑 👿 🧯	🛛 🌾 📮 🤅 🖇 Reports	 ✓ Ø ²
Builder 🕓 Scheduler							•
Development 👻 🕂 🗙	ds_pr	oduct Columns				4	DataWarehouse 🗸 🖣 🗙
🔺 🛅 All Objects 🔷	Colum	n Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column	an N 🖬 🦉 🛛 🕱 🚍
Connection	🗱 co	de	code	numeric(6)	load_product	code	
4 🚞 Load Table	🗱 de	scription	description	varchar(64)	load_product	description	70
load_customer	🗱 pr	od_line	prod line	varchar(24)	load_product	prod_line	🔺 🧻 dbo
🚞 load_order_header	🗱 pr	od_group	prod group	varchar(24)	load_product	prod_group	dim_customer
load_order_line	🗱 su	bgroup	subgroup	varchar(24)	load_product	subgroup	dim_date
load_product	🗱 ds	s_update_time	dss update time	datetime		dss_update_time	dim_order_date
a 💔 Stage Table							dim_biodate
辩 stage_sales_detail							ds product
a 🗱 Data Store							<pre>dss_current_day_details</pre>
🗱 ds_product							dss_fact_table
T Normalized							dss_parameter
Dimension							dss_source_system
😽 dim_customer							Tact_sales_detail
😽 dim_date							load order header
😽 dim_product			_			,	load_order_line
😽 dss_fact_table	Resul	ts				▼ ₽ ×	load_product
dss_source_system	🕒 Ob	ect	Message			^	, 🎹 stage_sales_detail
A X Dimension View		ds product	EXECUTE sp. ad	dextendedprop	erty N'Comment' N'	Date and time the row	
a dim_order_date	0		was updated in	the data wareho	ouse.' , N'user' , N'db	o', N'table'	
a dim_snip_date	-		,'ds_product', N'column', N'dss_update_time';				
▲ X Fact Table	0	 ds_product 	Create indexes	on Data Store da	o.ds_product compl	eted successfully.	
	_	ds product	CREATE UNIOU	E NONCLUSTER	ED INDEX ds produc	t idx A ON	
Mygregate	2		dbo.ds_product	(code) WITH (SORT_IN_TEMPDB =	OFF);	
 Olap Cube 	0	 ds_product 	Procedure Com	pleted			
Olap Dimension	0	ds_product	1 ds_product u	pdated. 9 record	ls added. 0 records u	pdated. 🗸	
< >>	Result	s Reports					Data Warehouse Source Browser

11 Repeat the exercise for order_line, order_header and customer.

TUTORIAL 2 ROLLUP FACT TABLES, ASCII FILE LOADS, AGGREGATES

Before you start on this chapter you should have:

- Completed *Tutorial 1 Basic Star Schema Fact Table* (see "*Basic Star Schema Fact Table*" on page 1)
- Successfully completed *Creating a Fact Table* (see "1.12 *Creating a Fact Table*" on page 58)

This chapter deals with fine tuning the data warehouse by creating roll-up fact tables and aggregates. It also includes loading an ascii file into a new load table.

IN THIS TUTORIAL

2.1 Purpose and Roadmap	74
2.2 Creating a Connection to Windows	77
2.3 Loading Tables from Flat Files	81
2.4 Creating Stage Tables	87
2.5 Creating Fact Tables	89
2.6 Rollup/Combined Fact Table	91
2.7 Aggregate Tables	95
2.8 Creating a Customer Aggregate	98

2.1 PURPOSE AND ROADMAP

Purpose

This tutorial will walk you through the process to:

- Load data from flat files (in Tutorial 1 source data was obtained via database links)
- Create a rollup fact table that allows users to see budgeted, forecast, and actual sales amounts and quantities broken down by customer, product and month
- Create separate aggregate tables that summarize data in the rollup table by (i) product and (ii) customer

In short, this tutorial loads budget and forecast data from flat files into their own load, stage and fact tables. This data is then combined with data from the fact_sales_detail table (created in Tutorial 1) and summarized to create a new rollup fact table, fact_sales_analysis. Further summarization is done on the rollup table to create two separate aggregate tables. The following are diagrams showing (i) the rollup table, fact_sales_analysis and (ii) the customer aggregate table, agg_sa_customer that will be created as part of this tutorial.

Rollup fact_sales_analysis:



Aggregate **agg_sa_customer**:

File View Tools Window Help	
!□ ≫ ▷ ≤ ≠ ❷ 월 ❷ • 嘉 徴 ∅ ● 鼎 ☆ ∅ ● 鼎 ☆	
Builder 🗴 Scheduler 📑 Diagram 🗙	-
	<u></u>
dim_ship_date	
agg sa customer	
dim_customer	
	~
	>

Tutorial Environment

This tutorial has been completed using IBM DB2. All of the features illustrated in this tutorial are available in SQL Server, Oracle and DB2 (unless otherwise stated). Any differences in usage of WhereScape RED between these databases are highlighted.

Tutorial Roadmap

This tutorial works through a number of steps. These steps and the relevant section within the chapter are summarized below to assist in guiding you through the tutorial.

Step in Tutorial	Section
Create a new connection to allow data to be loaded in from flat files on C: drive.	Making a Connection to Windows

Stop in Tutorial	Socian
Create (and load) the data for	Loading Tables from Flat Files
 load_budget load_foregast 	
• Total_Torecast	
Create the following stage tables	Creating Stage Tables
 stage_budget stage_foregast 	
• Stage_Infectst	
corresponding load tables and including links	
to the following dimensions: (dim_customer,	
dim_product, dim_date)	
Create the following fact tables	Creating Fact Tables
• fact_budget	
• fact_forecast	
Create the rollup fact table, fact_sales_analysis	Rollup/Snapshot Fact Tables
This rollup combines forecast, budget and	
sales data from fact_budget, fact_forecast and	
fact_sales_detail tables respectively. The data	
and month. Note that dimension keys are used	
for the rollup.	
Create product aggregate (agg_sa_product)	Aggregate Tables
table.	
This aggregate summarizes fact_sales_analysis	
data by product	
Create customer aggregate (agg_sa_customer) table.	Creating a Customer Aggregate
This aggregate summarizes fact_sales_analysis	
uata by customer.	

This tutorial starts with the section *Making a Connection to Windows* (see "*2.2 Creating a Connection to Windows*" on page 77).

2.2 CREATING A CONNECTION TO WINDOWS

This follows a similar process to the earlier *connections* (see "*1.6 Creating a Connection*" on page 14) made, but differs in that the connection is within the computer.

Note: The following connection should have been automatically created. It should however be validated to ensure that it is correct for the environment.

- **1** Log on to WhereScape RED.
- 2 In the left pane, double-click on the **Connection** object group.
- 3 Select File | New, or right-click the Connection object and select New Object.
- 4 Enter Windows in the 'Name of Object' text box and select Add.
- **5** Enter the Connection properties as below:

Field	Description
Connection Name	Windows
Connection Type	Windows
Host Name	Not required
Work Directory	Required. Must be an existing valid directory on the PC, e.g, c:\temp
Database id (SID)	For Oracle, the appropriate SID for your metadata installation, e.g. ORCL. For SQL Server and DB2 leave this field blank.
Database home directory	This is only required for Oracle and if the Database SID is in a non-default directory
Windows User ID	Leave blank
Windows Password	Leave blank
Dss User ID	For Oracle, this is the data warehouse username. This is the database logon for SQL Server and DB2. It should be dbo if a trusted connection is being used for SQL Server. If an OS authenticated user is being used for DB2 this should be left blank.
Dss password	For Oracle, this is the data warehouse password. This is the database password for SQL Server and DB2. It should be left blank if a trusted connection is being used for SQL Server or if an OS authenticated user is being used for DB2.

Sample SQL Server Properties

	Connection Windows	
Properties		
Notes		_
	General Window	
	Connection Name windows	
	A Windows	~
	Windows Host Name	
	Work Disctory ciltare	
	Work Directory Citemp	-
	Database ID	
	4 Credentials	•••
	Windows User ID	
	Windows User Password	
	DSS User ID dbo	
	DSS User Password	
	⊿ Other	
	Data Type Mapping Set (Default)	\mathbf{v}
	Connection Name Name used to label the connection within WhereScape RED.	

Sample Oracle Properties:

٥		Connection Windows	
Properties			
Notes	▲ General		
	Connection Name	Windows	
	Connection Type	Windows	×
	Windows Host		
	Windows Host Name		
	Work Directory	c:\temp	
	Database ID	dssdemo	
	Database Server/Home Directory		
	Credentials		
	Windows User ID		
	Windows User Password		
	DSS User ID	dssdemo	
	DSS User Password	***	
	▲ Other		
	Data Type Mapping Set	(Default)	¥
	Connection Name Name used to label the connection wit	hin WhereScape RED.	
L			OK Cancel Help

Sample DB2 Properties:

1	С	onnection Windows	
Properties	I Ai		
Notes	2*		
	d General	14/2 1	
		Windows	
	Connection Type	Windows	×
	Windows Host		
	Windows Host Name		
	Work Directory	c:\temp	
	Database ID		
	Candontials		····
	Credentials		
	Windows User ID		
	Windows User Password	des desse a	
	DSS User ID	dssdemo	
	DSS User Password		
	Deta Turca Manarina Set	(D-f-ult)	
	Comparing Marga		
	Connection Name Name used to label the connection with	in WhereScape RED.	
			OK Cancel Help

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Loading Tables from Flat files* (see "2.3 *Loading Tables from Flat Files*" on page 81).

2.3 LOADING TABLES FROM FLAT FILES

In this step you will parse and load a file from Windows into a load table in the data warehouse.

- 1 Double-click on the **Load Table** object group in the left pane. This will list all load tables in the middle pane and make the middle pane a drop target for new load tables.
- **2** Browse to the Windows connection in the right pane by selecting **Browse** | **Source Tables** from the menu strip at the top of the screen.
- 3 Select Windows as the Connection. Leave the Schema field blank. Click OK.

	List Source Tables Connection	_
onnection:	Windows	~
ser ID:		
assword:		
Filter		
Schema:		
Name:	(None)	*
	Object Types	
	✓ Tables ✓ Views System Objects	
Group:	(All)	~
Project:	(All)	~
ata Type Mappir	ng Set: (Default)	*
Refresh Current	ΟΚ	Cancel

- 4 In 32 bit systems navigate to c:\Program Files\WhereScape\Tutorial folder, click on **budget.txt** and drag it into the middle pane.
- 5 For 64 bit systems, navigate to **c:\Program Files (x86)\WhereScape\Tutorial** instead.

The path above may be different if WhereScape has not been installed in the default location.



6 Accept **load_budget** as the object name and click **ADD**.

	Add a New Metadata Object	×
Define the Type	and Name of the New Object.	
Specific informa	tion for each object type is defined in subsequent screen	S.
Object Type:	Load Table	*
Object Name:	load_budget	
	ADD Cancel	

Specifying the load type

You must now specify the type of load you require from the four options given:

- File load (single data column)
- File load (columns parsed)
- Script load (single data column)
- Script load (columns parsed)

For more information on load types see the section on flat file loads in the loading data chapter.

1 For this tutorial select **Script load (columns parsed).**

ired
File load (single data column)
File load (columns parsed)
Script load (single data column)
Script load (columns parsed)

Note: For DB2, file loads are not available in this dialog.

2 From the data load wizard enter a comma (,) in the Column Delimiter field. As the first row is a header, place a **check** in the box and click **OK**.

		Data load	Wizard		2
First Rows from the File					0
product_code.custome 1002,228,185,409,92,0 1008,228,80,978,58,02 1003,227,62,572,42,30 1007,227,98,766,17,30 1004,226,40,218,00,05 1009,225,74,940,24,04 1002,225,74,163,97,04 1006,225,40,618,00,04 1007,225,74,402,54,04 1003,224,15,134,85,15 1008,224,15,134,85,15 1001,224,15,159,50,15 1001,223,74,812,46,13 1009,223,29,369,17,13	r_code,budget_ 2-JUN-2010 2-JUN-2010 3-APR-2011 3-APR-2011 5-NOV-2011 4-APR-2012 4-APR-2012 4-APR-2012 4-APR-2012 5-NOV-2011 5-NOV-2011 5-NOV-2011 5-NOV-2010 3-AUG-2010 3-AUG-2010	quantity,budget_sales_valu	e,budget_date		~
Column Delimiter: First Bow is a Header:		No Column delimiter will init CHAR(nn) inserts an ASCII	iate width based parsin character (e.g. CHAR(g 9) = tab)	Decimal Code
Record Delimiter:		If no record delimiter is spe For a fixed width record er	ecified a newline or carr ater FIX nnn where nnn	iage return, newline is a is the record width	assumed.
				OK	Cancel

3 WhereScape RED uses the header row as suggested column names. For each following column confirm the **name** and **data type**. You may have to change it to a more appropriate value. Click **Add**.

		Data load Wizard - Column Definition	×
Column Data:		File	
product_code 1002 1008 1003 1007 1004 1006 1009 1002 1006 1007 1006 1007 1004 1003	~	product_code,customer_code,budget_quantity,budget_sales_value,budget_date 1002,228,185,409,92,023/UN-2010 1008,228,80,978,58,023/UN-2010 1003,227,62,572,42,30APR-2011 1007,227,98,766,17,30APR-2011 1004,226,40,218,00,05-NOV-2011 1006,226,40,618,00,05-NOV-2011 1009,225,74,400,24,04APR-2012 1002,225,74,163,97,04APR-2012 1006,225,40,618,00,04APR-2012 1007,225,98,766,17,04APR-2012 1004,225,74,402,54,04APR-2012 1004,225,74,402,54,04APR-2012 1003,224,15,134,85,15-NOV-2011 1008,224,15,134,85,15-NOV-2011	<
		Display decimal character values	0
Column Name:	product_code		
Business Display Name:	product code		
Data Type:	integer	V Vulls	
Conversion:			¥
Business Definition:			^
			~
		Back Add Cane	el

- 4 Click **OK** on the load_budget **Properties** dialog.
- 5 Click **OK** for the DB2 Load cannot skip header rows dialog.
- 6 Click **OK** on the **New script created** dialog.
- 7 Select Yes on the prompt to create and load the table now.Note: Loading files with a header row into DB2 will result in an error message.
- 8 Repeat steps (1) to (9) for the **forecast.txt** file to create and load the table load_forecast.

9 Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Bac	kup Jobs Doc Reports	Validate Tools	Window Help	5			
🗄 🗋 🙏 🖒 😤 🤣 Web Links 🗸	🥝 🔓 📑 🙆 Scheduler	🛹 + 🛷 + 🖕 []	🍞 🔍 🌛 Impo	rt 📕 🕱 🕼 🌾	📮 🗄 🖟 Reports	- #	++ ∓
📑 Builder 💧 Scheduler 🛛 📑 Dia	agram						÷
Development - 4 ×	Load Table Columns				*	Windows 👻 🕂	
All Objects	Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column	/2 🗂 👪 🚘 🥺 😛 💥 😣 🂳	
Connection	product_code	product code	integer	forecast.txt	COL1		
🔺 🚞 Load Table	a customer_code	customer code	integer	forecast.txt	COL2	70	
load_budget	forecast_quantity	forecast quanti	integer	forecast.txt	COL3	4 📂 WhereScape_67101	~
load_customer	forecast_sales_value	forecast sales v	numeric(13,2)	forecast.txt	COL4	Administrator	
load_forecast	forecast_date	forecast date	datetime	forecast.txt	COL5	Application	
load_order_header						DocImages	
load_order_line						Oracle	
load_product						📂 Teradata	
👂 🙀 Stage Table						4 📂 Tutorial	
Data Store						budget.trg	
Normalized						budget.txt	
Dimension						forecast tyt	
Dimension View						AddFlow4.ocx	
Fact Table						adm.chm	1
Aggregate						adm.exe	1
View						adm_logo.bmp	1
						dba.chm	1
						apa.exe	1
Export	<				>	license readme.rtf	
Host Script		_				med.chm	
	Results				▼	med.exe	
Betro	Object Message				^	medtera.chm	
incuro i	🕥 🗕 load (18 rows af	fected)				Microsoft. AnalysisSer	
	🖉 🗕 load					Microsoft.VC90.CR1.r	
						msvcn90.dl	
	🥥 – IOdu					msvcr110.dll	
	🥶 – load 0					msvcr90.dll	
	ioad					prnFlow2.ocx	
	🎯 🗘 load (1 rows affe	ected)				RED Tutorials.chm	
						red splash example.t	Ť
	Results Reports				·	Data Warehouse Source Browser	

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Creating Stage Tables* (see "*2.4 Creating Stage Tables*" on page 87).

2.4 CREATING STAGE TABLES

Two separate stage tables need to be created for **load_budget** and **load_forecast**. This is the same as the procedure from the first tutorial for *Defining the Staging Table* (see "*1.10 Defining the Staging Table*" on page 45).

- 1 Double-click the **stage table** object group in the left pane. This will list the existing stage table in the middle pane.
- 2 Browse to the data warehouse **Browse/Source Tables** or click on the orange glasses in the toolbar.
- **3** Drag the table **load_budget** from the right pane to the middle pane and drop.
- 4 Click ADD to add the stage table called stage_budget.
- **5** Click **OK** on the Properties dialog.
- 6 Now bring in the following keys from the right pane into the new table. Click the stage table name in the left pane to list the stage table columns in the middle pane; this also makes the middle pane a drop target for new columns:
 - dim_customer_key
 - dim_product_key
 - dim_date_key
- 7 Now in the left pane, right-click on **stage_budget** and select **Create (ReCreate)**.
- 8 In the left pane, right-click on **stage_budget** and select **Properties**. In the Update Procedure field select (**Build Procedure...**). Click **OK**.
- **9** Select **Cursor** as the update procedure type.
- **10** Click **OK** on the Parameters dialog.
- **11** SQL Server data warehouse users will now see an additional join screen. This screen is presented even though no joins are required. This screen allows the selection of either a 'Where' based join or an ANSI standard join. The default will be ANSI standard join. Click **OK** to proceed.
- **12** Select the dimension keys:
 - dim_customer customer code
 - dim_product product code
 - dim_date budget/forecast date (depending on which stage table you are working on).
 - Click > then **OK** for each one.
- 13 Now define the business keys. Add customer_code, product_code, and budget/forecast_date to the business key list, and click OK.
- 14 Right-click on the stage table in the left pane, and select **Execute Update Procedure**.
- **15** Repeat steps (1) to (14) to create stage table **stage_forecast** from **load_forecast**.
- **16** Refresh the Data Warehouse in the right pane (F5).

17 Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Bac	kup Jobs Doc Repo	rts Validate Tools	Window H	elp		
🗄 📄 🛛 🙏 🖒 🛸 🖉 🖉 Web Links 👻	🥝 \mid 🔒 🛛 🕹 Schedu	ıler 🥔 🕶 📮	i 🍞 🔍 🌛 Imj	port 📕 👿 💋	🗱 📮 🤅 🖗 Reports	- <i>#</i> ;
📑 Builder 💧 Scheduler 🛛 📑 Dia	agram					
Development – I ×	stage_forecast Columns				4	DataWarehouse 👻 🕂 🗙
All Objects	Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column	2 T 3 E 4 2 7 9 T
Connection	辩 dim_customer_key	dim customer key	integer	dim_customer	dim_customer_key	
🔺 🚞 Load Table	辩 dim_product_key	dim product key	integer	dim_product	dim_product_key	70
load_budget	辩 dim_date_key	dim time key	integer	dim_date	dim_date_key	🔺 🧻 dbo
load_customer	😻 product_code	product code	integer	load_forecast	product_code	III dim_customer
load_forecast	辩 customer_code	customer code	integer	load_forecast	customer_code	dim_date
load_order_header	💔 forecast_quantity	forecast quantity	integer	load_forecast	forecast_quantity	dim_order_date
load_order_line	💔 forecast_sales_value	forecast sales value	numeric(13,2)	load_forecast	forecast_sales_value	T dim_ship_date
load_product	💔 forecast_date	forecast date	datetime	load_forecast	forecast_date	III ds_customer
▲ Stage Table	💔 dss_update_time	dss update time	datetime		dss_update_time	<pre>m ds_order_header</pre>
stage_budget						ds_order_line
stage_forecast						ds_product
Stage_sales_detail						dss_fact_table
						🗊 dss_parameter
						<pre>dss_source_system</pre>
Dimension View						<pre>fact_sales_detail</pre>
Fact Table						load_budget
a Aggregate						load_customer
🐭 View						Toad_order_header
Glap Cube	<				>	load_order_line
🧃 Olap Dimension	Doculto				- 1 X	I load_product
🛓 Export					· · · ·	stage_sales_detail
Procedure	Object Messa	ge	-		^	
Host Script	🮯 🖃 stage_f Create	of Stage Table dbo.sta	age_forecast com	pleted successful	ly.	
> 📁 Index	🎯 🗉 stage_b Proced	lure update_stage_bud	lget rebuilt and	recompiled.		
Retro	🎯 표 stage_b Proced	lure Completed				
	🎯 🕀 stage_f Proced	lure update_stage_fore	cast rebuilt and	recompiled.		
	🞯 🖃 stage f Proced	lure Completed				
	☑ L stag 1 stage	e_forecast updated. 18	new records. 0 r	ecords updated.		
					~	
	Results Reports					Data Warehouse Source Browser

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Creating Fact Tables* (see "2.5 *Creating Fact Tables*" on page 89) for these two new stage tables.

2.5 CREATING FACT TABLES

- 1 Double-click on the **Fact Table object group** in the left pane.
- 2 Click and drag **stage_budget** into the middle pane. Accept the name **fact_budget** and click **ADD**.
- 3 Select (Build Procedure...) from the update procedure drop-down list and click OK.
- 4 Click Create and Load when asked if you wish to create and load the table now.
- **5** Select the Business Key definitions. Add **customer_code**, **product_code**, and **budget_date** and click **OK**.

Defin	ne Fact Business Key Columns	×
Column List: budget_quantity budget_sales_value dim_customer_key dim_date_key dim_product_key	Select the business keys that uniquely identify each record in the Fact table. Move them over to the Business key list. NOTE: Set based updates can only be selected if no business keys are defined. Business Key List: customer_code product_code budget_date	
	Set Based Insert Allow Where Clause Editing Group By Dimension Keys Include Delete Before Insert Insert Hint: TABLOCK (e.g. T/ Update Hint: (e.g. T/	ABLOCK) ABLOCK)
	OK C	ancel

- 6 Repeat steps (1) to (5) on **stage_forecast** to create **fact_forecast** (with a business key of **customer_code**, **product_code**, and **forecast_date**).
- **7** Refresh the Data Warehouse in the right pane (F5).

8 Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Bac	kup Jobs Doc Repor	ts Validate Tool	ls Window H	lelp		
🗄 🗋 🛛 🚲 👘 📇 🖉 Web Links 👻	🥝 \mid 🚊 🛛 🚑 🖄 Schedul	ler 🧈 + 🛷 + 🖕	🗄 🍞 🔍 🌛 Im	iport 📕 👿 💕	🌾 🖕 🤅 🖗 Reports	- # 7
🔡 Builder 💧 Scheduler 🛛 📮 Dia	igram					
Development – 🛛 ×	fact_forecast Columns				14	DataWarehouse 🗸 🕂 🗙
All Objects	Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column	2 n N 📾 💀 🛠 🛪 📼
Connection	🎉 dim_customer_key	dim customer	integer	dim_customer	dim_customer_key	
Load Table	🎉 dim_product_key	dim product key	integer	dim_product	dim_product_key	7 🕜
load_budget	🎉 dim_date_key	dim time key	integer	dim_date	dim_date_key	🔺 可 dbo
load_customer	💢 product_code	product code	integer	stage_forecast	product_code	dim_customer
load_forecast	🎉 customer_code	customer code	integer	stage_forecast	customer_code	dim_date
load_order_header	🎉 forecast_quantity	forecast quanti	integer	stage_forecast	forecast_quantity	dim_order_date
load_order_line	🎉 forecast_sales_value	forecast sales v	numeric(13,2)	stage_forecast	forecast_sales_value	T dim ship date
load_product	🎉 forecast_date	forecast date	datetime	stage_forecast	forecast_date	ds_customer
a 💔 Stage Table	🎉 dss_update_time	dss update time	datetime		dss_update_time	T ds_order_header
🐅 stage_budget						Ⅲ ds_order_line
🐏 stage_forecast						ds_product
ve stage_sales_detail						dss_current_day_details
Data Store						dss_ract_able
Normalized						dss_source_system
> S Dimension						T fact_budget
Dimension view						<pre>I fact_forecast</pre>
A Cast hudeot						<pre>fact_sales_detail</pre>
Fact_Dudget						load_budget
fact_lorecast	<				>	and forecast
						load order header
Wiew	Results				<u>≁</u> ‡ ×	T load_order_line
🖂 Olap Cube	🕒 Object	Message			^	I load_product
Olap Dimension Export	act_forecast	CREATE NONCLUS (dim_date_key) W	STERED INDEX fa ITH (SORT_IN_TE	ct_forecast_idx_3 C MPDB = OFF);	N dbo.fact_forecast	stage_budget
Procedure	fact_forecast	CREATE UNIQUE N	ONCLUSTERED	NDEX fact_foreca	st_idx_A ON	iii stage_sales_detai
Host Script	✓ -	dbo.fact_forecast (SORT_IN_TEMPDE	(customer_code, B = OFF);	product_code,fore	ecast_date) WITH	
Retro		Procedure Comple	eted			
	🎯 📙 fact_forecast	1 fact_forecast up	dated. 18 new re	cords. 0 records up	odated.	
					~	
	Results Reports					Data Warehouse Source Browser

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Rollup/Snapshot Fact Table* (see "2.6 *Rollup/Combined Fact Table*" on page 91)

2.6 ROLLUP/COMBINED FACT TABLE

A rollup table enables the viewing and combining of different levels of granularity in the data, such as sales, budget and forecast detail. The result is that the end user can compare, for example, sales against budget against forecast on a monthly basis.

- 1 Double-click on the **Fact Table object group** in the left pane.
- 2 Click and drag **fact_sales_detail** to the middle pane, and change the new object name to **fact_sales_analysis**.

Note: Do not make any changes to the table definition and click **Close** when asked if you want to create and load the table now.

- **3** Because this level of granularity is no longer required, *delete* the following columns:
 - customer_code
 - product_code
 - order_date
 - ship_date
 - dim_order_date_key
 - unit_sale_price
 - order_number
 - order_line_no

Note: A new column has appeared - dss_fact_table_key. This is used to identify which fact table has populated a row in the rollup fact table and should not be removed. The dss_update_time field must also be present to record the time that the record was updated in the data warehouse

- 4 In the left pane click the **fact_sales_analysis** table. In the right pane open fact_budget and drag **budget_quantity** and **budget_sales_value** into the middle pane (within fact_sales_analysis).
- **5** In the right pane open fact_forecast and drag **forecast_quantity** and **forecast_sales_value** into the middle pane (within fact_sales_analysis).
- 6 In the left pane, right-click on **fact_sales_analysis** and select **Create (ReCreate)**.
- 7 In the left pane, again right-click on **fact_sales_analysis** and select **Properties**. In the Update Procedure field select (**Build Procedure...**) and then click **OK**.
- 8 Rollup tables are rolled up via a dimensional hierarchy. You will be given the opportunity to specify what to roll up on. From the dialog "Define rollup date dimension and column" select the following then click **OK**.
 - Date dimension **dim_ship_date**
 - Rollup column **ship_cal_month**:

Define Rollup date di	mension and column
Identify the Date dimension that will be us Then select the column that this fact table	ed as the basis for the rollup. e rolls up to (e.g. Cal_Month)
If no date rollup is required. Select the dat	e dimension key as the rollup column.
Date Dimension	Rollup Column
dim_ship_date 🗸 🗸	ship_cal_month 🗸 🗸 🗸
	OK Cancel
	OK

9 Now select the date dimension for each of the detail tables. For fact_sales_detail, choose **dim_ship_date_key** and click **OK**.

Define rollup date dimens	sion and column
Fact: fact_sales_detail Select the date dimension key to be used for the	rollup of this fact table
Date dimension Key	
dim_ship_date_key	¥
	OK Cancel

10 For fact_budget choose **dim_date_key** and click **OK**:

Define rollup date dimens	sion and column
Fact: fact_budget Select the date dimension key to be used for the	rollup of this fact table
Date dimension Key	
dim_date_key	¥
	OK Cancel

- **11** Finally for fact forecast again choose **dim_date_key** and click **OK**. This is required so WhereScape RED knows which dimension to use to rollup each of these detail fact tables.
- **12** Populate the fact rollup table by right-clicking on **fact_sales_analysis** and choosing **Execute Update Procedure**.
- **13** Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Bac	kup Jobs Doc Repo	ts Validate To	ols Window	Help		
🗄 📄 🙏 🖒 📇 🤣 Web Links 👻	🥝 🔒 🛛 🚑 🛛 🕓 Schedu	ler 🛛 🥪 🔹 🖓 🕶	- i 🕫 🔍 🌲 i	mport 📑 👿 😥	🗱 📮 🗄 😼 Reports	 - ∅ -
🚟 Builder 💧 Scheduler 🛛 💻 Dia	gram					-
Development - I ×	fact_sales_analysis Colur	nns			4	DataWarehouse - 🕈 🗸
 All Objects Connection Incode Table 	Column Name dim_customer_key dim_product_key	Display Name dim customer dim product key	Data Type integer integer	Source Table dim_customer dim_product	Source Column dim_customer_key dim_product_key	
 load_budget load_customer load_forecast load_order_line load_order_line load_product Isage_trader stage_trader stage_forecast stage_sales_detail It Data Store Data Store Normalized Stimension Dimension New Dimension New 	 dim_ship_date_key quantity sales_value budget_quantity budget_sales_value forecast_quantity forecast_guantity forecast_sales_value forecast_sales_value fact_table_key dss_update_time 	dim ship date quantity sales value budget quantity budget sales v forecast quanti forecast sales v tax dss fact table k dss update time	integer numeric(8) numeric(13,2) integer numeric(13,2) integer numeric(13,2) numeric(9,2) integer datetime	dim_ship_date fact_sales_detail fact_sales_detail fact_budget fact_budget fact_forecast fact_sales_detail dss_fact_table	dim_ship_date_key quantity sales_value budget_quantity budget_sales_value forecast_quantity forecast_sales_value tax dss_fact_table_key dss_update_time	bo dm_customer dim_date dim_order_date dim_order_date dim_order_date dim_order_date ds_customer ds_order_header ds_order_header ds_order_header ds_order_lea ds_order_lea ds_order_table dss_ourent_day_details dss_fact_table dss_source_system fact_forecast
 ✓ Fact Table ✓ Fact Table ✓ fact_budget ✓ fact_orecast ✓ fact_sales_analysis ✓ fact_sales_detail ✓ Aggregate ✓ View ✓ Olap Cube ✓ Olap Dimension ✓ Export > A Procedure > Host Script > Index ✓ Retro 		Message 1 fact_sales_ 20011101. De 20011101. Ins 20011101. Ins 1 fact_sales_ 20020401. De 1 fact_sales_ 20020401. Ins	analysis (fact_fo leted 0 rows. analysis (fact_foi erted 5 rows. analysis (fact_foi leted 0 rows. analysis (fact_foi erted 5 rows.	recast) data deleted recast) data inserted recast) data deleted recast) data inserted	For date key for date key for date key for date key	iii dim_product_key (int, not iii dim_drate_key (int, not iii dim_drate_key (int, not nul iii product_code (int, nul) iii customer_code (int, nul) iii forecast_guantity (int, nul) iii forecast_guantity (int, nul) iii forecast_guantity (int, nul) dos_update_time (datetime, i fact_sales_detail load_customer load_order_ineader load_order_ine load_order_in

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Aggregate Tables* (see "2.7 *Aggregate Tables*" on page 95)

2.7 AGGREGATE TABLES

Aggregate tables are used to improve performance. They provide a subset of the main fact table which the end user tools can navigate for a faster query time. An aggregate is typically created by the deletion of items that don't make sense when summarized and by deleting one or more of the dimension keys.

- TIP: It is common practice to create two or more aggregate tables for large fact tables.

- **1** Double-click on the **Aggregate object group** in the left pane. Refresh the Data Warehouse source table in the right pane (F5).
- 2 From the right pane drag **fact_sales_analysis** into the middle pane, changing the name to **agg_sa_product**. Click **ADD**.

	Add a New Metadata Object	×
Define the Type	and Name of the New Object.	
Specific informati	on for each object type is defined in subsequent screen:	s.
Object Type:	Aggregate	*
Object Name:	agg_sa_product	
	ADD Cancel	

- 3 Click **OK** on the **Properties** dialog.
- 4 Click **Close** on the **Create Database Table** dialog.
- 5 Delete **dss_fact_table_key** so that data can be summarized from various source fact tables. Also delete **dim_customer_key** and **dss_update_time**.
- **6** Create the aggregate table.
- 7 In the left pane right-click **agg_sa_product** and select **Properties**. Select **(Build Procedure...)** in the Update Procedure field and click **OK** on the Properties screen.
- 8 Select dim_ship_date_key as the date dimension key and click OK.

Define Date Dimer	ision Key	×
Aggregate: Select the date dimension key to be used for the This key must exist in both the aggregate and fac replace in the aggregate when there have been Date Dimension Key	updating of this aggregate tab It table and identifies what to Ichanges in the fact table.	le
<u>dim_ship_date_key</u>	OK Cance	:

- **9** Update the table.
- **10** Refresh the Data Warehouse in the right pane (F5).

11 Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Back	kup Jobs Doc Repo	rts Validate To	ols Window	Help		
🗄 🗋 😹 🖒 😤 🤣 Web Links 👻	🥝 🔒 🚑 🕓 Schedu	iler 🥜 🕶 🧀 🕶	🚽 🛛 😵 🍛	Import 📕 👿 🕼 🤅	🏁 🝦 🗄 🖇 Reports	- # 7
📑 Builder 🕓 Scheduler 💦 📑 Dia	gram					
Development - 7 ×	agg_sa_product Column	IS			45	DataWarehouse 👻 🖣 🗙
All Objects	Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column	an N = • • • • • =
Connection	🦸 dim_product_key	dim product key	integer	dim_product	dim_product_key	
🔺 🚋 Load Table	🧳 dim_ship_date_key	dim ship date	integer	dim_ship_date	dim_ship_date_key	7 🕜
load_budget	🧳 quantity	quantity	numeric(8)	fact_sales_analysis	quantity	🔺 🧻 dbo
load_customer	🧳 sales_value	sales value	numeric(13,2)	fact_sales_analysis	sales_value	<pre>agg_sa_product</pre>
load_forecast	🧳 budget_quantity	budget quantity	integer	fact_sales_analysis	budget_quantity	dim_customer
load_order_header	🧳 budget_sales_value	budget sales v	numeric(13,2)	fact_sales_analysis	budget_sales_value	iii dim_date
load_order_line	🧳 forecast_quantity	forecast quanti	integer	fact_sales_analysis	forecast_quantity	dim_order_date
load_product	🦸 forecast_sales_value	forecast sales v	numeric(13,2)	fact_sales_analysis	forecast_sales_value	T dim_ship_date
a 🙀 Stage Table	🭠 tax	tax	numeric(9,2)	fact_sales_analysis	tax	T ds_customer
辩 stage_budget						T ds_order_header
🐅 stage_forecast						ds_order_line
🐅 stage_sales_detail						des current day details
Data Store						dss_content_day_details
T Normalized						dss parameter
Dimension						<pre>dss_source_system</pre>
Dimension View						<pre>fact_budget</pre>
A 🏹 Fact Table						<pre>fact_forecast</pre>
a fact_budget						fact_sales_analysis
fact_forecast	<				>	Tact_sales_detail
a fact_sales_analysis		_			-	load customer
Tact_sales_detail	Results				~ ₽ ×	Toad_forecast
Aggregate	Object	Message			^	load_order_header
View	🕥 🗕 agg sa produ	ct Date: 2000	0801 Deleted: 0 li	nserted: 4.		Ioad_order_line
🚔 Olap Cube	ang sa produ	ct Date: 2001	0201 Deleted: 0 li	serted: 4		load_product
Olap Dimension		D	0201 D cicted. 0 ii	iscreed. 4.		stage_budget
Export	🥥 – agg_sa_produ	ct Date: 2001	0401 Deleted: 0 Ii	nserted: 2.		stage_lorecast
Procedure	🥝 – agg_sa_produ	ct Date: 2001	1101 Deleted: 0 li	nserted: 5.		
Host Script	🎯 🗕 agg_sa_produ	ct Date: 2002	0101 Deleted: 0 li	nserted: 1.		
Index	🎯 🖵 agg_sa_produ	ct Date: 2002	0401 Deleted: 0 li	nserted: 5.		
Retro						
_	Results Reports				Ť	Data Warehouse Source Browser

TIP: For Oracle data warehouses. If you receive an "insufficient privileges" notification in the Procedure Results, you need to grant the following privileges to the data warehouse user:

* Create materialized view

* Query rewrite

If you are unable to do this for any reason, contact your database administrator.

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - Creating a Customer Aggregate (see "2.8 Creating a Customer Aggregate" on page 98)

2.8 CREATING A CUSTOMER AGGREGATE

This aggregate uses an alternative process to that described in **Aggregate Tables**. For this process we will create a version of the product aggregate table's metadata and create a new aggregate from this version.

- 1 In the left pane, right-click on **agg_sa_product** and select **Version Control** / **New Version**.
- 2 The following screen displays. Enter a name for the new version and click **OK**.

	Version Definition		×
Create version for /	Aggregate agg_sa_product		
	Include Associated Procedures/Scripts		
Version Name or Short Description:	copy of agg_sa_product for Tutorial 2	<u>^</u>	
Detailed Description:		^	
		~	
Retain Until:	Monday , January 13, 2025 🚔	OK Cancel	
Version Name or Short Description: Detailed Description: Retain Until:	Copy of agg_sa_product for Tutorial 2	OK Cancel	

3 In the left pane, right-click on Aggregate and select New Object (from Version).

New Object
New Object (from Version)
Expand
New Group
New Project
Project Properties
Rename Project
Remove Project from Group
Delete Project
Copy Objects to Another Project
Paste Objects from Another Project
Project Object Maintainance

4 Double-click on the copy of **agg_sa_product** to select it.

	Create an Object From a Version	
)bject Type: Aggregate	¥	
Original Object Name	Description of Version	Versioned Date
🧳 agg_sa_product 💦 🖉	copy of agg_sa_product for Tutorial 2	2015-01-13 16:58:02.350
₽ agg_sa_product A	Auto version on create by wheres cape Documentation	2019-01-13 16:55:14.020
Click on the original object name of t	he version to be used as the basis of the create.	
Then change the object name if the	object still exists, and Create	
Then change the object name if the New Object Name:	object still exists, and Create agg_sa_product	

5 Change the name and short name to **agg_sa_customer**. Click **Create.**

	Create an Object From a Version	
Object Type: Aggregate	~	
Original Object Name	Description of Version	Versioned Date
<pre> # agg_sa_product # agg_sa_product</pre>	copy of agg_sa_product for Tutorial 2 Auto version on create by WhereScape Documentation	2015-01-13 16:58:02.350 2015-01-13 16:55:14.020
Click on the original object name of Then change the object name if the object name of th	of the version to be used as the basis of the create. ne object still exists, and Create	
Click on the original object name of Then change the object name if the New Object Name:	of the version to be used as the basis of the create. he object still exists, and Create agg_sa_product	

Note: Short names are used by WhereScape RED to derive names for associated objects (such as index, procedures, cursor, etc). The table short name is limited in size to 22 characters in Oracle and SQL Server and to twelve characters in DB2. It must be unique.

- 6 Select the new **agg_sa_customer** table in the left pane.
- 7 Delete the **dim_product_key** column, as this will be a customer and not a product based aggregate.
- 8 Browse to the Data Warehouse and from the **fact_sales_analysis** table, drag **dim_customer_key** into the middle pane.
- 9 In the left pane right-click **agg_sa_customer** and select **Create (ReCreate)**.
- **10** In the left pane right-click **agg_sa_customer** and select **Properties**. For the Update Procedure field select **(Build Procedure...)** and click **OK**.
- 11 Select dim_ship_date_key as the date dimension and click OK.
- **12** Right-click on the table in the left pane and select **Execute Update Procedure**.
- **13** Refresh the Data Warehouse in the right pane (F5).

14 Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Backup Jobs Doc Reports Validate Tools Window Help							
🗄 🗋 🙏 🐚 😤 🤣 Web Links 👻 🥝 🚊 🚑 🙆 Sch	eduler 🧀 🕶 🧀 🕶	📮 i 🌝 🔍 🄌	Import 📕 🕱 🕼 (🗶 🖕 🤅 🐉 Reports	▼ <i>#</i> ‡		
🔡 Builder 💧 Scheduler 📑 Diagram					•		
Development → ᡎ × agg_sa_customer Co	lumns			4	DataWarehouse 👻 무 ×		
All Objects Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column	an Ma 🛥 🖉 🛛 👷 💳		
Connection	y dim customer	integer	dim_customer	dim_customer_key			
a 🚞 Load Table 🧳 dim_ship_date_k	y dim ship date	integer	dim_ship_date	dim_ship_date_key	7 🐼		
🕋 load_budget 🧳 quantity	quantity	numeric(8)	fact_sales_analysis	quantity	🔺 🦲 dbo		
🚘 load_customer 🧳 sales_value	sales value	numeric(13,2)	fact_sales_analysis	sales_value	agg_sa_customer		
📷 load_forecast 🥏 budget_quantity	budget quantity	integer	fact_sales_analysis	budget_quantity	agg_sa_product		
朣 load_order_header 🛛 🧳 budget_sales_val	ie budget sales v	numeric(13,2)	fact_sales_analysis	budget_sales_value	iii dim_customer		
🕋 load_order_line 🧳 forecast_quantity	forecast quanti	integer	fact_sales_analysis	forecast_quantity	dim_dddc		
💼 load_product 🧳 forecast_sales_va	ue forecast sales v	numeric(13,2)	fact_sales_analysis	forecast_sales_value	dim_product		
🔺 ╈ Stage Table 🧳 tax	tax	numeric(9,2)	fact_sales_analysis	tax	🔟 dim_ship_date		
辩 stage_budget					ds_customer		
💔 stage_forecast					ds_order_header		
👾 stage_sales_detail					ds_order_line		
Bata Store					ds_current_day_details		
Normalized					dss_fact_table		
Dimension					dss_parameter		
Dimension View					<pre>dss_source_system</pre>		
A 🌉 Fact Table					fact_budget		
a fact_budget					fact_forecast		
a fact_forecast				>	fact_sales_enalysis		
act_sales_analysis				-	load budget		
Results				▼ ₽ ×	Toad_customer		
Aggregate () Object	Message			^	load_forecast		
agg_sa_customen	stomer Date: 2000	0801 Deleted: 0 lr	nserted: 1.		load_order_header		
View and sa cu	Jose						
A Olan Cube	1 D L 2001	OAO1 D L L L OI	1301000.2.		stage budget		
Olap Cable agg_sa_cu agg_sa_cu	stomer i Date: 2001	10401 Deleted: 0 Ii	nserted: 1.		stage_budget		
Export agg_sa_cu	🥝 🗕 agg_sa_customer Date: 20011101 Deleted: 0 Inserted: 2.						
Procedure agg_sa_cu	agg_sa_customer Date: 20020101 Deleted: 0 Inserted: 1.						
Host Script agg_sa_cu	stomer Date: 2002	0401 Deleted: 0 li	nserted: 1.		1 1		
> Dindex					1 1		
Retro Results Reports				•	Data Warehouse Source Browser		

TUTORIAL 3 SCHEDULING AND DEPENDENCIES

Before you start on this chapter you should have:

- Completed *Tutorial 1 Basic Star Schema Fact Table* (see "*Basic Star Schema Fact Table*" on page 1)
- Successfully completed *Creating a Fact Table* (see "1.12 *Creating a Fact Table*" on page 58)

This chapter deals with the scheduling of the data warehouse objects created in the first tutorial. We will cover the scheduling of a job and the editing of both the dependencies and the job.

IN THIS TUTORIAL

3.1 Purpose and Roadmap	103
3.2 Creating and Scheduling a Job	105
3.3 Adding Tasks	106
3.4 Task Dependencies	109
3.5 Editing a Scheduled Job	
3.6 Job Results	
3.7 Diagrammatic View for Jobs	114
3.1 PURPOSE AND ROADMAP

Purpose

The scheduler allows jobs (e.g. data loads and updates) to be run in background mode and/or at a pre-determined time.

In this tutorial you will learn (i) how to set-up jobs and their associated job tasks (ii) create task dependencies, and (iii) view job results.

This tutorial focuses on creating a job to update the fact_sales_detail star-schema created in Tutorial 1.

Tutorial Environment

This tutorial has been completed using Oracle. All of the features illustrated in this tutorial are available in SQL Server, Oracle and DB2 (unless otherwise stated). Any differences in usage of WhereScape RED between these databases are highlighted.

Tutorial Roadmap

Step in Tutorial	Section				
Create a new job for 'Daily Update'.	Creating and Scheduling a Job				
Add tasks to	Creating and Scheduling Tasks				
Load load_customer					
Load load_order_header					
Load load_order_line					
Load load_product					
Update dim_customer					
Update dim_date					
Update dim_product					
Update stage_sales_detail					
Update fact_sales_detail					
Analyze fact_sales_detail.					
Setup task dependencies so that an analyze of fact_sales_detail occurs after the table has been updated.	Task Dependencies				
Modify scheduling and runtime options (that is, edit the job properties).	Editing a Scheduled Job				
Check job results.	Job Results				

The tutorial starts with the *Creating and Scheduling a Job* (see "*3.2 Creating and Scheduling a Job*" on page 105) section.

3.2 CREATING AND SCHEDULING A JOB

To schedule a job click on the **Scheduler** button Scheduler. This will open the scheduler window. A new job can be initiated by selecting the **File/New Job** menu option. The new job dialog will appear.

1 Change the job name to **Daily Update** and enter in the **Description**.

		Job De	efinition			
Job Name:	Daily Update					
Description:	This job runs the daily data warehouse up	odate.				
Frequency:	Hold			Custor	n Settings	
Start Date:	× 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2015	1		Interv	val Between Jobs: (minutes)	0
	wednesday, January 14, 2015]		Start	At or After HHMM (e.g. 0800):	0000
Start Time:	2:03:00 PM			Do N	ot Start After HHMM (e.g. 1700):	0000
denimum Theoreday				Activ	ve Days: on Tue Wed Thu F	ri Sat Su
Maximum Frieaus.			_			
Scheduler:	Windows Unly		*			_
Dependent On:	Parent job	Fail	Look back (m	ninutes)	Maximum wait (minutes)	Add Parent .
						Remove Par
_ogs Retained:	0 This field lets you set the n	umber of lo	ogs that are reta	ined for t	his job before an automatic delete]
		totault activ	- ค์ไ		his job before an automatic delete	e and archive
The following two field Windows), The speci The Success comma	ds are optional. They are executed after the al variables \$JOB_KEY\$, \$JOB_SEQ\$ and nd will be executed if a successful completi	default action e job compl \$JOB_NA ion, the fail	on) letes and therefo .ME\$ can be use lure command w	ore need ed to retu vill be exe	to reflect the scheduler environm um the associated values. souted if a job fails to complete:	e and archive Ient. (i.e. Unix or
The following two fiel Windows). The speci The Success comma Success Command:	ds are optional. They are executed after the al variables \$JOB_KEY\$, \$JOB_SEQ\$ and nd will be executed if a successful completi	default action e job compl I \$JOB_NA ion, the fail	on) letes and therefi .ME\$ can be usi lure command w	ore need ed to retu vill be exe	Its reflect the scheduler environm In the associated values. scuted if a job fails to complete:	e and archive Ient. (i.e. Unix or
The following two fiel Windows). The speci The Success comma Success Command:	ds are optional. They are executed after the al variables \$JOB_KEY\$, \$JOB_SEQ\$ and nd will be executed if a successful completi	lefault action e job compl \$JOB_NA ion, the fail	on) letes and therefi ME\$ can be usi lure command w	ore need ed to retu vill be exe	to reflect the scheduler environm urn the associated values. acuted if a job fails to complete:	e and archive Ient. (i.e. Unix or
The following two fiel Windows). The speci The Success comma Success Command: Failure Command:	ds are optional. They are executed after the al variables \$JOB_KEY\$, \$JOB_SEQ\$ and nd will be executed if a successful completi	lefault actions in the second se	on) letes and therefo ME\$ can be use lure command w	ore need ed to retu vill be exe	Its reflect the scheduler environm im the associated values. souted if a job fails to complete:	e and archive lent. (i.e. Unix or
The following two fiel Windows). The speci The Success comma Success Command: Failure Command:	ds are optional. They are executed after the al variables \$JOB_KEY\$, \$JOB_SEQ\$ and nd will be executed if a successful completi	lefault action e job comp I \$JOB_NA ion, the fail	on) letes and therefo .ME\$ can be us lure command w	ore need ed to retu vill be exe	Its reflect the scheduler environm um the associated values. ecuted if a job fails to complete:	e and archive lent. (i.e. Unix or

2 Click OK.

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Adding Tasks* (see "*3.3 Adding Tasks*" on page 106)

3.3 ADDING TASKS

The task selection window contains an object tree in the left pane. Objects are selected from this tree and added to the scheduled list of tasks in the right pane.

Perform the following actions to schedule an update of our fact table and dimensions.

- 1 Open the object tree by double-clicking on the **All Objects** project in the left pane.
- 2 Double-click on the Load Table object group.
- **3** Double-click on **load_product**, **load_customer**, **load_order_line** and **load_order_header**. Note that as each object is double-clicked it is added to the right pane.
- 4 Double-click on the **Dimension** object group.
- **5** Double-click on **dim_customer**, **dim_date** and **dim_product**. As each object is double-clicked it is added to the right pane. We do not add the date views since they do not alter, only the underlying date dimension does.
- 6 Double-click on the **Stage Table** object group to expand it and then double-click on **stage_sales_detail** to add this object to the right pane.
- 7 Double-click on the Fact Table object group to expand it and then double-click on fact_sales_detail to add this object to the right pane.
- 8 Double-click again on **fact_sales_detail** to add a second copy of this object to the right pane.
- 9 Right-click on the second fact_sales_detail and select Analyze.

📄 load_cuştor	ner	Process	11.10
bio_beol 💼	Drop	ocess	12.10
📄 load_ord	Create	ocess	13.10
😽 dim_cusl	Truncate	ocess	14.10
😽 dim_date	Initial Build	ocess	15.10
😽 dim_proc		bcess	16.10
辩 stage_sa	Drop All Indexes	ocess	17.10
🎉 fact_sale	Pre Drop Indexes	ocess	18.10
K fact_sale	Load Custom Update Execute Process Build Indexes Build All Indexes Stats Quick Stats Analyze	DCess	19.10
	Quick Analyze		

- **10** The 'Order' column defines the basic dependencies of the tasks. If the two numbers are the same, then the tasks can run at the same time. In this example no tasks will run at the same time. The job will process the tasks sequentially.
- **11** Click the **Group Object Types** button. You will notice that the order number for tasks of the same type now have the same number. This will allow objects of the same type to run concurrently. (i.e. all the load tables can be processed at the same time if there are sufficient processing threads).

Define tasks for Daily Update							
Available Objects:		Job Tasks:					
Available Objects: All Objects Connection Connectio		Job Tasks: Object load_product load_order_line load_order_header dim_customer dim_date dim_product stage_sales_detail fact_sales_detail fact_sales_detail	Action Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Process Analyze	0rder 10.10 10.10 10.10 10.10 11.10 11.10 11.10 12.10 13.10 13.10			
Respace Order Group Object Types Ungroup All			OK	Cancel			

Your task selection window should now look like the following.

12 Notice that the tasks all have an action of Process with the exception of the last task which is set to **Analyze**.

The fact table fact_sales_detail has two actions. The first will process and update the table, the second will analyze the table. At present these two actions can run at the same time. They should however be sequential. We could alter the order of the second task by using the right-click menu option **Increase the Order**. This would be the normal method, but we will leave these two tasks with the same order and address the sequence of events in the next section.

13 Click **OK** to close.

You are now ready to proceed to the next step - *Task Dependencies* (see "*3.4 Task Dependencies*" on page 109).

3.4 TASK DEPENDENCIES

A scheduled job that is in a **Hold** or **Waiting** state can have its task dependencies altered. To alter the dependencies for our newly defined job proceed as follows:

- 1 Click on the **All Jobs** button in the toolbar to display our Daily Update job in the top pane.
- 2 Position over the job name **Daily Update** and using the right-click pop-up menu select **Edit Dependencies**. A list of the current task dependencies will be displayed. You will see that the final two dependencies are from stage_sales_detail to each of the fact table tasks.

Parent Task	Parent Action	Map	Child Task	Child Action
oad_product	Process	>	dim_customer	Process
load_product	Process	>	dim_date	Process
load_product	Process	->	dim_product	Process
load_customer	Process	>	dim_customer	Process
load_customer	Process	>	dim_date	Process
load_customer	Process	>	dim_product	Process
oad_order_line	Process	>	dim_customer	Process
load_order_line	Process	>	dim_date	Process
load_order_line	Process	>	dim_product	Process
load_order_header	Process	>	dim_customer	Process
load_order_header	Process	>	dim_date	Process
load_order_header	Process	>	dim_product	Process
dim_customer	Process	>	stage_sales_detail	Process
dim_date	Process	>	stage_sales_detail	Process
dim_product	Process	>	stage_sales_detail	Process
stage_sales_detail	Process	>	fact_sales_detail	Process
stage_sales_detail	Process	>	fact_sales_detail	Analyze

3 Right-click on the Parent task for the last dependency and select Modify Dependency.

load_order_h	eader	Process	>	dim_date	Process
load_order_h	eader	Process	>	dim_product	Process
dim_customer	,	Process	>	stage_sales_detail	Process
dim_date		Process	->	stage_sales_detail	Process
dim_product		Process	>	stage_sales_detail	Process
stage_sales_	Process	->	fact_sales_detail	Process	
stage_sale	datail	Process		fact_sales_detail	Analyze
	Add Dependency				
	Modify Dependency				
	<u>D</u> elete Dependency				

4 Change the Parent task from **stage_sales_detail (Process)** to **fact_sales_detail (Process)**. Click **OK** to record the change. An example of this change is shown in the screen shot below.

Task Dependency						
Enter the Parent and Child Dependency. The child	l task will not b	e actioned untill the parent has successfully completed	l.			
Parent: fact_sales_detail (Process)	>	Child: fact_sales_detail (Analyze)				
	-	0K Cancel	I			

- **5** Examine the new dependency list and see that the fact processing will now occur after the stage processing and the fact analyze will occur after the fact processing.
- 6 Close the **Dependencies** dialog.

We are now ready to release the job, which is done in the next section - *Editing a Scheduled Job* (see "*3.5 Editing a Scheduled Job*" on page 111).

3.5 EDITING A SCHEDULED JOB

Our job is now all set-up and ready to be released. We need to edit the job and change it from a held job to one that the scheduler can action. Proceed as follows:

- 1 Click on the **All Jobs** button in the toolbar. Our daily update job will be displayed in the top pane. Note that it is in an **On Hold** state.
- **2** Right-click on the job **Daily Update** and select **Edit Job**. The job definition screen will re-appear.
- **3** Change the **Frequency** to **Once and Hold**. This will result in the job being run and then a copy of the job being placed back in an 'On Hold' state so that it may be rescheduled for some future processing. Note that other options exist under Frequency including 'Daily', 'Custom' etc.
- 4 Change the **Start Time** to be 2 minutes from now.
- **5** Change the **Max Threads** counter to **2**. This will allow two tasks to run concurrently. This may not be a big help here, as the run should be very quick.

		Job De	efinition					×
Job Name:	Daily Update							
Description:	This job runs the daily data warehouse u	pdate.						^
Frequency:	Once and Hold 🗸 🗸			Custor	n Settings			
Start Date:]		Inter	val Between Jobs: (minutes)	0		
	wednesday, January 14, 2015			Start	At or After HHMM (e.g. 080	00); 0	000	
Start Time:	2:03:00 PM			Do N	lot Start After HHMM (e.g. 1	700); 0	000	
Maximum Threads:	2 Inactive Wait Interval (second	ls): 30]	Activ	ve Days: on Tue Wed Thi	u 🗌 Fri 📃	Sat Su	un
Scheduler:	Windows Only		~					
Dependent On:	Parent job	Fail	Look back (r	minutes)	Maximum wait (minutes)	A	dd Parent	Job
						B	emove Pa	arent
Logs Retained:	0 This field lets you set the r occurs. 0 = keep all logs (r	number of lo default actio	ogs that are reta	ained for t	his job before an automatic	delete and	archive	
The following two fiel Windows). The speci	ds are optional. They are executed after th ial variables \$JOB_KEY\$, \$JOB_SEQ\$ and	e job compl J \$JOB_NA'	letes and there ME\$ can be us	fore need sed to reti	l to reflect the scheduler env urn the associated values.	vironment. (ji.e. Unix o	n
The Success comma	nd will be executed if a successful comple	tion, the fail	ure command v	will be exe	ecuted if a job fails to compl	ete:		
Success Command:								^
								v
Failure Command:								^
								\sim
					ſ	эк	Cance	el
								e .

- 6 Click **OK** to save the changes.
- 7 Click on the All Jobs button in the toolbar. Our daily update job will be displayed in the top pane. Note that its state should now be 'Waiting' or maybe 'Running'. If the job is in the 'Running' state we can double-click on the Job name to see the state of the individual tasks.

-7.

TIP: If you don't need to change a job and wish to run it immediately, select Start the **Job** from the job's popup menu.

If the job does not go into a **Running** state after 30 seconds, check that a scheduler is running 8 by clicking on the **Scheduler Status** in the scheduler menu.

Aud	Audit and Scheduler log									
•	Туре	Name	Host	Status	Started	Last Status	Stopped	Sampl	Version Message	
- \	Wind	WIN0001	SSERVER	Running	2011-08-04 08:	2011-08-04 09:		30	6001000	

9 If no schedulers are running, refer to the Setup and Administration Guide on how to start a scheduler.

We are now ready to proceed to the next section - Job Results (see "3.6 Job Results" on page 113)

3.6 JOB RESULTS

Once a job has completed, or in fact while it is running, we can check on the results of each of the tasks by proceeding as follows:

- 1 Click on the **All Jobs** button in the toolbar. Our daily update job will be displayed in the top pane. Note that if the job has started or is completed there will be two entries. One is in an 'On Hold' state and one is in a 'Completed', 'Running' or 'Failed' state.
- **2** Double-click on the job **Daily Update** in a 'Completed', 'Running' or 'Failed' state to display the individual tasks within the job.
- **3** Double-click on the **fact_sales_detail** task with action **Process** to display the messages returned from this task. These messages should include information on any indexes dropped and created.

File	View Auto M	onitor Lo	ogs Jobs	Sche	duler	Tools	Window	Help												
	😞 🗅 📇 🥪 🦸	2 🔒 🕯	🗧 🛛 Job Na	me Filte	er: %			- 🖉	All Jo	bs 👋	Sched	luled 3	🔶 Run/Fail 🤌	My Jo	obs 🍃 🕯	Today	3 0	11 -		
Bu	ilder 🕓 Scheduler	× 🚊 Dia	igram																	-
Jobs																				٩
🕒 Job	2			Status	s	Seq	Start			Finish	h		Elapsed	ОК	Info	Detail	Warn	Error	Who	^
1	Daily Update			On Ho	old		2013-08-	22 17:26	<i>.</i> 27										JS	
V	Daily Update			Comp	pleted		2013-08-	22 17:26	:27	2013-	08-22 1	7:26:31	1 00:00	11	26				JS	
I																				
I																				
I																				
I																				
I																				
Tasks																				-¤ X
Tas	sk	Action	Status	Seq	Start		Finish		Elap	Info	De V	Va R	lesult							
V	load_product	Process	Compl	6114	2013-0	8-22 17:	. 2013-08-	22 17:	00:00	4		9	rows loaded in	nto loa	d produ	ct				
V	load_customer	Process	Compl	6114	2013-0	8-22 17:	. 2013-08-7	22 17:	00:00	4		6	rows loaded in	nto loar	d_custor	mer				
V	load_order_line	Process	Compl	6114	2013-0	8-22 17:	. 2013-08-7	22 17:	00:00	4		2	1 rows loaded	into loa	ad_order	r_line				
V	load_order_header	Process	Compl	6114	2013-0	8-22 17:	. 2013-08-2	22 17:	00:00	4		9	rows loaded in	nto loar	d_order_	header				
V	dim_customer	Process	Compl	6114	2013-0	8-22 17:	. 2013-08-2	22 17:	00:00	2		d	im_customer	updater	d. 0 new	records.	6 record	s update	d.	
V	dim_date	Process	Compl	6114	2013-0	8-22 17:	. 2013-08-2	22 17:	00:00	2		D	ate Dimensior	i updat	ed from	Dec 14 1	999 12:00	AM to N	/lay 120	027
V	dim_product	Process	Compl	6114	2013-0	8-22 17:	. 2013-08-2	22 17:	00:00	2		d	im_product up	odated.	0 new r	ecords. 9	records	updated.		
V	stage_sales_detail	Process	Compl	6114	2013-0	8-22 17:	. 2013-08-2	22 17:	00:00	2		st	tage_sales_det	ail upda	ated. 21	new reco	ords. 0 rea	cords up:	dated.	
V	fact_sales_detail	Process	Compl	6114	2013-0	8-22 17:	. 2013-08-2	22 17:	00:00	2		fa	act_sales_detai	l updat	ed. 0 ne	w record	s. 21 reco	ords upda	ated.	
V	fact_sales_detail	Analyze	Compl	6114	2013-0	8-22 17:	. 2013-08-2	22 17:	00:00			Т	able fact_sales	_detail	analyzed	d				

4 Your screen should look something like this:

We are now ready to proceed to the next section - *Diagrammatic View for Jobs* (see "3.7 *Diagrammatic View for Jobs*" on page 114)

3.7 DIAGRAMMATIC VIEW FOR JOBS

WhereScape RED provides the ability to diagrammatically view the job dependencies for the job you have created.

- To bring up the **Diagram Selection** dialog, click on the 1
- Button. 2 Select an object **Type** of **Job** to narrow the selection list and then select **Daily Update**. Click on the **Dependency Diagram** button.

	Diagram Selection	
Object to Diagram		
Group:	v	Gran Schema Diagram
Project:	¥	Source Diagram
Type: Job	•	Paga Laine Dingram
Ubject: Daily Opdate	~	ee Joins Diagiani
Display Columns	Link Levels: 🗸 🗸 🗸	Links Diagram
Restrict diagram objects	to Group/Project	Impact Diagram
	Cancel	Dependency Diagram

The diagram looks like this:



TUTORIAL 4 COMPLEX DIMENSIONS AND HIERARCHIES

Before you start on this chapter you should have:

- Completed *Tutorial 1 Basic Star Schema Fact Table* (see "*Basic Star Schema Fact Table*" on page 1)
- Successfully completed *Creating a Fact Table* (see "1.12 *Creating a Fact Table*" on page 58)

This chapter deals with fine tuning the data warehouse by creating complex dimensions and hierarchies.

IN THIS TUTORIAL

4.1 Purpose and Roadmap	117
4.2 Creating a Slowly Changing Dimension	118
4.3 Multiple Source Table Dimension	126
4.4 Creating a Dimension Hierarchy	136

4.1 PURPOSE AND ROADMAP

Purpose

This tutorial will walk you through the process to:

- Create a slowly changing dimension
- Creating a complex dimension with multiple table sources
- Adding hierarchies to a dimension for external maintenance and for use in Analysis Services cubes.

In short, this tutorial alters the existing customer and product dimensions. The customer dimension is converted to a slowly changing dimension and the product dimension has its content enriched from additional data sources. Hierarchies are built on all dimensions that will be used in the next tutorial.

Tutorial Environment

This tutorial has been completed using Oracle. All of the features illustrated in this tutorial are available in SQL Server, Oracle and DB2 (unless otherwise stated). Any differences in usage of WhereScape RED between these databases are highlighted.

Tutorial Roadmap

This tutorial works through a number of steps. These steps and the relevant section within the chapter are summarized below to assist in guiding you through the tutorial.

Step in Tutorial	Section
Convert the customer dimension to a slowly changing dimension.	Creating a slowly changing dimension
Add additional data sources to the product dimension	Multiple source table dimension
Create hierarchies for the following tables:	Creating a dimension hierarchy
• dim_date	
dim_customer	
dim_product	

This tutorial starts with the section *Creating a Slowly Changing Dimension* (see "4.2 *Creating a Slowly Changing Dimension*" on page 118)

4.2 CREATING A SLOWLY CHANGING DIMENSION

The process of creating a slowly changing dimension is largely the same as creating a normal dimension. Two additional questions are asked during the dimension creation process when the 'Slowly changing dimension' button is chosen during the dimension create. In this section we will cover the more common scenario of changing an existing normal dimension to a slowly changing dimension.

The dimension dim_customer created in tutorial one will be changed to a slowly changing dimension.

- 1 Right-click on dim_customer and select Properties.
- 2 On the dimension Properties change the **Update Procedure** drop-down to select **(Build Procedure...)**.
- 3 Use the Table Type drop-down to select Changing Dimension. Click OK.

88		Dimens	ion dim_customer					×
Properties	Table Name:	dim_customer				Table Type:	Changing Dimension	
Storage						i abio i jipo.		
Language Mapping	(maximum 22 characters)	dim_customer						
Purpose	Business Display Name (EUL):	dim_customer						
Concept								
Grain	Description:							^
Examples								
Usage								~
Notes	Update Procedure:	(Build Procedur	re)	~	Rebuild			
	Custom Procedure:	(None)		~				
	Get Key Function: Timestamps	get_dim_custor	mer_key	▼ Edit]		Mnemonic (EUL):	
	Metadata Structure Chang	ged:	Database Created:		Data	base Altered:		
	2013-03-01 15:46:04.530		2013-03-01 15:52:41.7	'00	2013	3-03-01 15:52:4	41.700	
	1					ОК	Cancel He	lp

4 You will be asked if you wish to version and replace the update and get key procedures. Answer **Yes** to both prompts.



5 A Procedure Build Type dialog will appear. Select **Cursor**.

Procedure Build Type	×
Choose Build Type: (Previous build was Cursor)	
Cursor	*
OK Cancel	

- 6 The **Define Dimension Business Key(s)** dialog will be presented. The existing business key **code** should already be the default value so click **OK** to proceed to the next screen.
- 7 The **Define Slowly Changing Dimension Columns** dialog will now be presented. Multiple columns can be selected to be handled as slowly changing. Double-click on **cname** to add it to the list of slowly changing columns. Click **OK**.

Define Slowly Changing Dimension Columns				
Column List: address city state	Select any columns to be managed as slowly changing dimension columns. Move any columns over to the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Slowly Changing Column list: C Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing column list, or leave it empty Image: Solution of the slowly changing c			
	UN Cancel			

Note: Refer to the Dimensions chapter for an explanation of slowly changing dimensions.

8 A dialog box will appear indicating that a number of additional columns will need to be added to the dimension table in order to support a slowly changing model. The table can be Altered (i.e. the columns added to the table) or re-created. As we have fact tables that use this dimension we cannot re-create the table. To do so would make all of the joins in the fact tables to this dimension invalid. Therefore we will alter the dimension. Click the **Alter** button.

Adding Additional Columns for Slowly Changing Su	x					
This dimension is identified as a Slowly Changing Dimension. Not all of the columns required for a slowly changing dimension exist. The table must be altered for auto procedure generation to work.						
The following columns will be added. Please select either Alter to alter the table, Recreate to drop and create the table or cancel.						
dss_current_flag_char(1) dss_version integer dss_start_date date dss_end_date date						
Alter Recreate Cancel						

9 A dialog will now be presented with the SQL commands that will be executed to add the new columns and set default values for the dss_version and dss_current_flag columns. Click the **Alter Table** button to alter the table in the database. It is worth noting that whenever a database table is altered from within WhereScape RED the SQL commands should be reviewed. These commands can be changed if a different result is required.

Alter Table Commands	×
WARNING: An attempt has been made to ascertair the best alter command. However, in some cases a column drop and create is chosen instead of a rename. The following commands can be edited. These commands should be reviewed and changed if necessary.	^
Column dss_start_date found in metadata for dbo.din_customer - (datetime)	
Column dss_end_date found in metadata for dbo.dim_customer - (datetime)	
Column dss_current_flag found in metadata for dbo.dim_customer - (char(1))	
Column dss_version found in metadata for dbo.dim_customer - (integer)	
ALTER TABLE dim_customer ADD dss_start_date_datetime , dss_end_date_datetime , dss_current_flag_char(1) , dss_version integer UPDATE dim_customer SET dss_version=1 , dss_current_flag = 'Y' ~	~
Alter Table Cance	

- **10** A message box will appear informing you that the table was altered in the database. Click **OK**.
- **11** A dialog box will appear asking if you want to allow NULL support for the slowly changing columns. The normal response would be No. Refer to the Dimensions chapter for a detailed explanation. Click the **No** button.

WhereScape RED	×
Add support for NULL values in slowly changing columns	
Yes No	

12 The results dialog will show the indexes that were created/re-created for the dimension.Note: There is a new index with a suffix of _SC to support the slowly changing dimension.

The dimension has now been converted to a slowly changing dimension. If a customer now has a name change a new version of the customer record will be created to allow the tracking of the customer by both the old and new name.

Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse Bac	kup Jobs Doc Repo	orts Validate Too	ols Window H	Help		
🗄 🗋 😹 🖒 😤 🤣 Web Links 👻	🥝 🔒 🚑 🕓 Sched	uler 🥜 🕶 🛷 👻	🛛 🐨 🔍 🌙 In	nport 📕 👿 💋	🌾 🖕 🤅 🖗 Reports	▼ ¹³
📑 Builder 🕓 Scheduler 🛛 💂 Dia	gram					
Development - 4 ×	dim_customer Columns				4.	DataWarehouse 👻 🕂 🗙
All Objects	Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column	a 🗆 🔠 🖿 🗰 🕫 🕫 😁 💳
Tonnection	器 dim_customer_key	dim customer key	integer ident		dim_customer_key	
Load Table	😽 code	code	numeric(6)	load_customer	code	70
👂 🙀 Stage Table	😽 cname	cname	varchar(45)	load_customer	name	🔺 🧻 dbo
b 🗱 Data Store	😽 address	address	varchar(40)	load_customer	address	<pre>agg_sa_customer</pre>
T Normalized	器 city	city	varchar(30)	load_customer	city	agg_sa_product
Dimension	器 state	state	varchar(2)	load_customer	state	dim_customer
😽 dim_customer	器 dss_start_date	dss start date	datetime		dss_start_date	T dim_oddc
😽 dim_date	℅ dss_end_date	dss end date	datetime		dss_end_date	T dim_product
😽 dim_product	℅ dss_current_flag	dss current flag	char(1)		dss_current_flag	🔟 dim_ship_date
😽 dss_fact_table	器 dss_version	dss version	integer		dss_version	III ds_customer
S dss_source_system	⅔ dss_update_time	dss update time	datetime		dss_update_time	ds_order_header
Dimension View						s product
Fact Table						ds current day details
Aggregate						dss_fact_table
T View						📰 dss_parameter
Olap Cube						<pre>dss_source_system</pre>
Olap Dimension						<pre>fact_budget</pre>
± Export						fact_forecast
Procedure	<				>	fact_sales_analysis
D and Host Script	•	_			-	load budget
p index	Results				▼ म ×	Toad_customer
i kero	🕒 Object	Message			^	🔲 load_forecast
	dim_custom	er ALTER TABLE db	o.dim_customer	ADD CONSTRAIN	Т	load_order_header
	Image:	dim_customer_i	dx_0 PRIMARY KE	Y CLUSTERED (di	m_customer_key)	load_order_line
		WITH (SORT_IN	TEMPDB = OFF);			stage budget
	dim_custom	er CREATE UNIQUE	NONCLUSTEREE	INDEX dim_cust	omer_idx_A ON	stage_bodget
		dbo.dim_custon (SORT_IN_TEMP	ner (code,dss_cur DB = OFF);	rent_flag,dss_vers	ion) WITH	stage_sales_detail
	dim_custom	er CREATE UNIQUE		INDEX dim_cust	omer_idx_SC ON	
		(SORT_IN_TEMP	DB = OFF);	uss_current_rlag,o	v v	
	Results Reports					Data Warehouse Source Browser

Note: This conversion to a slowly changing dimension has changed the get key function for the dimension. This function is called from the stage tables that use this dimension. We must now rebuild the update procedures for the stage tables that use this dimension.

Rebuild Stage Update Procedures

As the customer dimension is used in the stage tables stage_sales_detail, stage_budget and stage_forecast we will need to rebuild these procedures. Proceed as follows:

- 1 Right-click on stage_sales_detail and select Properties.
- 2 Use the Update procedure drop-down to select (Build Procedure...).
- **3** Click **OK** to leave the Properties page.
- 4 Answer **Yes** to the procedure versioning question.
- **5** Select **Cursor** for the procedure type.
- 6 Click **OK** on the Parameters dialog.
- 7 Click **OK** on the screen informing of multiple source tables.
- 8 Accept the previous entries by clicking **OK** on the cursor mapping screen.
- **9** Click **OK** on the business key join for each of the dimensions. The previously chosen business key should be the default value provided.

10 An additional dialog will appear after the customer dimension join. Select **ship_date** from the date list and click **OK**.

Tracking a Slowly Changing Dimension					
This dimension has been identified as a slowly changing dimension. The columns listed below are tracked for changes.					
If there is a date in the staging table that correlates to when these changes occur select the date and enter OK.					
dim_customer columns tracked for changes					
cname					
Staging Table Dates:					
ship_date 🗸 🗸					
OK No Date					

- **11** Click **OK** on any other dimension joins.
- **12** Click **OK** on the business key for the stage table.
- **13** The update procedure will now be rebuilt to handle the fact that the customer dimension is now slowly changing. Repeat steps **(1) through (11)** for the other stage tables **stage_budget** and **stage_forecast**. Use the dates **budget_date** and **forecast_date** to track the dimension changes.

You have successfully converted the dimension dim_customer to a slowly changing dimension, and made all dependent changes.

You are now ready to proceed to the next section - *Multiple Source Table Dimension* (see "4.3 *Multiple Source Table Dimension*" on page 126).

4.3 MULTIPLE SOURCE TABLE DIMENSION

Dimensions typically get their information from multiple sources. A common scenario is to have a series of codes that relate to the dimension. The descriptions of these codes are often stored in a code lookup table. The following example will clarify the practice of producing a dimension from multiple source tables.

The dimension dim_product created in tutorial one will be enhanced to provide additional descriptions for the code values already present.

- 1 In the right pane, browse to the **Tutorial** connection that was created in tutorial one. Click on the glasses or select the Browse/Source tables menu option. The tutorial tables should now be shown in the right pane.
- 2 We need to acquire a number of additional source tables from the tutorial database. Double-click on the **Load Table object group** in the left pane. This will list all the load tables in the middle pane and make the middle pane a drop target for additional load tables.
- 3 Select the **prod_group** table from the right pane and holding the left mouse down drag to the middle pane. Click **ADD** to add the new object and then **OK** on the Properties screen. Select the **Create and Load** button.
- 4 Repeat steps (2) and (3) above to bring in and load from the **prod_subgroup** and **prod_line** tables.
- **5** In the left pane click on **dim_product**. This will display all of the dimension columns in the middle pane and make the middle pane a drop target for additional dimension columns. We will be adding descriptions to it.
- 6 Browse to the Data Warehouse connection. The right pane should now show the data warehouse tables. You can position the mouse in this right pane and select the menu option 'Filter Load' to restrict the display to just load tables.
- 7 Expand load_prod_group, load_prod_subgroup and load_prod_line by double-clicking on each table name.



- 8 Drag **group_description** from load_prod_group into the middle pane. This will add it to the product dimension columns.
- **9** Drag **subgroup_description** from load_prod_subgroup into the middle pane. This will add it to the product dimension columns.
- **10** Drag **line_description** from load_prod_line into the middle pane. This will add it to the product dimension columns.
- **11** Review the product columns displayed in the middle pane. Expand the '**source table**' column to see that we now have four different tables that contribute to the dimension.

dim_product Columns				
Column Name	Display Name	Data Type	Source Table	Source Column
😽 dim_product_key	dim product key	integer id		dim_product_key
😽 code	code	numeric(6)	load_product	code
😽 description	description	varchar(64)	load_product	description
😽 prod_line	prod line	varchar(24)	load_product	prod_line
😽 line_description	line description	varchar(64)	load_prod_line	line_description
😽 prod_group	prod group	varchar(24)	load_product	prod_group
😽 group_description	group description	varchar(64)	load_prod_group	group_description
😽 subgroup	subgroup	varchar(24)	load_product	subgroup
器 subgroup_description	subgroup description	varchar(64)	load_prod_subgroup	subgroup_description
器 dss_update_time	dss update time	datetime		dss_update_time
<				>

Right-click on **dim_product** in the left pane and select **Validate against database.** This option will compare the metadata as displayed within WhereScape RED with the physical table dim_product as it exists in the database. We have added new columns to the metadata in the steps above, but the physical table has not been changed. A message will appear in the middle pane as follows.

Table validation list		-	џ	×
Object	Differences			
😽 dim_product - line_description	Add Column line_description.			
器 dim_product - group_description	Add Column group_description.			
器 dim_product - subgroup_description	Add Column subgroup_description.			
S Desults				>
Reports Results				

12 We now need to alter the physical table in the database. The message in the middle pane shows that the metadata has additional columns not present in the dss table. Right-click on **dim product** in the **middle pane** and select **Alter Table**.

Table validatio	n list		•		×
Object		Differences			
🕷 dim_produc+	Alter Table	Column line_description.			
😽 dim_produc	Alter Table	Column group_description.			
😽 dim_produc	Export to CSV File	Column subgroup_description.			
<					>
Reports Results					

- **13** An alter table commands dialog will appear with the SQL commands that will be used to alter the database table. Click the **Alter Table** button.
- **14** A message will display advising that the table was altered. Click **OK** to clear the message.
- **15** Repeat steps (12) to (14) for the other two changes.
- 16 Right-click on dim_product in the left pane and select Properties.
- 17 Click Rebuild.
- **18** A Procedure Build Type dialog will appear. Select **Cursor**.

Procedure Build Type					
Choose Build Type: (Previous build was Cursor)					
Cursor v					
	ОК	Cancel			

19 A dialog will now appear asking you to define the primary source table and to choose between a join of the source tables or a series of lookups. Refer to the Dimensions chapter for an explanation on these two choices. The **load_product** should have been selected as the primary source table. If it has not been selected then select it. Click the **Lookup** button.

Define	e Primary Dimension Source Table 🛛 🗙				
Multiple source	tables have been detected.				
For dimensions either a multi table join procedure can be created or a procedure with a series of lookups on the secondary tables can be created.					
NOTE: last proc	edure generation was a JOIN				
lf a lookup mod selected below.	el is chosen then the primary load table must be				
Primary	load_product V				
	Lookup Join Cancel				

- **20** The **Define Dimension Business Key(s)** dialog will be presented. The existing business key **code** should already be the default value so click **OK** to proceed to the next screen.
- **21** A message is displayed, asking you to ensure that any join syntax be removed from the statement in the dialog to follow. Click **OK**.



22 Click OK on the Cursor Mapping screen.

Provide Cursor Mapping							
Cursor Name (if applicable):	ad					0	
Edit the where clause if required.							
Source Tables: load_product load_prod_line load_prod_group load_prod_subgroup	From and Where Clause: FROM load_product						
Outer Join Simple Join	ANSI join code generated						
Table A	Column A	~	Table B	Column B		~	
Word Wrap Displayed Code					ОК	Cancel	

The Dimension lookup definition screen should now appear. Two drop-down boxes are available. The left drop-down shows the columns for the table chosen as the primary source table. The right drop-down shows the columns for the source table we wish to lookup. There is a reminder above the left drop-down informing you which table is being looked up.

Dimension Lookup Ta	ble Definition ×
Create the condition that defines the lookup from our primary ta Select columns from each table that are used in the join and ad	ble to the lookup table. Id them to the where clause.
Lookup for line_description	
Multiple Lookups Required on This Table	
Post Update	
load_product	load_prod_line
prod_line V	prod_line V
Where Clause for the Lookup:	
WHERE prod_line = @v_load_prod_line	^
	~
<	>
	OK Cancel

Dimension Lookup Table Definition	×
Create the condition that defines the lookup from our primary table to the lookup table. Select columns from each table that are used in the join and add them to the where clause. Lookup for group_description	
Multiple Lookups Required on This Table Post Update	
load_product load_prod_group	
prod_group v prod_group	~
Where Clause for the Lookup:	
WHERE prod_group = @v_load_prod_group	^
	× 1
ОК	Cancel

Dimension Lookup Table Definition					
Create the condition that defines the lookup from our primary table to the lookup table. Select columns from each table that are used in the join and add them to the where clause.					
Lookup for subgroup_description					
Multiple Lookups Required on This Table Post Update Image: Contract of the second					
load_product load_prod_subgroup					
subgroup 🗸	~				
Where Clause for the Lookup:					
WHERE prod_group = @v_load_prod_group AND subgroup = @v_load_subgroup	~				
<	×				
OK Canc	el				

Although not being used at this point there are a number of features in these dialogs which are worth noting. The first is that there is a checkbox to allow a table to be the source of multiple lookups. This would be used where a generic code table was used to lookup descriptions and we would need to make multiple lookups on the same table to get different descriptions. The second is that procedure variables are available in the drop-down list of the primary load table. Using this feature it is possible to make lookups that are dependent on the results from previous lookups. This is done by selecting the columns that would have been populated by the earlier lookups.

The lookups require that a join be defined for the two tables involved. The relevant joins for our example are as follows. Step through the dialog boxes making these joins. First select the column from each drop-down list and then click the **Add Join** button.

Lookup table	Primary src (load_product)	Lookup column
load_prod_group	prod_group	prod_group
load_prod_subgroup	prod_group prod_subgroup	prod_group prod_subgroup

load_prod_line prod_line	prod_line
--------------------------	-----------

Note: The load_prod_subgroup lookup will require two joins. After each join is made click the **OK** button to move to the next dialog.

- **24** Once the lookups have been completed the procedure will be generated and the results dialog will show the indexes that were created/re-created.
- **25** Right-click on **dim_product** in the left pane and select **Execute Update Procedure**. The dimension will now be refreshed.
- **26** Right-click on **dim_product** in the left pane and select **Display Data**. Provided the lookups were done correctly, the descriptions should now be populated.

Data display for dim_product 3								
dim_product	code	description	prod_line	line_description	prod_group	group_description	subgroup	subgroup_description
<mark>% 0</mark>		Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown
% 1	1001	Stripped ball	Тоу	General toys	Balls	All types and sizes of	Large	Large balls
<mark>%</mark> 2	1002	Front loader tractor	Тоу	General toys	Equipment	Machinery, tools and	Tractor	Tractors and Diggers
<mark>%8</mark> 3	1003	Building blocks	Edu	Educational toys	Blocks	Building and stacking	Foam	Foam building blocks
% 4	1004	Talking cookie jar	Тоу	General toys	Talking	Talking toys	Jar	Talking utensils
% 5	1005	yellow golf ball	Тоу	General toys	Balls	All types and sizes of	Golf	Golf balls
<mark>%6</mark> 6	1006	red golf ball	Тоу	General toys	Balls	All types and sizes of	Golf	Golf balls
% 7	1007	blue gold club	Тоу	General toys	Clubs	Clubs, bats and other	Golf	Golf clubs
<mark>%8</mark> 8	1008	plastic building bl	Edu	Educational toys	Blocks	Building and stacking	Plastic	Plastic building blocks
<mark>%8</mark> 9	1009	tool case	Тоу	General toys	Equipment	Machinery, tools and	Tools	Tools and tool cases

Oracle Procedure Invalidation

If running this as a tutorial in an *Oracle Data Warehouse* then the procedures update_stage_sales_detail, update_stage_budget and update_stage_forecast will have been invalidated. These procedures all use the function get_dim_product_key. This function was re-compiled as part of the process above, but has not changed in structure.

Select the menu option Tools/Re-compile Invalid Procedures:

Тоо	ls Window Help
7	Parameters
۹,	Search for String
ø	Build Deployment Application
	List Loaded Deployment Applications
4	Import Metadata Objects
	Version Objects
	Compile Procedures
	Re-compile Invalid Procedures
	Define Re-Usable Transformations
	Build MicroStrategy Project
	Build MicroStrategy Project Join Information Maintenance
	Build MicroStrategy Project Join Information Maintenance Data Type Mappings
	Build MicroStrategy Project Join Information Maintenance Data Type Mappings Language Options
*	Build MicroStrategy Project Join Information Maintenance Data Type Mappings Language Options Options

Click **Yes** to proceed. The three procedures will be re-validated and the results shown in the middle pane.

You are now ready to proceed to the next section - *Creating a Dimension Hierarchy* (see "4.4 *Creating a Dimension Hierarchy*" on page 136)

4.4 CREATING A DIMENSION HIERARCHY

Dimensions often have a number of hierarchical levels. An example is the date dimension which has a natural hierarchy of year, month and day. WhereScape RED allows the definition of a hierarchy against a dimension. A dimension may have multiple hierarchies defined. These dimension hierarchies are used in the generation of Analysis Services cubes. Every dimension in a cube must have a hierarchy with at least one element in it. Hierarchies can also be accessed and the underlying data maintained with the Hierarchy maintenance utility shipped with the enterprise version of WhereScape RED. This utility allows a user to maintain a hierarchy structure in a different database or schema so that the data warehouse can use this structure as input to the dimension. See the hierarchy section in the Dimension chapter for more details.

We will add a hierarchy to the dimensions dim_product and dim_customer created in the first tutorial. We will also check that a hierarchy exists for the date dimension and if not present, add one.



1 Right-click on **dim customer** in the left pane and select **Hierarchies** / **List Hierarchies**.

- **2** A list of any existing hierarchies will be shown in the middle pane. Initially there are no hierarchies defined.
- **3** Right-click on **dim_customer** in the left pane and select **Hierarchies** / **Add Hierarchy**.
- **4** A dialog will appear asking for a hierarchy name and the hierarchy elements. Enter **customer** for the name and add **state**, **city**, **address** and **code** as hierarchy elements.
- **5** Enter a meaningful **Description** for the hierarchy and click **OK** to exit the add hierarchy dialog.

	A	dd Hierard	hy	×
Hierarchy Name:	customer			
Description:	Added at dimension creation for	r cube support	t	^
				~
Move columns fro For example a da	om the column list into the hierarc te hierarchy may be year, month,	hy. The hierar day. Year will	chy is a top down list. be the first column shown.	
Dimension Colum	ns:	_	Hierarchy:	
Column Name			Levels	
<pre> dim_custom dim_custom</pre>	er_key	>		
😽 name 😽 address		<		
器 city 器 state		1		
😽 dss_update	_time	L		
<	>			
			OK	Cancel

- 6 Repeat steps (1) through (4) for dim_product defining a top down hierarchy of line_description, then group_description, subgroup_description, and code.
- 7 Check to see if a hierarchy exists for **dim_date**. If no hierarchy exists then add a top down hierarchy of **cal_year**, **cal_month and calendar_date**.

Hierarchies for dim_d	Hierarchies for dim_date							
Dimension Name	Hierarchy Name	Description	Maintained					
器 dim_date	calendar	Default hierarchy used for	Ν					
•			Þ					

As mentioned above these hierarchies are utilized by other processes within the data warehouse. In this case we will use the hierarchies created in the building of Analysis Services cubes in the next tutorial.
TUTORIAL 5 ANALYSIS SERVICES CUBES

Before you start on this chapter you should have:

- Completed *Tutorial 1 Basic Star Schema Fact Table* (see "*Basic Star Schema Fact Table*" on page 1)
- Completed *Tutorial 2 Rollup Fact Tables, ASCII File Loads, Aggregates* (see "*Rollup Fact Tables, ASCII File Loads, Aggregates*" on page 73)
- Completed *Tutorial 4 Complex Dimensions and Hierarchies* (see "*Complex Dimensions and Hierarchies*" on page 116)

This chapter deals with fine tuning the data warehouse by adding Analysis Services cubes.

IN THIS TUTORIAL

5.1 Purpose and Roadmap	140
5.2 Creating an OLAP Cube Object	141
5.3 Adding a Measure Group	170
5.4 Cube Connections for Other Databases	184

5.1 PURPOSE AND ROADMAP

Purpose

This tutorial will walk you through the process to:

• Create an analysis services cube.

In short, this tutorial uses existing fact tables to generate a "multi-measure group cube" based on fact_sales_detail and fact_budget. It also shows you how to query the cube.

Tutorial Environment

This tutorial has been completed using Microsoft SQL Server. All of the features illustrated in this tutorial are available in SQL Server, Oracle and DB2 (unless otherwise stated) using Analysis Services Cubes. Any differences in usage of WhereScape RED between these databases are highlighted. Refer to *Cube Connections for Other Databases* (see "*5.4 Cube Connections for Other Databases*" on page 184) for more information on configuring the DataWarehouse connection for Oracle or DB2 data warehouses.

Tutorial Roadmap

This tutorial works through a number of steps. These steps and the relevant section within the chapter are summarized below to assist in guiding you through the tutorial.

Step in Tutorial	Section
Create an Analysis Services cube from fact_sales_detail	Creating a Cube Object
Add a measure group to the cube based on fact_budget	Adding a Measure Group object

This tutorial starts with the section *Creating an OLAP Cube Object* (see "*5.2 Creating an OLAP Cube Object*" on page 141).

5.2 CREATING AN OLAP CUBE OBJECT

The process of creating a cube object is largely the same as creating any other data warehouse object. By dragging a fact or aggregate table into an **OLAP Cube** drop target an **OLAP Cube** and **OLAP Dimensions** are defined.

OLAP Cubes are more complex than some other objects in WhereScape RED, primarily due to the functionality available in Microsoft Analysis Services.

This tutorial covers creating a basic cube. Refer to the chapter on Analysis Services Cubes in the WhereScape RED User Guide for more information.

In this step we will create an **OLAP Cube** from the *fact_sales_detail* table. Before we start we need to have access to a Microsoft Analysis Services server with appropriate security rights to create an OLAP database.

Analysis Services is supplied with Microsoft SQL Server. You will also need to know the name of this server.

Note: This tutorial is only possible if an Analysis Services server is available

If the Analysis Services server is located on another machine then the Analysis Services client software will need to be loaded onto the computer running WhereScape RED.

1 Create a new **connection** for the Analysis Services server. Right-click on the **Connection** object group in the left pane and select **New Object**.



2 Enter a name of **Cubes** for the connection and click **ADD**.

	Add a New Metadata Object	×
Define the Type Specific informa	e and Name of the New Object. tion for each object type is defined in subsequent screer	IS.
Object Type:	Connection	~
Object Name:	Cubes	
	ADD Cance	

- **3** The connection Properties screen displays. Select the connection type **Microsoft Analysis Server 2005**+.
 - Enter the **name** of the server for the Analysis Server. Leave the username and password blank.
 - Enter the server and database details for your Analysis Services server.
 - A sample is shown here. Click **OK** on the connection screen.

Ū	Connectio	on SSAS Cubes	×
Properties			
Notes			
	a General	SCAC Culture	
		SSAS CUDES	
	Connection Type	Microsoft Analysis Server 2003+	¥
	Online Analytical Processing (ULAP)	WELBOC	
	Analysis Services (SSAS) Server Name	WSL-DOC	
	Analysis Services (SSAS) User ID		
	Analysis Services (SSAS) User Password		
	Connection Type		
	indicates the connection source type or the conn	ection method such as Database, ODBC, Windows, UNIX/Linux.	
		OK C	Incel Help
			nop

Note: Microsoft Analysis Services 2005 and 2008 use "Microsoft Analysis Server 2005+".

4 Expand the Connection object group in the left pane and double-click on the DataWarehouse connection to bring up the **Properties** dialog.



- **5** The Properties dialog has some additional columns at the bottom of the screen. These are required so that the data warehouse can be used as a source for the Analysis Services cubes. These fields are:
 - OLAP Connection String
 - Connection Provider/Driver
 - Data Warehouse Server
 - Data Warehouse Database ID

- **6** For a SQL Server data warehouse:
 - The **OLAP Connection String** is built using a wizard. To activate the wizard, click on the eliipsis button.

When Connection is an OLAP Data Source		
OLAP Connection String		
Connection Provider/Driver	SQLOLEDB	¥
Data Warehouse Server	DOC	
Data Warehouse Database ID	WslWarehouse	

7 On the Provider tab, select the **OLE DB Provider** and click **Next**.

Provider Connection Advanced All Select the data you want to connect to: OLE DB Provider(s) IBM OLE DB Provider for DB2 - DB2COPY1 Microsoft Jet 4.0 OLE DB Provider Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Analysis Services 11.0 Microsoft OLE DB Provider for ODBC Drivers Microsoft OLE DB Provider for ODBC Drivers Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider MSDataShape OLE DB Provider for Microsoft Directory Services SQL Server Native Client 11.0		Data Link Properties	x
Select the data you want to connect to: OLE DB Provider(s) IBM OLE DB Provider for DB2 - DB2COPY1 Microsoft Jet 4.0 OLE DB Provider Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Analysis Services 11.0 Microsoft OLE DB Provider for ODBC Drivers Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Search Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Search Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider MSData Shape OLE DB Provider for Microsoft Directory Services SQL Server Native Client 11.0 Next >>	Provi	ider Connection Advanced All	
OLE DB Provider(s) IBM OLE DB Provider for DB2 - DB2COPY1 Microsoft Jet 4.0 OLE DB Provider Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Analysis Services 11.0 Microsoft OLE DB Provider for ODBC Drivers Microsoft OLE DB Provider for ODBC Drivers Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Search Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider MSDataShape OLE DB Provider for Microsoft Directory Services SQL Server Native Client 11.0	Sele	ect the data you want to connect to:	
IBM OLE DB Provider for DB2 - DB2COPY1 Microsoft Jet 4.0 OLE DB Provider Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Analysis Services 11.0 Microsoft OLE DB Provider for ODBC Drivers Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Search Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider MSDataShape OLE DB Provider for Microsoft Directory Services SQL Server Native Client 11.0 Next >>		OLE DB Provider(s)	
Microsoft Jet 4.0 OLE DB Provider Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Analysis Services 11.0 Microsoft OLE DB Provider for ODBC Drivers Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Search Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider MSData Shape OLE DB Provider for Microsoft Directory Services SQL Server Native Client 11.0 Next >>		IBM OLE DB Provider for DB2 - DB2COPY1	
Microsoft OLE DB Provider for ODBC Drivers Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Oracle Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Search Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider MSDataShape OLE DB Provider for Microsoft Directory Services SQL Server Native Client 11.0		Microsoft OLE DB Provider Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Analysis Services 11.0	
Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Oracle Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Search Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider MSDataShape OLE DB Provider for Microsoft Directory Services SQL Server Native Client 11.0 Next >>		Microsoft OLE DB Provider for ODBC Drivers	
Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Search Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider MSDataShape OLE DB Provider for Microsoft Directory Services SQL Server Native Client 11.0 Next >>		Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Oracle	
Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider MSDataShape OLE DB Provider for Microsoft Directory Services SQL Server Native Client 11.0 Next >>		Microsoft OLE DB Provider for Search	
Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider MSDataShape OLE DB Provider for Microsoft Directory Services SQL Server Native Client 11.0 Next >>		Microsoft OLE DB Provider for SQL Server	
MSDataShape OLE DB Provider for Microsoft Directory Services SQL Server Native Client 11.0 Next >>		Microsoft OLE DB Simple Provider	
SQL Server Native Client 11.0 Next >>		MSDataShape	ш
Next >>		SQL Server Native Client 11.0	
Next >>			
Next >>			
Next >>	L		
Next >>			.
		Next >>	
OK Cancel Help		OK Cancel Help	

8 Enter the connection details and click Test Connection.

Data Link Properties ×
Provider Connection Advanced All
Specify the following to connect to SQL Server data: 1. Select or enter a server name:
(local) V Refresh
2. Enter information to log on to the server:
Use a specific user name and password:
User name:
Password:
Blank password Allow saving password
3. • Select the database on the server:
WslWarehouse 🗸 🗸
Attach a database file as a database name:
Using the filename:
Test Connection
OK Cancel Help

9 Click **OK** on the success message and then **OK** again on the Data Link Properties screen.

	Data Link Properties	
Provider	Connection Advanced All	
Specify 1. Se	y the following to connect to SQL Server data: elect or enter a server name: (local)	h
2. Er	nter information to log on to the server:	-
Г	Microsoft Data Link ×	
3. (Test connection succeeded.	
¢	ОК	
	Using the filename:	
	Test Connection	
	OK Cancel Help	

10 The OLAP connection string will be displayed on the connections screen.

11 Set the **Connection Provider/Driver** to *SQLOLEDB*

- Set the Data Warehouse Server to the SQL Server *server name*
- Set the Data Warehouse Database ID to the SQL Server database name

12 A SQL Server sample:

⊿	When Connection is an OLAP Data Source		
	OLAP Connection String	Provider=SQLOLEDB.1;Integrated Security=SSPI;Persist Secur	
	Connection Provider/Driver	SQLOLEDB	¥
	Data Warehouse Server	DOC	
	Data Warehouse Database ID	WslWarehouse	

13 Click OK.

See *Cube Connections for Other Databases* (see "*5.4 Cube Connections for Other Databases*" on page 184) for more details on Oracle and DB2.

- **14** Now you need to browse the *DataWarehouse* connection to see available fact tables.
 - Right-click **DataWarehouse connection** from the left pane and select **Browse Connection**.

	List Source Tables Connection	×
Connection:	DataWarehouse 🗸 🗸	
User ID:		
Password:		
Filter		
Schema:	Blank for all Schemas	
Name:	(None) 🗸	
	Object Types	
	✓ Tables ✓ Views System Objects	
Group:	(All) 🗸	
Project:	(All)	
Data Type Mapp	ping Set: (Default)	
Refresh Current	t OK Cancel	

The following browse pane displays on the right.



16 Double-click on the **OLAP Cube** object group in the left pane to list all cubes in the middle pane. This makes the middle pane a drop target for cubes. Your screen should look something like this:

Builder Web Links • @ N R @ Cobe Development • A × Diap Cube Image: Scheduler Image: Sc	File Edit View Browse Backu	p Jobs Doc Reports Val	idate Tools Window	v Help			
Builder Scheduler Diagram Development • # × Olap Cube DataWarehouse Connection Cubes DataWarehouse Tutorial (QLTP) Windows Load Table State Momalized Simension Simen	🗄 📄 🙏 🖒 😤 🤣 Web Links 👻 🚱	🕴 🔒 📃 🤮 Scheduler 🛛 🥔	• 🛷 • 📮 🛛 🕱 🤞	🌢 Import 📑 👿 🥪	🗱 🖕 🤅 🖇 Reports	•	** Ŧ
Development Image: Connection Image: Cubes Cube Name Type AS Connection Image: Cubes Cubes Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: Cubes Image: C	🚟 Builder 💧 Scheduler 🛛 📑 Diagr	am					-
All Objects Cube Name Type AS Connection © Cubes Cubes DataWarehouse Image: Seguration and the	Development 👻 म 🗙	Olap Cube				DataWarehouse	- q ×
Results Image: The stage is the stage	Development ◆ ♣ × ▲ ⓐ Al Objects ▲ ⓐ Connection ○ Cubes DataWarehouse ○ Tutorial (QLTP) ⓑ Windows ▷ 월 ⓑ Load Table ▷ ♥ Stage Table ▷ ♥ Stage Table ▷ ♥ Stage Table ▷ Ø Stage Cube ∅ Ø Outpension ● Ø Procedure ▷ 圖 Host Script ▷ ■ Retro ■ Retro	Cube Name Cube Name Results Object Gim_product Cube Name	Published Name Published Name	Type	AS Connection	DataWarehouse	↔ × Ⅲ
Results Reports Data Warehouse Source Browser		Results Reports			÷	Data Warehouse Source Browse	r

Note: As OLAP Cubes have not been created yet, the middle pane is empty.

17 Drag **fact_sales_detail** from the browser (right pane) and drop it into the middle to create a new **OLAP Cube** object. Give the OLAP Cube a name of **sales_analysis** as follows and click **ADD**.

	Add a New Metadata Object ×
Define the Type Specific informati	and Name of the New Object. ion for each object type is defined in subsequent screens.
Object Type:	Olap Cube 🗸 🗸
Object Name:	sales_analysis
	ADD Cancel

- **18** WhereScape RED will now cycle through each dimension associated with that **fact table** and will create an **OLAP Dimension** object for each, displaying the following dialog first.
 - Tick the **Include Attribute relationships** check- box to include Attribute Relationships in Analysis Services for this dimension.
 - Click ADD for the *Customer* dimension.

	Add a New Metadata Object ×			
Define the Type and Name of the New Object.				
Specific information for each object type is defined in subsequent screens.				
Object Type:	Olap Dimension 🗸 🗸			
Object Name:	odim_customer			
✓ Include Attribute Relationships				
ADD Cancel				

- **19** The following dialog appears, prompting you to select the attributes to be included in the *Customer* OLAP dimension. The attributes available for selection are in the left column. To select an attribute, click on the attribute in the left column and click >. This will move the attribute to the right column.
 - To de-select an attribute, click on the attribute in the right column and click <. This will move the attribute to the left column.

<i>ø</i>	Select OLAP Dimension	sion Attributes ×		
Select Columns	Select end user layer attributes to be included as OLAP dimension attributes			
	Available Attributes:	Selected Attributes:		
	dss_current_flag address code dss_end_date dss_star_date dss_valate_time dss_version			
		OK Cancel Heln		

20 Repeat steps (9) and (10) for the remaining OLAP Dimensions.

	Add a New Metadata Object	×		
Define the Type and Name of the New Object. Specific information for each object type is defined in subsequent screens.				
Object Type:	Olap Dimension	۷		
Object Name:	odim_order_date			
✓ Include Attribute Relationships				
ADD Cancel				

	Add a New Metadata Object ×			
Define the Type and Name of the New Object.				
Object Type:	Olap Dimension			
Object Name:	odim_product			
✓ Include Attribute Relationships				
	ADD Cancel			

	Add a New Metadata Object ×		
Define the Type Specific informa	and Name of the New Object. tion for each object type is defined in subsequent screens.		
Object Type:	Olap Dimension 🗸 🗸		
Object Name:	odim_ship_date		
✓ Include Attribute Relationships			
	ADD Cancel		

21 The **Manage cube measures** dialog is displayed next. Remove all non-measure columns (that is, columns that cannot be aggregated) from the **Measure** list by highlighting them and clicking the **Remove** button.

The columns to remove are:

- order number
- order line no
- product code
- customer code

22 At this stage, your dialog should look like this:

	Manage Cube Measures
he following measures have been added to the cu Remove button if required.	be. Select any measures that are not appropriate and click the
Pre-built calculated members will be generated for ea e deleted later if not required.	ach measure if the check boxes to the right are set. These calculated members can
Measure	Calculated Members:
🤪 unit sale price	Month To Date
🤪 quantity	🗌 Year To Date
😝 sales value	Moving Quarter
💗 tax	Moving Year
	Same Month Previous Year
	Remove> Previous Year To date
	✓ Use OLAP Functions
	OK Cancel

- 23 Choose to create some date based calculated members using OLAP functions by selecting the Month to date, Year to date, and Use OLAP functions check-boxes. The calculated measures drop-downs display below.
- **24** Select the required **date hierarchy** information. Specifically:
 - for **Date Dimension**, select *dim_order_date* and the **Date Hierarchy** will automatically be populated with *calendar*
 - for Month Level, select order cal month

25 After selecting the **Month level**, you will be asked to confirm changing the **attribute type** to **Months** for the the *order cal month* attribute in Analysis Services as follows. Click **Yes**.

	WhereScape RED	×			
?	The selected date attribute order cal month has a Type of Regular, this needs to be changed to Type Month. If you do not change this, OLAP Functions may not aggregate correctly. To change this now, click Yes. To leave the date attribute Type unchanged, click No.				
	Yes No				

26 For **Year Level**, select *order cal year*.

• Similarly, selecting the **Year level**, you will be asked to confirm changing the **attribute type** to *Years* for the the *order cal year* attribute in Analysis Services as follows. Again click **Yes**.

	WhereScape RED	×	
?	The selected date attribute order cal year has a Type of Regular, this needs to be changed to Type Year. If you do not change this, OLAP Functions may not aggregate correctly. To change this now, click Yes. To leave the date attribute Type unchanged, click No.		
	Yes No		

Your **Manage cube measures** dialog should now look like this. Click **OK** to complete the definition of the cube.

Mar	nage Cube Meas	ures
The following measures have been added to the cube. S Remove button if required.	elect any measures th	at are not appropriate and click the
Pre-built calculated members will be generated for each n be deleted later if not required.	neasure if the check b	oxes to the right are set. These calculated members can
Measure		Calculated Members:
🤪 unit sale price	-	✓ Month To Date
🤪 quantity		🗹 Year To Date
😝 sales value		Moving Quarter
e tax		Moving Year
		Same Month Previous Year
	Remove>	Previous Year To date
	Use OLAP Fun	ctions
	Dimension and lev	el information for calculated members:
	Date Dimension:	dim_order_date v
	Date Hierarchy:	calendar 🗸 🗸
	Month Level:	order cal month
	Year Level:	order cal year 🗸
L		
		UK

28 Right-click on the OLAP Cube sales_analysis in the left pane and select Properties.



- **29** Click on the drop-down list for the **Cube Database name** field and select the option **(Define New Cube Database)**.
- **30** This will bring up the **Cube database** dialog box. Enter a new cube Database name of **Tutorial5**. Click **OK**.

	Cube Database	×
		ОК
Database name:	Tutorial5	Cancel
Description:	^	0
	~	

- **31** Change the Cube publish name to be **sales_analysis** and ensure the **Cube database connection** is Cubes and the **Cube Database Name** is Tutorial5.
 - Click **OK** to close the dialog and save the changes you've made.

V		Olap Cube sales_analysis	×
Properties Language Mapping Purpose Concept Grain Examples Usage Notes	Internal Cube Name: Cube Publish Name: Cube Description: Cube Database Connection: (Analysis Services) Cube Database Name: Data Source Connection: (Data Varehouse) Data Source Provider Type: Data Source Server:	Sales_analysis sales_analysis sales_analysis sales_analysis cales_analysis sales_analysis sales_analysis cales_analysis cales_analysis sales_analysis cales_analysis cubes cubes cales_analysis cales_analysis cubes cubes cales_analysis cales_analysis cubes cales_analysis cubes cales_analysis cubes cales_analysis cubes cales_analysis	
	Post Create XML/A Script: Post Update XML/A Script: Processing Mode: Processing Priority: Partition Processing Mode: Process Cube Dimensions: Storage Mode: Default Measure: Estimated Rows: Visible:	(None) [None) Regular 0 All Partitions - Sequential Enabled Dimensions (Use setting on Cube Dimension) MOLAP 0 True	
			UK Cancel Help

32 Now you need to check that the date dimension supports using OLAP functions.

- Expand the **OLAP Dimension** object type in the left pane to display the four **OLAP Dimensions**.
- Your object tree should contain the following **OLAP Dimensions.**



33 Click on the **odim_order_date** OLAP Dimension in the left pane to show the dimension attributes in the middle pane as below.

File Edit View Browse Backup Jobs Doc	Reports Validate Tools	Window Help		
🗋 🙏 🖿 😤 🤣 Web Links 🗸 🥥 🗿 🗸 🖉	Scheduler 🥪 🕶 📮	😿 🔍 🌛 Import 🚦	🛛 👿 🤣 🧩 🖕 🤅 Reports	▼ ¹³ ▼ ▼
📑 Builder 🔥 Scheduler 📑 Diagram				-
Development - 🕂 🕂 Attribute list for dime	ension odim_order_date			DataWarehouse 🚽 🕂 🗙
All Objects Dimension	Internal Name	Attribute Name	Description	^ 2 T 3
Connection	dim_order_date_key	dim_order_date_key	Key for dim_order_date	
👩 Cubes 💓 odim_order_date	order_cal_day_in_month	order cal day in m	The day in the month 1-31.	📄 🖬 📽 💥 🗱 🎞 Y 🖉
👩 DataWarehouse 🛛 💓 odim_order_date	order_cal_day_in_week	order cal day in we	The day in the week. Format DDD. E	🔺 🦲 dbo
🧂 Tutorial (OLTP) 🛛 💓 odim_order_date	order_cal_day_in_week_no	order cal day in we	The day number in the week. 1-7 wl	agg_sa_customer
👩 Windows 🛛 💓 odim_order_date	order_cal_day_in_year	order cal day in year	The day in the year 1-366.	agg_sa_product
b Load Table iii Load Table iii odim_order_date	order_cal_month	order cal month		dim_customer
b tage Table Stage Table i odim_order_date	order_cal_month_name	order cal month n	The calendar month name. Format	dim_date
Bata Store odim_order_date	order_cal_month_no	order cal month no	The calendar month number 1-12.	dim_product
T Normalized 🥥 odim_order_date	order_cal_quarter	order cal quarter	The calendar quarter representation	🔟 dim_ship_date
Dimension order date	order cal quarter no	order cal quarter no	The calendar guarter number 1-4.	ds_customer
Dimension View odim order date	order cal week in year	order cal week in y	The week in the year 0-53.	ds_order_header
Fact Table	order cal year	order cal year		ds_order_line
Aggregate odim order date	order current cal day	order current cal d	Flag to indicate the current day. No	ds_product
💢 View	order current cal month	order current cal	Flag to indicate the current month.	dss fact table
a Olap Cube	order current cal mtd	order current cal	Flag to indicate days in the current i	T dss_parameter
sales_analysis	order current cal week	order current cal w	Flag to indicate the current week. Se	<pre>dss_source_system</pre>
Olap Dimension odim_order_date	order current cal year	order current cal v	Flag to indicate the current year. Set	T fact_budget
odim_customer	order_current_cal_ytd	order current cal ytd	Flag to indicate days in the currents	fact_forecast
odim_order_date	order_current_fin_day	order current fin day	Flag to indicate the surrent financia	fact_sales_analysis
odim_product	order_current_fin_uay	order current fin	Flag to indicate the current financia	
odim_snip_date	order_current_fin_month	order current fin	Flag to indicate the current mancia	load_customer
Export Guin_order_date	order_current_ini_mtd	order current fin	riag to indicate days in the current i	load_forecast
Procedure			-	load_order_header
Finder Results			→ ₽	× <u>III</u> load_order_line
Betro	Message			load_prod_group
🧃 Reud	Procedure Complet	ed		
🙆 🖵 dim produ	Ict 1 dim product upd	lated. 9 new records. 0 r	records updated.	i load_product
			dias avata as a	stage_budget
Customer	merarchy customer	created for Dimension	am_customer	stage_forecast
Sector L product	Hierarchy product of	reated for Dimension d	lim_product	stage_sales_detail
Results Reports				Data Warehou Source Browser

34 Right-click on the **order_cal_month** attribute and select **Properties**.

• This displays the Attribute Properties dialog. Check the **Type** is set to **Months**. If not, change it. Click **OK**.

×	0	lap Dimension Attribute odim_order_date.order_cal_month
Properties	Dimension Name:	odim_order_date <- Update
Language Mapping	Internal Attribute Name:	order_cal_month Update ->
	Published Name:	order cal month
	Description:	The calendar month representation. Format YYYYMM. Example: 200206.
		×
	Estimated Count:	1
	Member Names Unique:	False v
	Hierarchy Visible:	True V
	Hierarchy Enabled:	True v
	Hierarchy Optimized State:	FullyOptimized V
	Hierarchy Display Folder:	×
	Order By:	Key 🗸
	Order By Attribute:	✓
	Type :	Months
	Usage:	Regular V
	Key Column:	dm_order_date v order_cal_month v
	Name Column:	dm_order_date v order_cal_month v
		OK Cancel Help

- **35** Repeat the process for the **order_cal_year** attribute, checking the **Type** is set to the **Years** and changing it if it is not.
 - Click OK.

3	6	(Dap Dimension Attribute odim_order_date.order_c	al_year	×
	Properties	Dimension Name:	odim_order_date		<- Update
	Language Mapping	Internal Attribute Name:	order_cal_year		Update ->
		Published Name:	order cal year		
		Description:	The calendar year. Format YYYY	^	
				~	
		Estimated Count:	1		
		Member Names Unique:	False V		
		Hierarchy Visible:	True 🗸		
		Hierarchy Enabled:	True 🗸		
		Hierarchy Optimized State:	FullyOptimized V		
		Hierarchy Display Folder:	×		
		Order By:	Key 🗸		
		Order By Attribute:	~		
		Type :	Years 🗸		
		Usage:	Regular 🗸		
		Key Column:	dim_order_date	order_cal_year	V
		Name Column:	dim_order_date ~	order_cal_year	~
l					OK Cancel Help
					the the the

36 To create the cube in Analysis Services, right-click on the **sales_analysis** olap cube in the left pane and select **Create (Alter) Cube**.

블 Builder 🕓 Scheduler	📑 Diagra	am	
Development	-	Attribute list for dime	nsion odim_order
Builder Scheduler Development All Objects All Objects All Objects Connection Cubes DataWarehou Tutorial (OLTP Vindows Load Table Stage Table Stage Table Stage Table Stage Table Stage Table Stage Table All Object Cubes Cubes Cubes Cubes Cubes Cubes C	Prop Displ Displ Displ Displ	Attribute list for dime Dimension Odim_order_date odim_order_date odim_order_date odim_order_date odim_order_date odim_order_date odim_order_date odim_order_date odim_order_date odim_order_date odim_order_date ay Measure Groups ay Measures ay Calculations ay KPIs	nsion odim_order Internal Name dim_order_date, order_cal_day_ir order_cal_day_ir order_cal_day_ir order_cal_day_ir order_cal_day_ir order_cal_montl order_cal_montl order_cal_montl
 image: sales_analysis image: Olap Dimension image: Export image: Export image: Procedure imag	Displ Displ Displ Displ Add Add Add Add Add Add Add Versi	ay KPIs ay Actions ay Partitions ay Dimensions ay Measure Group Dime Measure group Measure Calculation KPI Action Partition Dimension on Control	ensions •
Ready	Creat	te (Alter) Cube	

37 This will open the WSL Cube executable that connects to Analysis Services to create the *sales_analysis* cube structure.

You will see the successful completion in the results pane.

Re	sults	5	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	д	×
٩	Obje	ct	Message		^
0	F	sales_analysis	Adding dimensions to cube sales_analysis		
0	-	sales_analysis	Adding hierarchies to cube sales_analysis		
0	-	sales_analysis	Adding attributes to cube sales_analysis		
0	-	sales_analysis	Adding dimensions to measure groups for cube sales_analysis		
0	-	sales_analysis	Adding Measure Group Dimension odim_customer on Measure group sales_detail, database Tutorial5, server WSL-DOC!		
0	-	sales_analysis	Adding Measure Group Dimension odim_order_date on Measure group sales_detail, database Tutorial5, server WSL-DOC!	:	
0	-	sales_analysis	Adding Measure Group Dimension odim_product on Measure group sales_detail, database Tutorial5, server WSL-DOC!		
0	-	sales_analysis	Adding Measure Group Dimension odim_ship_date on Measure group sales_detail, database Tutorial5, server WSL-DOC!		
0	-	sales_analysis	Adding measures to cube sales_analysis		
0	F	sales_analysis	Adding measure group partitions for cube sales_analysis		
0	-	sales_analysis	Adding calculated members to cube sales_analysis		~
Re	sults	Reports			

38 To process the cube *sales_analysis* in Analysis Services right-click the **sales_analysis** cube in the left pane and select **Update**.

	Properties
	Display Measure Groups
	Display Measures
	Display Calculations
	Display KPIs
	Display Actions
	Display Partitions
	Display Dimensions
	Display Measure Group Dimensions
	Add Measure group
	Add Measure
	Add Calculation
	Add KPI
	Add Action
	Add Partition
	Add Dimension
	Version Control
	Create (Alter) Cube
	Create via Scheduler
	Delete Cube Metadata
	Drop Analysis Services Object
	Retrofit Cube
	Update
	Process Cube via Scheduler
	Query via Excel
	Documentation •
	Projects •
	Impact >

39 This will open the WSL Cube executable to process data into the cube structure. Once the cube is processed it can be viewed. Again, you will see the successful completion in the results pane.

Re	esults		▼ ₽	١x
٩	Object	t	Message	^
0	-	sales_analysis	Processing (Default) dim dim_order_date in database Tutorial5 on server DOC	
0	-	sales_analysis	Processing (Default) dim dim_product in database Tutorial5 on server DOC	
0	-	sales_analysis	Processing (Default) dim dim_ship_date in database Tutorial5 on server DOC	
0	-	sales_analysis	Processing Cube sales_analysis, database Tutorial5, server DOC	
0	-	sales_analysis	Processing partitions (One partition only/Full process) for cube measure group sales_detail in database Tutorial5 on server DOC	-
0	Ĺ	sales_analysis	Processing (One partition only/Full process) partition fact_sales_detail of cube sales_analysis.	
				Υ.
Re	sults	Reports		

40 To view the cube in Excel right-click the **sales_analysis** cube in the left pane and select **Query cube Via Excel** as follows.

Properties
Display Measure Groups
Display Measures
Display Calculations
Display KPIs
Display Actions
Display Partitions
Display Dimensions
Display Measure Group Dimensions
Add Measure group
Add Measure
Add Calculation
Add KPI
Add Action
Add Partition
Add Dimension
Version Control
Create (Alter) Cube
Create via Scheduler
Delete Cube Metadata
Drop Analysis Services Object
Retrofit Cube
Update
Process Cube via Scheduler
Query via Excel
Documentation
Projects >
Impact •

41 This will open Excel if it is installed.

Note: If Excel displays a security notice dialog box, click **Enable**. **However, note that this dialog box may not be displayed**.

- PIVOTTABLE TOOLS 🚺 🖯 🍤 - 🗟 - 🕫 Book1 - Excel ? 📧 – □ × HOME INSERT PAGE LAYOUT FORMULAS DATA REVIEW VIEW ANALYZE DESIGN Sign in 🔍 Active Field: 🔄 Insert Slicer . $\mathbf{\Lambda}$ ÷3 → f_X \mathbf{V} 2 🖳 Insert Timeline Refresh Change Data Actions Calculations PivotChart Recommended PivotTable Drill Drill ____ Group Show Field Settings Down Filter Connections Up -Source * -PivotTables Active Field Filter Data Tools ~ A1 • ÷ × \checkmark $f_{\mathcal{X}}$ v D В С Е F G н I. J K 🔺 Α - × **PivotTable Fields** 1 2 Choose fields to add to report: PivotTable1 3 4 To build a report, choose ∡ Σ sales_detail . 5 mtd quantity fields from the PivotTable 6 mtd sales value Field List 7 🗌 mtd tax 8 mtd unit sale price 9 quantity 10 sales value 11 tax 12 Ŧ **V** 13 14 Drag fields between areas below: 15 **T** FILTERS 16 17 18 19 ■ ROWS Σ VALUES 20 21 22 23 -24 Defer Layout Update UPDATE sales_analysis + E 🔳 Þ READY Ħ E
- **42** Excel then opens a connection to the cube for querying in a pivot table:

Note: In order for Excel to open the cube the **OQY** file extension in Windows explorer needs to be associated with Excel.

 43 In addition, the cube structure can be opened in the Microsoft Business Intelligence Development Studio (BIDS). Open BIDS in Windows, then select Open / Analysis Services Database.



44 Choose the server and Tutorial5 cube database. A sample is shown. Click OK.

Connect To Database		×
Database		
Connect to existing dat	abase	
Server:	SSERVER	
Database:	Tutorial5	•
Server	Database	
(local)	Tutorial5	
SSERVER	Tutorial5	

45 This now displays the cube database definition from the Analysis Services server.



46 Close BIDS when finished.



In the latest version of RED, the default 0 key date for all databases has been set to 1st Jan 1753. Prior to 6.5.4.2 however, procedure update_dim_date uses sysdate-700000 which gives a date in year 0095. SSAS does not support dates before year 0100 using the oracle OLEDB driver. If using a previous version of RED, or upgrading from a previous version, it will therefore be necessary for you to replace 'sysdate - 700000' with 'TO_DATE('17530101','YYYYMMDD')' in procedure update_dim_date and to recreate the dim_date table.

You are now ready to proceed to the next section - *Adding a Measure Group* (see "*5.3 Adding a Measure Group*" on page 170)

5.3 ADDING A MEASURE GROUP

A cube can contain multiple **Measure Groups**. In WhereScape RED, a Measure Group relates to a relational star schema.

The cube ties Measure Groups together through **shared dimensions** that are conformed in the relational data warehouse.

Measure Groups can be added to an existing cube by dragging additional fact tables into the cube.

1 Click on the OLAP Cube **sales_analysis** in the left pane to show the Measures associated with the cube.

Your screen should look something like this:

File Edit View Browse E	Backup Jobs Do	c Reports Val	idate Tools W	indow Help				
🗄 📄 🙏 🖿 📇 🤣 Web Links	• @ 🔒 且 (🛂 Scheduler 🛛 🥪	• 🛷 • 📮 📝	🔍 🌛 Import 📲	👿 🖉 🌾 📮	🗄 🖗 Reports		• 🥒 🚆
🚟 Builder 💧 Scheduler 🛛 🚊	Diagram							
Development – 🛛 ×	Measure list for sa	les_analysis (Drop	Target)				DataWarehouse	→ ậ ×
All Objects	Measure Name	Measure Group	Source Table	Source	Data Type	Aggregation	🥪 👩 🕍 🕋 😽 💥 🖇	\$ II
Connection	unit sale price	sales_detail	fact_sales_detail	unit_sale_price	numeric(9,3)	Sum	20	
Load Table	quantity	sales_detail	fact_sales_detail	quantity	numeric(8)	Sum		
Stage Table	sales value	sales_detail	fact_sales_detail	sales_value	numeric(13	Sum		
Data Store	💜 tax	sales_detail	fact_sales_detail	tax	numeric(9,2)	Sum	agg_sa_customer	
T Normalized							dim customer	
Dimension							dim date	
Dimension View							T dim_order_date	
Fact Table							📰 dim_product	
þ 🭠 Aggregate							🔳 dim_ship_date	
💢 View							III ds_customer	
a 🧉 Olap Cube							ds_order_header	
🥥 sales_analysis							ds_order_line	
a 💓 Olap Dimension							des surrent day detai	le la
💓 odim_customer							ss_current_day_detai	5
💓 odim_order_date							dss_rdct_dblc	
💓 odim_product							dss_source_system	
💓 odim_ship_date							T fact_budget	
👤 Export							<pre>fact_forecast</pre>	
Procedure	<					>	📰 fact_sales_analysis	
👂 📄 Host Script	-						<pre>fact_sales_detail</pre>	
Index	Results					▼ ₽ ×	II load_budget	
Retro	Object	Messag	2			^	load_customer	
	Sales_an	alysis Processi	ng (Default) dim di	im_product in data	base Tutorial5 c	on server DOC	load_rorecast	
	sales an	alysis Processi	ng (Default) dim di	im ship date in da	tabase Tutorial5	on server	📰 load_order_line	
		DOC	3.				load_prod_group	
	🎯 🗕 sales_an	alysis Processi	ng Cube sales_anal	lysis, database Tuto	orial5, server DO	с		
	a sales_an	alysis Processi	ng partitions (One	partition only/Full	process) for cub	be and a second s	load_product	
	-	measure	group sales_detail	in database Tutori	al5 on server DO	C	III stage_budget	
		alysis Processi cube sal	ng (One partition o es_analysis.	only/Full process) p	partition fact_sal	es_detail of	stage_forecast	
	Results Reports						Data Warehouse Source Brows	er

- **2** Now you need to browse the *DataWarehouse* connection to see available fact tables.
 - Right-click **DataWarehouse connection** from the left pane and select **Browse Connection**.

	List Source Tables Connection	۲		
Connection:	DataWarehouse			
User ID:				
Password:				
Filter				
Schema:	Blank for all Schemas			
Name:	(None)			
	Object Types			
	✓ Tables ✓ Views System Objects			
Group:	(All)			
Project:	(All) 🗸			
Data Type Mapping Set: (Default)				
Refresh Current OK Cancel				

3 The following browse pane displays on the right.



4 Drag the **fact_budget** table into the middle pane. The following dialog will appear. Select **Cancel**.

Select	Measure Group	×
Select the measure grou	up to add the new measu	ire to.
sales_detail		¥
	ОК	Cancel

- **5** WhereScape RED will confirm that it is OK to add a new **OLAP Dimension** for the date dimension.
 - Change the Name of object to **odim_budget_date.**
 - If you want to include Attribute Relationships in Analysis Services for this dimension, tick the **Include Attribute Relationships** check-box.
 - Click **ADD**.

	Add a New Metadata Object				
Define the Type and Name of the New Object. Specific information for each object type is defined in subsequent screens.					
Object Type:	Olap Dimension 🗸 🗸				
Object Name:	odim_budget_date				
✓ Include Attribute Relationships					
	ADD Cancel				

- 6 Click **OK** on the Attributes screen.
- The Manage Cube Measures dialog displays.
 Remove all non-measure columns (that is, columns that cannot be aggregated) from the
 Measure list by highlighting them and clicking the Remove button. The columns to remove
 - are:
 - Product Code
 - Customer Code

8 At this stage, your dialog should look like this.

M	anage cube measures
he following measures have been added to the cube temove button if required.	. Select any measures that are not appropriate and click the
re-built calculated members will be generated for each e deleted later if not required.	h measure if the check boxes to the right are set. These calculated members car
Measure	Calculated Members:
budget quantity	Month To Date
budget sales value	🗌 Year To Date
	Moving Quarter
	Moving Year
	Same Month Previous Year
	Remove> Previous Year To date
	✓ Use OLAP Functions
	OK Cancel

- 9 Choose to create some date based calculated members using OLAP functions by selecting the Month to date, Year to date, and the Use OLAP Functions check-boxes.
 The calculated measures drop-down list display below.
- **10** Select the required **date hierarchy** information. Specifically:
 - for **Date Dimension**, select *Date Dimension* and the **Date Hierarchy** will automatically be populated with *calendar*
 - for Month Level, select *cal month*
11 After selecting the **Month level**, you will be asked to confirm changing the **attribute type** to **Months** for the the *cal month* attribute in Analysis Services. Click **Yes**.

	WhereScape RED	×
?	The selected date attribute order cal month has a Type of Regular, this needs to be changed to Type Month. If you do not change this, OLAP Functions may not aggregate correctly. To change this now, click Yes. To leave the date attribute Type unchanged, click No.	
	Yes No	

- **12** Next, for **Year Level**, select *cal year*
 - Similarly, selecting the **Year level**, you will be asked to confirm changing the **attribute type** to *Years* for the the *cal year* attribute in Analysis Services. Again click **Yes**.

	WhereScape RED	×
?	The selected date attribute order cal year has a Type of Regular, this needs to be changed to Type Year. If you do not change this, OLAP Functions may not aggregate correctly. To change this now, click Yes. To leave the date attribute Type unchanged, click No.	
	Yes No	

13 Your **Manage cube measures** dialog should now look like this. Click **OK**.

	Manage Cube Meas	ures	
he following measures have been added to the cub Remove button if required.	be. Select any measures th	at are not appropriate and click the	6
're-built calculated members will be generated for ea e deleted later if not required.	ach measure if the check b	oxes to the right are set. These calculated me	mbers can
Measure		Calculated Members:	
🤪 budget quantity		🗹 Month To Date	
😝 budget sales value		🖌 Year To Date	
		Moving Quarter	
		Moving Year	
		Same Month Previous Year	
	Remove>	Previous Year To date	
	🕑 Use OLAP Fun	ctions	
	Dimension and lev	el information for calculated members:	
	Date Dimension:	Date dimension	
	Date Hierarchy:	calendar	
	Month Level:	cal month	
	Year Level:	cal year	

14 Click on the OLAP Cube **sales_analysis** in the left pane to show the updated Measures associated with the cube.





15 To apply the changes made in the WhereScape RED metadata to Analysis Services, right-click on the **sales_analysis** OLAP Cube in the left pane and select **Create (Alter) Cube**.

🚆 Builder 🕓 Scheduler	📑 Diagra	am		
Development	- ₽ ×	Measure list for sales_a	nalysis (Drop	
All Objects		Measure Name	Measure Gro	
Connection		📦 unit sale price	sales_detail	
🗍 Cubes		📦 quantity	sales_detail	
👩 DataWarel	nouse	📦 sales value	sales_detail	
🧂 Tutorial (O	LTP)	📦 tax	sales_detail	
🤭 Windows		📦 budget quantity	budget	
Load Table		📦 budget sales value	budget	
👂 辩 Stage Table				
👂 🗱 Data Store				
Normalized				
Dimension	Propert	ier.		
Dimension View	Fiopen	103		
Fact Table	Display	/ Measure Groups		
Aggregate	Display	Measures		
X View	Display	Calculations		
I Olap Cube	Dicplay	KDIe		
sales_anal	Dispidy	NFIS		
a 📕 Olap Dimension	Display	Actions		
odim_custr	Display	Partitions		
odim orde	Display	Dimensions		
odim prod	Display	Measure Group Dimensio	ons	
odim ship				
Let Export	Add Me	asure group		
Procedure	Add Me	asure		
👂 칠 Host Script	Add Ca	lculation		
> 🤛 Index	Add KP	I		
Retro	Add Act	tion		
	Add Da	tition		
	Auura			
	Add Dir	nension		
	Version	Control	+	
Ready	Create ((Alter) Cube		

16 This will open the WSL Cube executable that connects to Analysis Services to create the sales_analysis cube structure.

You will see the successful completion in the results pane.

Re	esults		-		×
٩	Object		Message		^
0	-	sales_analysis	Adding actions to cube sales_analysis		
0	-	sales_analysis	Replacing existing action sales_detail Drillthrough Action in cube sales_analysis		
0	-	sales_analysis	Action added to Cube sales_analysis		
0	-	sales_analysis	Action added to Cube sales_analysis		
0	-	sales_analysis	Adding translations to cube sales_analysis		
Ø	Ĺ	sales_analysis	Updating information for cube sales_analysis		
					4
Re	sults	Reports			

17 Next, reload the **OLAP Cube** in Analysis Services by right-clicking on the **sales_analysis** cube in the left pane and choosing **Update**.

Properties
Display Measure Groups
Display Measures
Display Calculations
Display KPIs
Display Actions
Display Partitions
Display Dimensions
Display Measure Group Dimensions
Add Measure group
Add Measure
Add Calculation
Add KPI
Add Action
Add Partition
Add Dimension
Version Control
Create (Alter) Cube
Create via Scheduler
Delete Cube Metadata
Drop Analysis Services Object
Retrofit Cube
Update
Process Cube via Scheduler
Query via Excel
Documentation •
Projects •
Impact >

18 This will open the OLAP Cube executable to process data into the cube structure. Once the cube is processed it can be viewed. Again, you will see the successful completion in the results pane.

Re	esults	→ ┦	١x
٩	Object	Message	>
0	sales_analysis	Processing partitions (One partition only/Full process) for cube measuregroup sales_detail in database Tutorial5 on server DOC	-
0	sales_analysis	Processing (One partition only/Full process) partition fact_sales_detail of cube sales_analysis.	-
0	sales_analysis	Processing partitions (One partition only/Full process) for cube measuregroup budget in database Tutorial5 on server DOC	-
0	sales_analysis	Processing (One partition only/Full process) partition fact_budget of cube sales_analysis.	
			~
Re	esults Reports		

19 To view the cube in Excel, right-click the *sales_analysis* cube in the left pane and select **Query cube Via Excel**.

Properties Display Measure Groups Display Measures
Display Measure Groups Display Measures
Display Measures
Display Calculations
Display KPIs
Display Actions
Display Partitions
Display Dimensions
Display Measure Group Dimensions
Add Measure group
Add Measure
Add Calculation
Add KPI
Add Action
Add Partition
Add Dimension
Version Control
Create (Alter) Cube
Create via Scheduler
Delete Cube Metadata
Drop Analysis Services Object
Retrofit Cube
Update
Process Cube via Scheduler
Query via Excel
Documentation
Projects >
Impact 🕨

20 This will open Excel if it is installed.

Note: If Excel displays a security notice dialog box, click **Enable**. **However, note that this message may not be displayed**.

-			U I			
🕼 🖯 🏷 🖒 🗧	Book	1 - Excel	PIVOTTABI	E TOOLS	? 🖪	- - ×
FILE HOME INSERT P	AGE LAYOUT FORMUL	AS DATA REVIEW	VIEW ANALYZE	DESIGN		Sign in 🔍
PivotTable • Active Field: Drill Down Active Field	↑ → Drill	sert Slicer sert Timeline ter Connections Filter Da	ange Data Source ¥ ta	Ulations Pivo	tChart Recommended PivotTables Tools	~
A1 👻 : 🗙 🗸	fx					~
A B C 1 2 3 PivotTable1 To build a report, choose fields from the PivotTable Field List 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16	D E	F G H	I J - -	K A	PivotTable Field: Show fields: (AII)	5 • × • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
17 18 19 20 21 22					E ROWS Σ V	ALUES
23 a sales_analysis	÷	: .		v	Defer Layout Update	UPDATE

21 Excel then opens a connection to the cube for querying in a pivot table:

Note: the two measure groups are now displayed in the Field list.

You are now ready to proceed to the next section - *Cube Connections for Other Databases* (see "*5.4 Cube Connections for Other Databases*" on page 184)

5.4 CUBE CONNECTIONS FOR OTHER DATABASES

This tutorial has been completed using Microsoft SQL Server as the data warehouse database. If you wish to use Oracle or DB2, the data warehouse connections need to be set differently as follows.

This section shows how to configure the DataWarehouse connection for either an Oracle or a DB2 data warehouse database.

Oracle Configuration

- 1 Select *MSDAORA* for the **Connection Provider/Driver**
 - Enter the oracle **TNS Server Name** for the **Data Warehouse Server**, specifically the **Server** field in the ODBC set up screen as in the screenshot below:

Micr	osoft ODBC for Oracle Setup		x
Data Source Name:	ORCL	ОК	
Description:		Cancel	
User Name:		Help	
Server:	ORCL	Options >	>

2 Enter the data warehouse "schema" for the **Data Warehouse Database ID** field. Here is an **Oracle** example:

	Connection Data	aWarehouse	
Properties			
Notes	⊿ General		
	Connection Name	DataWarehouse	
	Connection Type	Database	~
	Database Type	(local)	~
	ODBC Data Source Name (DSN)	ORCL	~
	Data Warehouse Connection Indicator		_
	▲ Source System		
	Database ID	dssdemo	
	Database Link Name		
	Database Credentials		
	Extract User ID	dssdemo	
	Extract User Password	***	
	Administrator User ID		
	Administrator User Password		
	⊿ Other		
	New Table Default Load Type	Database link load	~
	SSIS Connection String		
	Data Type Mapping Set	(Default)	~
	Default Transform Function Set	(Default)	~
	When Connection is an OLAP Data Source	(-
	OLAP Connection String	Provider=MSDAORA.1:User ID=dssdemo:Data Source=ORCL	
	Connection Provider/Driver	MSDAORA	~
	Data Warehouse Server	ORCL	_
	Data Warehouse Database ID	dssdemo	
	OLAP Connection String Connection string to be used by Microsoft Analysis Set NOTE: A connection string is traically composed of m	rvices (MSAS) to connect to the data warehouse.	
	NOTE: A connection string is typically composed of m	OK Cancel	Help

DB2 Configuration

- 1 Select *IBMDADB2* for the **Connection Provider/Driver**
 - The **Data Warehouse Server** field is left empty for DB2
 - Enter the database server alias for the **Data Warehouse Database ID** field, specifically the **alias** field for the IBM DB2 connection in the following DB2 Configuration Assistant screen:

Configuration Assistant - DB2COPY1	
Configure Selected Edit View Tools Help	
유 아 않 죠 왜 🔯 🗉 🧏 🤇 🕢	<
SSERVER - DB2	1
Alias	Location
WSCAPE WSCAPE	C:
1 of 1 items displayed \downarrow^A_Z $\updownarrow^h_{\downarrow}$ \textcircled{P} \textcircled{P} \clubsuit^h_{\downarrow} \swarrow^h_{\downarrow} Def	ault 📩 View

Here is an **IBM DB2** example:

	connection	butarraicitouse	
erties	2↓		
es	▲ General		
	Connection Name	DataWarehouse	
	Connection Type	Database	~
	Database Type	(local)	~
	ODBC Data Source Name (DSN)	WSCAPE	~
	Data Warehouse Connection Indicator	v	
	▲ Source System		
	Database ID	DSSDEMO	
	Database Link Name		
	Work Directory		
	Database Credentials		
	Extract User ID	wsl	
	Extract User Password	******	
	Administrator User ID		
	Administrator User Password		
	⊿ Other		
	New Table Default Load Type	Database link load	~
	SSIS Connection String		
	Data Type Mapping Set	(Default)	~
	Default Transform Function Set	(Default)	~
	When Connection is an OLAP Data Source		
	OLAP Connection String		
	Connection Provider/Driver	IBMDADB2 (OLE DB for IBM DB2)	~
	Data Warehouse Server		
	Data Warehouse Database ID	WSCAPE	